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Chairman’s Statement

ETRE®|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Kangda International Environmental Company Limited (the
“Company”) together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “"Group”), |
am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to you.

RESULTS REVIEW

Despite the full relaxation of anti-pandemic measures in Chinese
Mainland in early 2023, the overall economic recovery has been slower
than expected, and the lack of active investment activities has put
pressure on local government fiscal revenues, with the adjustment of
wastewater treatment tariff lagging behind significantly. Meanwhile,
operating costs, including electricity and chemical fees, continue to
rise, compressing the profitability of the domestic wastewater
treatment and environmental protection industry. Accordingly, the
Group adopted a prudent operating policy during the year by
compressing construction project expenses, reducing capital
expenditures and minimizing the impact of rising costs through various
energy-saving and consumption-reducing measures to maintain cash
holdings, while optimizing its loan portfolio, increasing the proportion
of long-term liabilities and controlling the cost of financing. In addition,
in order to increase liquidity and better allocate resources for business
development, the Group completed the disposal of 31% non-
controlling interest in Zhongyuan Water Group Co., Ltd. in December
2023 after obtaining approval from the independent shareholders,
revitalizing the Group's non-controlling investment.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETRE®|E

For the year 2023, the wastewater treatment operation became the
Group's business focus as most of the major construction projects had
been completed and commissioned. Revenue from construction
services for the year decreased by RMB719.5 million (approximately
81%) to RMB173.6 million compared with the last year, and its
percentage in total revenue dropped from approximately 31% in the
last year to less than 8% this year. As a result of the decline in revenue
from construction services, total revenue for the year decreased by
23.5% year-on-year to RMB2,216.4 million. The wastewater treatment
operation has been developing steadily, with the actual wastewater
treatment volume reaching 1,265.7 million tonnes this year,
representing an increase of 3.2% compared with last year. The
utilization rate of the wastewater treatment plants and reclaimed water
plants increased from 82% last year to 85%, reflecting the proper
utilization of production capacity. Revenue from operations increased
by approximately 2% from last year, reaching a record high, and is
expected to grow year-on-year. Overall gross profit margin for the year
was 48.5%, representing an increase of 4.7 percentage points
compared to the same period last year, due to the decrease in the
share of revenue from construction services, which had a lower gross
profit margin. As a result of the decrease in total revenue, gross profit
and profit attributable to owners of the parent for the period
decreased by 15.2% and 47.1% to RMB1,076.0 million and RMB124.8
million respectively compared with last year.

During the year, the management was dedicated to strengthen the
Group's operating cash flow and optimize its balance sheet. Capital
expenditure for the year was RMB127.1 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 75% year-on-year. Net operating cash
inflow of RMB292.9 million was recorded for the year, which has
remained positive for five consecutive years since 2019. The balance
sheet ratios improved slightly. As at December 31 2023, the Group's
gearing ratio and current ratio were 69.6% and 1.15 (as at December 31
2022: 69.7% and 1.11) respectively.

In respect of financing activities, the average borrowing interest rate
for the year was 5.95%, down 0.01 percentage points as compared to
last year, and finance costs amounted to approximately RMB578.7
million, representing an increase of 2.2% as compared to last year. As
at December 31 2023, the proportion of long-term borrowings to total
borrowings was 64.7% (as at December 31 2022: 69.8%).

RE_T-_-F HRARZHFTEEHRIRE
BEREEXNREE  SKEBEBKAAEE
EBEL AFEREEIRBUEREFET
BRARKETIOSEET (H81%) EARK
173.6B 8L ERWEFIHLEBALEFELD
BB THREAFENEER ° X EZJRG WS
TREE AFERWZERLL THE235%%E
ARBE2216 4B B TT ° )5 /KEEEE 5 m A
FRER AFERSKEESEE2057H
BN REFERI2%  SKEEREEL
KEEWMEREREAFENYRAE
85%  RMLERBUAZZFAH - EEBUWA
BERF EFAH2% - BIFES = - I B EHZE
FEE AR EMNERENERRB KN
LERBE - NFEREEEFEF485% @ REF
R EA47EEHE  ZRUSHIOZE
REEF RS RRFER AR T D 58 X
FRFE152% K% 471%  BARE1,07608 &
TTRARE1248FETT -

FA BEERNNAREELEHRSR
RELTEEARBRR AFEEAMIEAR
1271 B8 R DK 75% - KEE &
BEEERSEFRAARE 22958 L B
TE-NFREBESFHIFILE -BEAEBER
HEBLEMERE R-_ZT_=+=-A8
T+ B AEEEEABHLRRABLLL R
DR AE9.6%R1IS(R_E=-_=-_F+=H
=+—H8:697%%1.11)

ERMEZHIE AFEFHERFNEA
595% * MEFTRRO00TEE D2 @ BMEKRAE
WARMEESISTEEL B EFEHMN22% °
RIE-=F+-"A=+—8 " RHEZHHE
BREREO BATR(R_FTE=Z_F+=H
=+—H :698%) °

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE
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ETRE®|E

During the year, the State continued to focus on the healthy
development of the wastewater treatment and water resources
industry, and introduced policy documents such as the
“Implementation Plan on Promoting the Construction and
Management of Domestic Wastewater and Waste Treatment Facilities
in Established Towns"” ({85 3#E 22 6l 5 A )& )5 /K IR IR &% B 3R 5%
MEEHE M E)) and the “Outline of the National Water Network
Construction Plan” ({BIZK/KAEE LR B4 £ )), as well as the “Action
for Upgrading the Standard of Environmental Infrastructure
Construction (2023-2025)" (3% 35 £ 3% it 32 3% 7K 7 £ 7+ 17 9 (2023~
20254F))), which sets out specific goals for raising the standard of
environmental infrastructure construction by 2025. In addition, in order
to promote economic development and support private enterprises,
the "Opinions of the State Council of the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of China on Promoting the Development and
Strengthening of the Private Economy” ({H £ A ok B 75 f B i (R 2 IR
B E R R AL KM B R)), the “Notice on the National Development
and Reform Commission and Other Departments on Implementing
Certain Measures to Promote the Development of the Private Economy
in the Near Future” ((BEIRZERNEZFEHFIENERREREGLHE
ZERAHE T2 E /@A), the “Guiding Opinions on Regularizing
the Implementation of New Mechanisms for Cooperation between the
Government and Social Capital” ({EER RS E BT Mt ERE1E
ks R e B E R)), and the "Facilitation and Standardization of the
Approval of Engineering and Construction Projects” ({#E# T2 2 &%
15 B | R E(LEH{L)), etc., have been issued successively, which
focus on improving the business environment, reducing transaction
costs, promoting fair access, clarifying the division of management
responsibilities, strengthening operational supervision and providing
proper financing support. The policies explicitly propose to expand the
scale of issuance of real estate investment trusts (“REITs”) in the
infrastructure domain, and promote the issuance of REITs for
infrastructure projects by eligible private investment projects, so as to
further expand private investment. The Group believes that the
business environment will improve and the wastewater treatment
industry will develop in a healthier direction.
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DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY AND FUTURE
OUTLOOK

The Group continue to focus on the development of the municipal
wastewater treatment principal business by seizing the opportunity
provided by the national policy, and make every effort to transfer the
wastewater treatment facilities under construction and commissioning
into commercial operation stage, to further enhance the wastewater
treatment capacity and treatment standard, and to accelerate the
reasonable upward adjustment of the wastewater treatment tariff. The
beginning of the domestic interest rate cut cycle also benefits the
asset-heavy wastewater treatment industry. The Group will deepen its
energy saving and consumption reduction measures and explore the
businesses of wastewater resource utilization and reclaimed water, etc.,
so as to help the State achieve the objectives of pollution prevention,
water resources management and utilization, energy saving and
emission reduction, while increasing the Group's revenue and profit,
enhancing its operating cash flow in the long term, strictly and
scientifically controlling its capital expenditures, lowering its gearing
ratio and reducing its interest expenses, so as to create greater value
for its shareholders.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to
all the Shareholders and all the collaborative partners of our Group for
their dedicated support to the Group's development, and also to all
staff of our Group for their endeavors and contributions made during
the year.

Li Zhong
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”),
the Group's principal business activities remained focusing on the
Urban Water Treatment, followed by the existing projects of Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation and the Rural Water
Improvement.

The scope of Urban Water Treatment includes the design, construction,
upgrade and operation of wastewater treatment plants (the “WTPs"),
reclaimed water treatment plant (the “"RWTPs”), sludge treatment
plants (the “STPs”), water distribution plants (the “WDPs"), and in the
operation and maintenance of wastewater treatment facilities entrusted
by governments (the "O&M"). The Group's business has covered the
overall industry chain in Urban Water Treatment industry by executing
contracts of Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT"), Transfer-Operate-
Transfer (the “TOT"), Public-Private-Partnership (the “PPP"), Build-
Own-Operate (the “BOO"), Engineering-Procurement-Construction
(the "EPC") and O&M. The Group had 103 service concession
arrangement projects under operation while its operational treatment
capacity was over 4 million tons per day as at 31 December 2023.

The scope of Water Environment Comprehensive Remediation
includes river harnessing and improvement, foul water body treatment
and sponge city construction. The Group engages in Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation by executing previously
signed contracts of PPP and EPC.

The scope of Rural Water Improvement includes the construction and
operation related to “the Water Environment Facilities of Beautiful
Village” such as: wastewater treatment facilities and pipeline
construction for collecting wastewater so as to achieve rural living
environment improvement. The Group has carried out this business

since 2016 by executing the contracts of PPP.

In the future, the Group will continuously focus on the business of
Urban Water Treatment to get steady cash flows and invest in high-
quality, value-adding upstream and downstream businesses of water
industry. The Group is very confident about its prospects and future
profitability and we will dedicate more efforts to enhance the
profitability and effectiveness of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFWE D

1.1 Urban Water Treatment
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had entered into a total of
112 service concession arrangements projects, including 106
wastewater treatment plants, 1 water distribution plant, 3 sludge
treatment plants and 2 reclaimed water treatment plants. The
Group will further expand its Urban Water Treatment chain in the
future, in order to improve its profitability and competitiveness.

Analysis of the Group's projects on hand as at 31 December 2023
is as follows:

1.1 WEEKTE

RZEBE-_=ZF+=-_A=+—H8 ' &x5%E
HAT112ERBIFFEELHEE
BLIE106 @S5 /K BRI - 1AM KER - 3
5 REIEM M2 E B AEKEER - &
RALE K BBE— SREREKIEE
BEXE BRABMNENEFEENNIE
# o

AEER_—_T_=F+-_A=1—HHN
BBBREDHMT

Daily
Daily reclaimed Daily
wastewater  Daily water water sludge
treatment distribution  treatment  treatment
capacity capacity capacity capacity Total
Bi5K H Atk HEAEK B5E
RIEEE D Bh REEHN  REED st
(Tonnes) ()
In operation BER 4,024,500 - 65,000 550 4,090,050
Not yet start operation/ ﬁ*ﬁ'ﬂﬁuL B/ MABX
Not yet transferred 240,500 30,000 = = 270,500
Total a5t 4,265,000 30,000 65,000 550 4,360,550
(Number of projects) (BE&E)
In operation Egt 98 = 2 3 103
Not yet start operation/ ﬁi’iﬁ'ﬂﬁuL B/ MABX
Not yet transferred 8 1 - - 9
Total a5t 106 1 2 3 112
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Actual
processing
volume during
the year ended

Number of Treatment 31 December
projects capacity 2023
BZE
—E-=F
+=ZBA=+—H
IEFEEMN
EHEHE EEE EREES
(Tonnes/Day)  (Million Tonnes)
(W, H) (BE&H)
Wastewater treatment services 5K EE R

Shandong W= 47 1,270,000 357.5
Henan M) 23 1,060,000 342.5
Heilongjiang EREL 6 425,000 134.3
Shanxi [iTié) 2 350,000 109.3
Zhejiang AL 2 250,000 88.2
Guangdong BE® 4 220,000 65.3
Anhui ZH 3 175,000 58.9
Jiangsu L& 5 100,000 34.8
Other provinces/municipalities* Hibd  BEER* 14 415,000 70.3
106 4,265,000 1,261.1
Water distribution services ok BR 7 1 30,000 =

Reclaimed water treatment BEKEERE
services 2 65,000 4.6
Total =X 109 4,360,000 1,265.7
Sludge treatment services S5 EE R 3 550 =
Total CE 112 4,360,550 1,265.7

* Other provinces/municipalities include Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei, Jilin, Liaoning, * Hihd /HERFEILR X2 ad - H4kE
Shaanxi, Sichuan and Fujian. = PR - )1 RAREE o
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1.1.1 Operation Services

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 98 wastewater
treatment projects, 2 reclaimed water treatment projects
and 3 sludge treatment projects in operation in Chinese
Mainland. Total daily treatment capacity of wastewater
treatment plants, reclaimed water treatment plants, and
sludge treatment plants in operation for the year ended 31
December 2023 reached 4,024,500 tonnes (2022: 3,989,500
tonnes), 65,000 tonnes (2022: 65,000 tonnes), and 550
tonnes (2022: 550 tonnes), respectively. For the year ended
31 December 2023, the annualized utilization rate for
wastewater and reclaimed water treatment plants in
operation was approximately 85% (2022: 82%). The actual
average water treatment tariff for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately RMB1.59 per tonne
(2022: approximately RMB1.56 per tonne).The actual
aggregate processing volume for the year ended 31
December 2023 was 1,265.7 million tonnes, representing a
minor increase of 3% as compared to the same period last
year (year ended 31 December 2022: 1,226.6 million
tonnes).

Total operation revenue of the Group’s Urban Water
Treatment services recorded for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB1,265.3 million, representing a
minor increase of approximately 2% as compared to the
same period of last year (year ended 31 December 2022:
RMB1,243.3 million). The corresponding increase was
primarily due to the increase in the daily wastewater
treatment capacity, and the increased operation numbers
of upgrade projects.
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1.1.2 Construction Services

The Group entered into a number of service concession
arrangements under BOT, BOO and PPP contracts in
relation to its Urban Water Treatment business. Under the
International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee
12 Service Concession Arrangements, the Group recognises
the construction revenue with reference to the fair value of
the construction service delivered in the building phase.
The fair value of such service is estimated on a cost-plus
basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of gross
margin at the inception date of service concession
agreement. Construction revenue from BOT, BOO, PPP
and EPC projects is recognized by using the percentage-of-
completion method.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, construction
revenue was recognised for 28 projects, including 24
wastewater treatment plants, 1 water distribution plant, 1
reclaimed water treatment plant, and 2 sludge treatment
plants, which were mainly located in Shandong, Henan
provinces and Tianjin city in Chinese Mainland. Total
construction revenue of those projects for the year ended
31 December 2023 was RMB121.0 million, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 84% (year ended
31 December 2022: RMB753.0 million). The corresponding
decrease was primarily due to a decrease in the project
numbers during the main construction period. As at 31
December 2023, the total daily treatment capacity of the
service concession arrangements plants, which were still in
the construction stage, was 100,500 tonnes, including
70,500 tonnes of wastewater treatment plants and 30,000
tonnes of water distribution plant.

1128 R RH%

A& E W EKEERABOT -
BOO K PPP& #) 5] 3L % 1A R 75 4
eE e HE e RIBEBR M B RE
REZEEREE 2 REIEN
BEZY  AEBERERER
BEXMHNERRBEO R FERE
REZWRZ - BFERENAFE
ToiR B AN DAk 2 2E I 2% BR 15
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1.2

1.3

Water Environment Comprehensive Remediation

In the year of 2023, the Group continued to devote efforts to
implementing the existing projects of Water Environment
Comprehensive Remediation. As at 31 December 2023, most of
the projects have been completed. The Group devoted efforts to
lower the risk and enhance the reasonable profit for the existing
projects. The Group will integrate resources to execute the Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation projects under the
contracts of EPC and O&M.

The Group had 5 Water Environment Comprehensive
Remediation projects under construction during the year ended
31 December 2023. The projects were mainly located in Jiangxi
province in Chinese Mainland. For the year ended 31 December
2023, total revenue of those projects was RMB43.4 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 62% as compared to
the same period last year (year ended 31 December 2022:
RMB114.4 million). The corresponding decrease was primarily
due to the completion of most existing EPC projects.

Rural Water Improvement

The Group had 2 Rural Water Improvement projects during the
year ended 31 December 2023. The projects were located in
Guangdong province in Chinese Mainland. For the year ended
31 December 2023, total revenue of those projects was RMB49.9
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
16% (year ended 31 December 2022: RMB59.1 million). The
corresponding decrease was primarily due to net impact of the
decrease in the construction revenue and the increased operation
revenue due to the commenced operation of these two projects.

1.2

1.3
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a revenue
of RMB2,216.4 million, representing a decrease of RMB680.2 million as
compared to the previous corresponding period of RMB2,896.6 million.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in construction revenue
of RMB719.6 million, the increase in operation revenue of RMB28.5
million, and the increase in financial income from service concession
arrangements of RMB10.9 million. The decrease in construction
revenue was mainly due to the decrease in the number of projects
during the main construction period of Urban Water Treatment
services, the completion of most existing EPC projects of Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation services, and commenced
operation of PPP projects of Rural Water Improvement services. The
increase in operation revenue was mainly due to the increase in
commencement of operation of new BOT and upgrade projects of
Urban Water Treatment. The increase in financial income from service
concession arrangements was mainly due to the increase in the
financial assets.

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to RMB1,140.4 million, including construction costs of
RMB206.5 million and operation costs of water treatment plants of
RMB933.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately 30% as
compared to the previous corresponding period of RMB1,627.9 million.
The decrease was due to the decrease in construction cost of
RMB551.5 million and the increase of in operation costs of RMB64.0
million. The decrease in construction costs was mainly due to the
decrease in the construction work of existing upgrade and expansion
projects which was in line with the decrease in construction revenue.
The increase in operation cost was mainly due to the increased
operation numbers of upgrade projects, and the increases in costs of
wastewater treatment chemicals, etc.

3 For identification purposes only

E i

U &5
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Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's gross profit margin
was approximately 49%, representing an increase of 5 percentage
points as compared to the previous corresponding period of
approximately 44%. The increase was primarily due to the decrease in
the proportion of construction revenue this period.

Other Income and Gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of RMB59.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 11% as compared to the previous corresponding period
of RMB53.9 million. The amount for the Reporting Period primarily
included government grants of RMB20.2 million, which mainly
comprised of VAT refund under “Notice on the Issuing of the
Catalogue of Value-Added Tax Preferences for Products and Labor
Services Involving the Comprehensive Utilization of Resources (Cai Shui
[2015] No. 78)"* (AR ENECE IR &R & F A Em M S HILERES B £%)
7938 &0 (BF B [2015]78 5% X)) and grants for environmental protection,
bank interest income of RMB2.5 million, interest income of RMB21.8
million from loans to a third party, a joint venture, and an associate,
and dividend income of RMB9.6 million.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December
2023 was RMB283.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
3% as compared to the previous corresponding period of RMB274.1
million. The increase was mainly due to the increase in professional
fees.

Other Expenses

Other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB43.4
million, representing a decrease of approximately 59% as compared to
the previous corresponding period of RMB105.9 million. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in foreign exchange losses, non-
operating expenses, and impairment losses which was partially offset
by the increase of losses on disposal of an associate recognised in the
Reporting Period.
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R#20268 7T HEZHEKRBLBEEER
HBECEREATRERMSISRERESE
£%) ) 8 A (B £ [2015]78 5% 30) | 38 T 18 {H F¢
BRI RRRMEE - BITFHEBEMAARE2S
AELT RM-—ZXE=H —RAEELER—
Rt & N B B UER A A B A AR
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Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 of
RMB578.7 million mainly comprised interests on interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, representing an increase of approximately 2%
as compared to the previous corresponding period of RMB566.2
million. The increase in finance costs was mainly due to the increase
the average balance of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
The average balance of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
increased by RMB223.6 million and the average interest rate was
5.95%, representing a slight decrease as compared to the previous
corresponding period of 5.96%.

Share of Profits and Losses of Associates

The Group's share of profits of associates for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB4.7 million, representing a major increase as
compared to share of profits of associates of RMB2.6 million in the
previous corresponding period. The Group will further execute
practical ways to reduce the losses brought by the associates.

Share of Profits and Losses of Joint ventures

Share of losses of joint ventures for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMBO0.3 million, representing a major decrease as compared to
share of losses of joint ventures of RMB3.6 million in the previous
corresponding period. The Group will further execute practical ways to
reduce the losses brought by the joint ventures.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2023 included
the current PRC income tax of RMB44.7 million and deferred tax
expenses of RMB59.0 million, which were RMB36.9 million and
RMB97.5 million for the previous corresponding period, respectively.
The Group's effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately 44%, representing an increase of 8 percentage
points as compared with approximately 36% for the previous
corresponding period, which was mainly due to the increase in effect
of tax losses not recognised in the Reporting Period and the decrease
in effect of lower tax rates for specific provinces or enacted by local
authority.
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Financial Receivables <+ B EWFIE
As at
"
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—EB-=F —=E-—
+=—A=+—-H +-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Receivables for service concession PR 755 R R 48 e HEFE R IE
arrangements 11,592,250 11,206,485
Portion classified as current DR BIERE (2,079,291) (1,961,955)
Non-current portion FERNEEE 73 9,512,959 9,244,530

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's financial receivables of
RMB11,592.3 million (31 December 2022: RMB11,206.5 million)
increased by RMB385.8 million, which was mainly due to the increase in
financial receivables which were reclassified from contract assets once
the construction and upgrade period is ended for the water treatment

R-ZE-_=ZF+_A=+—H K£ELH
FERFBEAEARKINSNIAET(ZE-
F+-—A=+—8: AR¥11206588T)
EMAREIBSSHET  TERZANKERE
BHEEERREMERHEREMKEENE

projects. EEFHRE S RBWFIARIEN -
Contract Assets BHEE
As at
"
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—EB-=F —=E-—
+=—A=+—-H +-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Contract assets BREE 1,254,996 1,706,946
Portion classified as current DI AREAE S (77,629) (198,553)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 2 1,177,367 1,508,393

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's contract assets of RMB1,255.0
million (31 December 2022: RMB1,706.9 million), decreased by
RMB451.9 million, mainly due to the net impact of reclassification from
contract assets to financial receivables and the increase of construction
of the Group's projects under BOT, PPP, and EPC contracts.

RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H XEBEH
BEEARBI256088 L (CE-_—_F+=
B=+—H: AR¥170698 8 T) AP A
REASIOBETL TEHREHNEEEN D
HELREKFE UEXREREAEHEH
BOT * PPPLA MEPCA #JIE B U R IE MK
/??7%°
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Trade Receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's trade receivables of RMB2,808.5
million (31 December 2022: RMB2,436.4 million) mainly arose from the
provision of wastewater treatment and sludge treatment services for
Urban Water Treatment projects as well as construction services for the
Group’s Water Environment Comprehensive Remediation projects.
The balance increased by RMB372.1 million, mainly due to (i) the
increase in Urban Water Treatment projects receivables of
approximately RMB573.4 million, (ii) the net decrease of Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation projects receivables of
approximately RMB177.8 million, which included EPC project
receivables of approximately RMB45.0 million arising from the progress
billing and cash collected from EPC projects of approximately
RMB222.8 million, and (iii) the increase in Rural Water Improvement
projects receivables of approximately RMB7.2 million.

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's prepayments, other receivables
and other assets of RMB929.0 million (31 December 2022: RMB748.1
million) increased by RMB180.9 million, mainly arising from the increase
in receivables of disposal an associate of approximately RMB144.9
million, the increase in deductible input VAT of approximately RMB29.9
million, the increase in loans to an associate of RMB11.8 million, the
increase in other operational receivables and staff advances of
approximately RMB17.1 million, the decrease in loans to a third party
of RMB16.5 million, and the decrease in prepayments and deposits of
approximately RMB3.7 million related to the construction of wastewater
treatment plants.

EZEWRIE
R-ZE-=F+-_A=+—8B Xx&£EEH
ElWREAEARK 28085688 L (T ==
F+ZA=1+—H: AR¥24364EFET) -
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T EER ARG EKIEIE B B UK IE T
MBARESIZAEETT @ ()7KIRBLEERE
HERWHRBFROOARK 17788 ET
BIEEPCHEBRERELAEEEMERFIEY
AR®BISOBEEILAKRBEPCHE MR &
AR 2228F&ETT + K(i) B+ /5 K61E
THB BEUGRIEE NI ARKTI2EETT °

EARE HtEWREREMEE
R-TE-—=F+—A=+—0 A£EEHN
HE -HEMERREBREMNEEAARKE
IV0BEBEL(ZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—8:
ARBTABIEE L) BIMARMKE18098 &
T EERAREE KBS QB R
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EREMARBISEE L EMELER
HBEREIBEMNFEMOAREI7IEET -
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RS KEEBEXAENENREBELRS
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's cash and cash equivalents of
RMB248.4 million (31 December 2022: RMB196.9 million) increased by
RMB51.5 million as compared with that as at the end of previous
corresponding period. The increase was due to the decrease in cash
outflows in financing activities of the Group.

HERBEEEEY
A—TEB-_=F+-A=+—08 K&EEHS
e EBYMABARKE284H5E T (ZF
ZZF+ZA=1+—H: AR%19%98 &
L) BEFRBEREMARKESISE S
Lo ZEMEESARAEEME TN
& R A FTE o

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—BHLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —ZF=-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT
Net cash flows from operating activities!” RETEBFEREMEFED 292,922 368,409
Net cash flows from investing activities KREZBFBHREREF 12,804 101,982
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEHAARTREF (257,108) (563,029)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and BHehRLEEY
cash equivalents EAN/CRk D) FEE 48,618 (92,638)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HMEERZFNFE 2,804 (322)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REYHIRE RIS EEY
of the period 196,938 289,898
Cash and cash equivalents at end of RERNBRERRESEEY
the period 248,360 196,938
Note: B 3T

(1) For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group invested RMB258.4
million and RMB311.0 million, respectively, in the Group’s BOT/TOT and PPP
projects. Such investments were accounted for as cash flows used in operating
activities. Under the relevant accounting treatment, part of such cash outflows used
in operating activities was used to form the non-current portion of financial
receivables and contract assets in the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position. For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group would have
incurred cash inflows of RMB551.3 million and RMB679.4 million, respectively, if the
Group's investments in BOT/TOT and PPP activities were not accounted for as
cashflows used in operating activities.

(1) BE-_T-_=FR-_FT-_—F+-A=+—HILF
B AEEBERBOT/TOTRPPPIEBE A AIIRE AR
WSBABEBLRAREINOEETT - 2SR &
AEEFHMBRSRE - RERBESHERE &
EEHARBSRETE AR ERANEEELRE B
BIRREZASREBRIER A L EERIIERNEES -
BE-_T-_=FR-_FT-_—F+-A=+—HILF
E - M ANEBRBOT/TOT MPPPEIEHIL E I &
ABRINAKETEHMARSRE  A5EBHRIE
ERERAARESIIEBTRARK694EE
=
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Trade and Bills Payables

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's trade and bills payables of
RMB2,013.5 million (31 December 2022: RMB2,260.2 million) decreased
by RMB246.7 million, which was in line with the execution of the
Group's construction work in progress and the settlements.

Other Payables and Accruals

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's other payables and accruals of
RMB207.9 million (31 December 2022: RMB288.1 million), decreased by
RMBB80.2 million, which was mainly due to the decrease in amounts due
to an associate, decrease in salary and welfare payables and the
settlement of acquisition payables.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's principal liquidity and capital requirements primarily relate
to investments in Urban Water Treatment projects, Water Environment
Comprehensive Remediation projects, and Rural Water Improvement
projects, merger and acquisition of subsidiaries, costs and expenses
related to the operation and maintenance of the Group’s facilities,
working capital and general corporate purpose.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group's cash and
cash equivalents was RMB248.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB51.5 million as compared to RMB196.9 million as at
31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the net cash inflows of
RMB292.9 million from operating activities, the net cash outflows used
in financing activities of RMB257.1 million, cash outflows of RMB61.1
million for purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets in investing activities, cash inflows of RMB57.8 million for
decrease in pledged deposits, the net cash inflows of RMB5.3 million
for decrease in loans to a third party and increase in loans to an
associate, cash inflows of RMB10.2 million for dividend collected from
an associate and an equity investment company, repurchase of other
current financial assets of RMBO.1million, and cash inflows of RMBO0.5
million for disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets from investing activities.

EZEAREREANERE
R-ZE-=F+-_A=+—8B Xx&£EEH
ENREREMFEREAARK2013588 T
(ZE=Z=F+=-RA=+—H: AR# 22602
BET) WO ARE267TBE T ZRD
HAEECEITHEETIENRNTREES
SUABTT o
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T RO ARER2AE T TEANENM
—XEERRFENRLD BN IE REF
RR D M FRBEAN R NEE -
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total interest-bearing debts
increased to RMB9,217.0 million (31 December 2022: RMB9,521.8
million), which comprised of bank and other borrowings only. As at 31
December 2023, 64.7% (31 December 2022: 69.8%) of the Group's
interest-bearing debts are long term; over 71% of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings bear interest at floating rates.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had banking facilities amounting
to RMB57,646.3 million, of which RMB49,602.0 million have not been
utilized. The unutilized amount of RMB49,402.0 million were mainly
limited to be utilized on environmental protection infrastructure and
comprehensive management.

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group (calculated by
total liabilities divided by total assets) slightly decreased to 69.6%,
while the gearing ratio was 69.7% as at the corresponding period last
year.

Charges on the Group’s Assets

Outstanding balance of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as
at 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB9,917.0 million, which
were repayable within one month to twenty-two years and were
secured by financial receivables, service concession intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, trade
receivables, contract assets and pledged deposits of which the total
amounts of the pledge of assets amounted to RMB10,438.4 million.

Capital Expenditure

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's total capital
expenditure were RMB127.1 million, compared to RMB512.7 million in
2022, primarily including the consideration of approximately RMB112.8
million for construction and acquisition of BOT, TOT, BOO and PPP
projects and the consideration of approximately RMB13.6 million for
acquisition of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries.

R-ZZE-_=F+-A=+—8 AEBEHt
EEBBERENEARKINIOBEE T (=
T F+ZA=+—H: AR®952188
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had 2,296 employees as at 31 December 2023. The
remuneration package of the Group is generally determined with
reference to market conditions and individual performance. Salaries
are normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and
other relevant factors. The Group provides external and internal
training programs to its employees.

In respect of pension scheme contributions, the Group adopts a
defined contribution plan. The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution plan are recognised as expenses when incurred. Forfeited
contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may not be used by
the Group and its subsidiaries to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Majority of the subsidiaries of the Company operate in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated and settled in RMB. As at 31
December 2023, except for the bank deposits and certain amount of
interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated in foreign currencies,
the Group did not have significant foreign currency exposure from its
operations. Currently, the Group has not used derivative financial
instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed, no significant events took place subsequent to 31
December 2023.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEE

DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management
and operation of the Group's business. The Board currently consists of
seven Directors, including four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors.

The biographical details of the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report are set out
below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) (i & &), aged 71, is the
founder of the Group. He is an executive Director, and the co-chairman
of the Board (the "Co-Chairman”) of the Company, responsible for
strategic development and planning, overall operational management,
market development and major decision making. He was appointed as
a Director on 22 August 2011. He has acted as a director and the chief
executive officer of Chongging Kangda since the beginning of the
establishment of Chongging Kangda and ceased to be the chief
executive officer of Chongqging Kangda in September 2012. Mr. Zhao
has served as the chairman of the board of directors and general
manager of Chongqging Kangte Environmental Protection Industry
Holdings Co., Ltd.* (EE BIFIRIRE LB R A 7)) since November
1994. He graduated from the political administration at elementary
level* (% Bt % #F E #E B H %) from Sichuan University* (I9)1| X £)
located in Chengdu City, Sichuan Province, and Sichuan Higher
Vocational and Examination Committee* (FU)I| & ST EHE 2%
AIEEEZE L) in June 1988, and attended a one-month education
programme of Sichuan foreign-related business from Shenzhen
University* (&I ’X2) located in Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,
in July 1988.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Zhao Juanxian has over 25 years of experience in the environmental
protection and wastewater treatment industry and was awarded for
several times for his valuable contribution to the development of
environmental protection and his expertise in environmental protection
technology by relevant environmental protection industry associations
from 2004 to 2009. Mr. Zhao Juanxian was granted the title of
Outstanding Environmental Technology Entrepreneurs by the Chinese
Society for Environmental Sciences* (R HIRER B & &) in
September 2004. He received the China Environmental Protection
Industry Development Award granted by the China Association of
Environmental Protection Industry* (R BIIRBREE X HE) in
January 2005. He was also granted the title of Outstanding Individual
of Environmental Protection by the People’s Government of
Chongqging Municipal* (EE ™ ARKMA) in July 2006 and
Outstanding Entrepreneur of China Environmental Protection Industry
by China Association of Environmental Protection Industry* (1 Bz 15%
REEZEWE) in October 2009. Mr. Zhao Juanxian served as the vice
president of the 3rd and 4th Session of Chongging Municipal
Environmental Protection Industry Association* (ZE B 1 IR 35 (R & = 55
HeEE=ZERENEEEE) in 2005 and 2012, respectively, and the
vice president of the 3rd and 4th Session of China Association of
Environmental Protection Industry* (FBIRBEREEEHEE =2 &
FEIE E2) in 2005 and 2009, respectively. In January 2015, he
served as the vice chairman of the board of directors of China State-
owned Industry Innovation Alliance (1 Bl Bl & [ 1> 2= 5 Bl ¥ S B B BB )
and the vice chairman of the board of directors of Hong Kong-
Mainland International Investment Society (B E KK ERE),
respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Li Zhong (ZH), JP, aged 55, was graduated from Beijing
University of Chemical Technology* (1t ;21 T K £) with a major in
polymer materials, and obtained a master degree in business
administration from Saint Mary's University of Canada in 1997. He has
served in national state-owned enterprises and international well-
known 500 enterprises in the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong for
over 20 years. Since 2002, he has dedicated himself to urban public
utilities with a focus on water affairs, as well as the investment,
management and operation of infrastructure projects. Since 2004, he
has been a director of Shenzhen Bus Group Co. Ltd. Mr. Li Zhong also
serves as executive director of the China Overseas Friendship
Association, a Hong Kong member of the Standing Committee of the
Beijing Municipal Committee of the Chinese People Political
Consultative Conference* (FEBIARBUAHE ERI R BREEHKEE)
and the honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Volunteers Association.
Currently, he is also an executive director of China Water Affairs Group
Limited ("China Water”, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 855). He joined the Group in
2019.

Ms. Liu Yujie (2| £ &), aged 59, was graduated from University of
International Business and Economic* (37N & & 5 K £) located in
Beijing and obtained a master degree in business administration. Ms.
Liu Yujie has been working in Hong Kong, Singapore and the PRC for
over 20 years in total and is familiar with the business environment and
regulatory system of the three places. She has comprehensive
experience in capital market, business promotion and corporate
management, participated in IPO and underwriting of over 30
companies on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, led and completed
merger and acquisition of three companies in Hong Kong and
Singapore, assisted capital raising and management of large-scale
industrial fund for investment in the PRC, and acted as executive
directors of listed companies in Hong Kong and Singapore which
engaged in utilities and infrastructure investment. Currently, she is also
an executive director of New Universe Environmental Group Limited
(stock code: 436), a non-executive director of China Water and an
independent non-executive director of Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3633), which are listed on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. She joined the Group in 2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan (Bt ##8), aged 33, studied in Beijing Normal
University with a major in psychology. He joined China Water as the
president assistant in 2011, mainly focusing on hotel operating and
intelligent water businesses. At the same time, Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan
assisted the directors of China Water in capital market and investor
relations, etc. In 2015, Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan was appointed as the
general manager of the hotel under China Water in Nanjing, and was
in charge of the construction, procurement and daily operation of
various hotels of China Water. Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan has
comprehensive experiences in human resources and corporate
management. Currently, he is also an executive director of China
Water. He joined the Group in 2019.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chau Kam Wing (A $8 %), aged 61, has over 30 years of
experience in auditing, taxation and financial management and had
been appointed as financial controller of a number of companies listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Chau obtained a master
degree in business administration from the University of San Francisco
in the United States in 2000. He is also a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a practicing
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Chau is currently the finance director of Winox Holdings Limited
(stock code: 6838) and an independent non-executive director of each
of Carpenter Tan Holdings Limited (stock code: 837), Ching Lee
Holdings Limited (stock code: 3728) and China Water, which are listed
on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Chau is also
an independent non-executive director of Eco-Tek Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8169) and was an independent non-executive director of
Zhejiang Chang’an Renheng Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8139)
from 8 May 2014 to 11 May 2019, which are both listed on the GEM of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He joined the Group in 2019. He is
also the chairman of the audit committee and nomination committee
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Chang Qing (& /&), aged 66, was graduated from the Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences* (1 Bt & £ 27 ) with a doctorate
degree in agricultural economics and management in 2001, graduated
from Jilin University (Z # A 2) with a bachelor’s degree in economics
in 1982 and a master’s degree in national economics in 1985. Mr.
Chang had successively served as a research assistant, a deputy
research fellow and a research fellow of Development Research Center
of the State Council (BI75BT 2 R 7T /L)) from 1985 to 2005 and the
vice chairman of China Futures Association (7 B Bl & 2 # €) from
1999 to 2006. Mr. Chang has worked in the College of Economics and
Management of China Agriculture University (HF Bl 2 3£ K 2 485 & 12
7 ) since 2005. He has also served as the chairman of the board of
Jinpeng International Futures Co., Ltd (£ 5 Hi & 4&< 42 A FR A 7]) since
1993. Mr. Chang is currently an independent non-executive director of
China Chengtong Development Group Limited (stock code: 217) and
Honghua Group Limited (stock code 196), which are both listed on the
main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He joined the Group in
2016. He is also the member of the audit committee and nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Peng Yongzhen (% K %), aged 75, was graduated from Harbin
Institute of Technology* (& E8& T 3 K2) (formerly known as Harbin
University of Architecture and Engineering (fa BB 2 K &), the
same below) in June 1995 with a doctor degree in environmental
engineering and was a senior visiting scholar in Gunma University (H
AN EEES K &) from October 1996 to April 1997. Mr. Peng previously
held various positions in water supply and sewerage engineering major
in the urban construction department of Harbin Institute of
Technology* (M /& L % K 2), including the teaching assistant
position from September 1976 to October 1978, the teaching assistant,
lecturer and associate professor positions from December 1981 to
September 1993, and the professor position from September 1993 to
February 2000. Since 2000, he has been a chief professor of the
environment engineering department, a professor, a tutor of doctoral
candidates and the chief of the environmental engineering department
and water pollution control research laboratory in Beijing University of
Technology* (3t ;2 T2 K &), Director of National Engineering Lab for
Advanced Municipal Wastewater Treatment and Reuse Technology
("WHEFKRAEREEEREMAREMN " BEHRIIZERE) and the
chief of Beijing Engineering Technology Research Center of Sewage
Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal* (3535 7K i ZU bR 5 BE 18 Ti2 4%
i 3T H ) of Beijing University of Technology, concurrently.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

He has long been engaged in the research of urban sewage disposal
measures, of which some technological achievements have been
massively applied into practice. Mr. Peng has earned diverse national-
level titles and awards for his academic achievements, including
without limitations National Role Model Lecturer* (% B & &5 21 £ in
2007, National Qutstanding Faculty* (Bl R # 2 £ Efl) in 2009 and
National Excellent Technical Personnel* (2 BEFRFH T IEH) in
2012. He was selected to be one of the first talents sponsored by
National Special Support Plan for High-level Personnel* (B R & /8 X A
AR Bk X 755 &) in 2013. He was granted the Second Prize of the
State Scientific and Technological Progress Award* (BZR &} 3t 25 4%)
in 2004, 2009 and 2012, respectively, the Second Prize of the State
Technology Invention Award* (Bl R £} 2 BA 42) in 2020, the First Prize
of Beijing Science and Technology Progress Award* (1t J h BH 3 25
#Z) in 2012 and 2020, respectively, the First Prize of Shanghai Science
and Technology Award for Technical Invention* (_E & T % 2 BF 4%) in
2020, and awarded the Ho Leung Ho Lee Foundation Prize for Scientific
and Technological Progress 2021 (ZZE = —F E M 2R FE S B 28
AT #E 2P #2). Mr. Peng received a special allowance from China’s State
Council in 2000, and was appointed as member of Chinese Academy
of Engineering (B T#2Fx ) in 2015. He joined the Group in 2015. He
is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of
the audit committee and nomination committee of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the senior management of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report are set out below:

Mr. Zhou Wei (/A 1&), aged 44, was appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Group on 9 April 2019. Mr. Zhou Wei graduated from
Nanjing Audit University* (B R & 5T 2 ) located in Nanjing and
obtained a bachelor degree in auditing. Mr. Zhou Wei is currently a
certified tax agent of the People’s Republic of China. From 2002 to
2007, he worked in several domestic and international accounting
firms. In August 2007, Mr. Zhou Wei joined China Water and
successively served as the chief financial officer of Huizhou Zhongshui
Water Development Co., Ltd.* (BRI /KK EREBR A F), a
subsidiary of China Water), the vice general manager of the investment
department of China Water the general manager of Huizhou Dayawan
Yiyuan Jingshui Co., Ltd.* (RN R Z8&% R F 7K B PR A7), a subsidiary
of China Water), and the ch|ef f|nanC|a| officers of Shenzhen Jinola
Environment Holding Co. Ltd.* (XY € ERBIERBR A A
subsidiary of China Water) and Guangdong Xinsheng Enwronmental
Protection Group Co., Ltd.* (BR ¥R RREEER A F]), a subsidiary
of China Water). Mr. Zhou Wei is experienced in financial management
and investment and financing area.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Adapting and adhering to the recognised standards of corporate
governance principles and practices has always been one of the top
priorities of the Company. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is one of the areas that lead to the success of the Company
and in balancing the interests of Shareholders, customers and
employees, and the Board is devoted to ongoing enhancements of the
efficiency and effectiveness of such principles and practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has complied
with all the applicable provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Group further strengthened the control over budget, risk,
performance and responsibilities, optimised management approaches
and strategies, improved supporting mechanism and enhanced control
effectiveness and operational efficiency of the Group.

The Group enhanced overall control over target responsibilities and
budget control, which was promoted and implemented within the
entities under the Group as well as management level, and
implemented the main body responsibility system through organic
combination of the trinity to fully stimulate team members’ initiative.

The Group also took initiative to enhance efforts in fund management,
financial risk control, project investment decisions, legal risk control,
information disclosure and maintenance of investor relationship to
strive for more effective and transparent management in accordance
with the CG Code.

OUR CULTURE

The Group is one of the first private enterprises in the environmental
pollution treatment industry in Chinese Mainland. With the corporate
mission of “creating an environment with greener water, lusher
mountains and bluer skies” and the corporate vision of “leading the
environmental protection industry and making Kangda International a
century-old company”, the Group is engaged in urban sewage
treatment, water environment comprehensive remediation and rural
water improvement in Chinese Mainland, providing customised and
comprehensive sewage treatment solutions and services to our
customers.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

OUR CULTURE (Continued)

In the course of business, the Group adheres to high standards and
strict requirements on engineering and operation quality and regards
occupational health, safety in production and environmental protection
as an important part of fulfilling social responsibilities, which are
integrated into the Company’s sustainable development strategy. We
have been certified by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development as an enterprise qualified as a Class A General
Construction Contractor of Municipal and Public Works, as well as the
CAEPI level-1 industrial wastewater and domestic sewage operation
and service ability evaluation certification, ISO9001 Quality
Management System, ISO14001 Environmental Management System,
and 1SO45001 Occupational Health And Safety Management System.
A number of environmental protection projects led by us has also won
the National Important Environmental Protection Practical Technology
Demonstration Project Award. The Group is well-recognised in the
environmental protection industry in the Mainland. The Group is
currently the deputy chairman unit of the National Industrial and
Commercial and Environmental Protection Association (£ T ®iziE
% &) and a member of the China Environment Protection Industry
Association.

The Group requires all employees to actively practice the corporate
core values of “sincere commitment and repaying the society”. We
have established management rules and regulations that meet the
requirements of public enterprises, including “Employee Handbook”,
“Anti-Fraud Management System”, "Employee Whistleblowing
Policy”, etc. Meanwhile, through employee cultural training, we
advocate integrity and self-discipline, enhance the compliance
awareness of all employees, and make employees deeply understand
the corporate culture and integrate it into their daily work. In order to
advocate a green and low-carbon culture, we continue to pay attention
to the development of new technologies, actively apply new
technologies in the construction and operation of sewage treatment
projects, improve energy efficiency, and actively organise various
operating companies to carry out tree planting activities to promote
low-carbon travel.

In order to popularise environmental protection knowledge and skills,
spread positivity, and disseminate new knowledge, we organised the
"Public Open Day for Environmental Protection Facilities” campaign in
each factory, inviting the public to visit our factories to learn, helping
them to understand the capabilities and effectiveness of wastewater
treatment facilities, and raising public awareness of ecological
environment protection, water conservation, and water environment
protection.

We will continue to focus on building an environment-friendly and
resource-saving enterprise to achieve the harmonious development of
people, nature and the environment.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors (“the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of the
Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding the Directors’ dealings in
the Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiries of all the
Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated to the chief executive officer,
of which the Directors also undertake, and through him, to the senior
management the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has
established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference.

As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the
composition of the Board is set out below:

Executive Directors

Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) (Co-Chairman)
Li Zhong (Co-Chairman)

Liu Yujie

Duan, Jerry Linnan

Independent non-executive Directors
Chau Kam Wing

Chang Qing

Peng Yongzhen

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all time
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

A code provision of the CG Code requires Directors to disclose to the
issuer the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments as well as the nature
of such companies or organisations and the time involved in such
offices, each Director has agreed to disclose their commitments to the
Company in a timely manner.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
have been clearly defined in writing and are carried out by different
individuals in order to preserve independence and a balance of views
and judgement.

With the support of the senior management, the Chairman is
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate, complete
and reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing
on issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief Executive Officer
focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved
and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-
day management and operations. The Chief Executive Officer is also
responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating the
organisational structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board's approval.

As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Zhao Juanxian and Mr. Li Zhong were the
Co-chairmen of the Company and Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan was the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has entered into
service contract/letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
fixed term of one year and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party to the
other.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, monitoring the appointment and succession planning of
Directors and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties and formalised the inclusion of the following
corporate governance duties into the terms of reference of the Board:

a. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

b.  to define the Company's purpose, value and strategy and review
alignment with corporate culture;

c.  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

d.  to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct, anti-
corruption, whistleblowing policies and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

f. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report in the annual
report of the Company.

The Board had reviewed and approved the corporate governance
report contained in this annual report. The Board had also reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy aiming to set out the
approach to achieve the diversity of members of the Board to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit
basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members. Selection of candidates of Board members will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made
upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board has targeted to maintain the level of female representation
of not less than 10% of the Board up to 2025. During the year 2023,
female representation was 14.3% and had achieved the target. The
Board will take gender diversity into account in its process of director
appointment and the Board will continue to review the target over
time.

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors are continually updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional
development for Directors will be arranged where necessary. Individual
Directors also participated in the courses relating to the roles, functions
and duties of a listed company director or further enhancement of their
professional development by way of attending training courses or via
online aids or reading relevant materials.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training
to all Directors for their continuous professional development. All the
Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participating any suitable training
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors participated
in the following continuous professional development:
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Reading Materials
update on rules
and regulations

BEHEE
FAIRER
Name of Directors EENA B BAE M R
Executive Directors HTES
Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) (Co-Chairman) HEB (HEEE) v/
Li Zhong (Co-Chairman) e (BEERE) v/
Liu Yujie 2ER v/
Duan, Jerry Linnan (Chief Executive Officer) EXMRAm (7T B ) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Chau Kam Wing IEFES v/
Chang Qing N v
Peng Yongzhen ToKE v/
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TEERBE

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board is provided with relevant materials in relation to the matters
brought before the meetings. Reasonable notices of meetings are
given to the Directors and the Directors are encouraged to express
freely their independent views and propose new items as any other
business for discussion at the meetings. The Directors have separate
access to the Company's senior management for information at all
times and may seek independent professional advice at the Company'’s
expenses, if necessary, to ensure that independent views and opinions
are available to the Board. Minutes are kept by the company secretary
and are open for inspections by all Directors at any reasonable time.
Procedures for convening meetings of the Board and Board
committees and preparing minutes of the meetings have complied
with the requirements of the Articles of Association and applicable
rules and regulations.

The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
the general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out below:
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Attendance/ Attendance/

Number of Number of

Board Meetings General Meetings

EEged BRAE

HERE HERE,

Name of Directors EEpE BITRE BITRE

Executive Directors HITES

Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HEB (HEEE)

(Co-Chairman) 8/8 2/2
Li Zhong (Co-Chairman) T (BELE) 8/8 2/2
Liu Yujie 2EAR 8/8 2/2
Duan, Jerry Linnan ER 18

(Chief Executive Officer) (7T %) 8/8 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITESE
Chau Kam Wing IEEES 8/8 2/2
Chang Qing N 8/8 2/2
Peng Yongzhen oK 8/8 2/2
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
Company matters, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information and other
significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to its Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the nomination
committee, the remuneration committee and the audit committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) to make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief
executive. As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
consisted of two executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors, comprising Mr. Chau Kam Wing (chairman), Mr.
Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian), Mr. Li Zhong, Mr. Peng Yongzhen
and Mr. Chang Qing.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the size, structure and
composition of the Board to complement the Group's corporate
strategy and made recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and re-appointment of Directors during the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2023 and the attendance records are set out below:
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Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

SREERE

Name of Directors EEpE BITRE
Mr. Chau Kam Wing R E & 1/1
Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HEELE 11
Mr. Li Zhong =Nl e 1/1
Mr. Peng Yongzhen TKBREE 11
Mr. Chang Qing BRLAE 11

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objects and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration package of individual executive Directors and senior
management and review and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes. As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
consisted of one executive director and two independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Peng Yongzhen (chairman), Mr. Zhao
Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) and Mr. Chau Kam Wing.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the Directors’ fees (including executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors) in consideration of the
increasing level of duties and responsibilities and market conditions;
and approval of the remuneration incentive structure of the Group as a
whole taking consideration of factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and their responsibilities.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year

FHMEEE ()

BE-T-=4#+-A=+-ALEFE %
BHE B & 5 50 5 B 8 0 60 B 3 I B 20K
FURMSHRAE RN ES (BERATEER
BYEHTES)OEE  CREBTEHLE
ATFREAMES %%Hﬂ%hﬁ&ﬁ%
2 [ 2 (6t 70N £ ) R 6 1 3 T SRR 204 o

BE_Z_=Ft+t_A=+t—HLFE"

ended 31 December 2023 and the attendance records are set out MZEE&8RT—R&H Xﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂjmaff
below: HANAT

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
BRHEERE
Name of Directors EEHE BITRE
Mr. Peng Yongzhen ZKBEE 11
Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HEELE 1/1
Mr. Chau Kam Wing JEREE T & 1/

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of the
Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. During the year, no equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements was paid to Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The biographies of the senior management are disclosed in the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management”
Remuneration paid to the senior management (excluding the Directors)
by bands for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

in this annual report.
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HK$0 to HK$1,500,000 078 7T 2 1,500,000 7T 1
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) to assist the Board in providing an independent view of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control and
risk management systems, oversee the audit process, monitor, review
and assist in the research of the Company’s environmental, social and
governance matters, and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board. As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors, being Mr.
Chau Kam Wing (chairman), Mr. Peng Yongzhen and Mr. Chang Qing.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results and annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Audit
Committee has also discussed matters with respect to the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Company and internal control
with senior management members of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
discussed with the management of the Company about the internal
controls, financial reporting and environmental, social and governance
matters, and reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and the effectiveness of the Group's internal control
system. The Audit Committee also met with the external auditor to
review the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the interim report of the Company for the six
months ended 30 June 2023 and discuss about the annual audit
planning of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Audit Committee had reviewed, evaluated and reported to the
Board on ESG related risks and opportunities, developed
corresponding objectives and motored the progress towards the
objectives, which include but not limited to environmental risks such as
climate change, water resources, pollutant discharge, as well as social
risks such as employment, supply chain and corruption.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
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December 2023 and the attendance records are set out below: REZEERRT_AgE SEFHNHELH
AT -

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
SEREERE
Name of Directors EEHA BITRE
Mr. Chau Kam Wing R E & 2/2
Mr. Peng Yongzhen TIKEEE 2/2
Mr. Chang Qing BiEE4E 2/2
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023. The Directors consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future
and are not aware of material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is solely responsible for the risk management and internal
control system to protect the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. To achieve its aim, the Board monitors and
approves the strategies and policies of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems. The purpose of the relevant strategies
and policies is to evaluate and determine the nature and extent of risks
to make it suitable for the Group's strategic objectives and risk
endurance. The main target is to provide reasonable assurance against
material misstatement or loss, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives. To this end, management continues to
allocate resources for an internal control and risk management system
compatible with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission) standards to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in the operating system
of the Group and in achieving business objectives by the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has continuously monitored
and annually reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control system of the Group and its subsidiaries, and is of the
view that the existing risk management and internal control system is
sufficient and effective. The review covered all material aspects with
regard to control, including financial control, operational control and
compliance control. The internal audit reports submitted to the Audit
Committee by the Group also covered aspects of risk management
and internal control. The Board is not aware of any significant areas of
concern which may affect the Shareholders, and believes that the
Group has fully complied with the code provisions on internal controls,
including compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, as set
forth in the CG Code. The Board, through the appraisal performed by
the Audit Committee, reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs received by the staff
and budget of the Group's accounting, internal auditing and financial
reporting function at the Board meeting. In light of the Group's nature
of business and the recommendations on the Board'’s role in risk
management, the Group has developed risk management system and
policies, and established a risk control department, which is
responsible for the Group's risk management, to communicate and
assess the Group's risk profile and material risks, and track the progress
of mitigation plans and initiatives of material risks and report on
detailed examinations of specific risks as required.
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TERERERE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM
The Group has established a comprehensive organization structure to
manage the risks encountered by the Group. The risk management
structure comprises two key factors: risk management structure and
risk management program.

Rk EEAMER

AEECRY —ERENEHRE HI%
BAEYRRETER - AREEEER
EREARRAE: AREBRBNEARER
e

The Board (Supervision)

E2g (BB

g

3

©

2

R

g%

£ E]ﬂn Internal Audit and Inspection Department

O REFEZER

£ B

=

~

(2]

2

Risk - Risk Eu;;:ervision atnd
Management ~ Collection of Risk S Management fihancemen
Program Information Assessment Management Solutions of Risk
BREE  &alke B Strategies RgsE Management
B i RBERER g ARER

" E e

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Corporate Governance Report
TEERKE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM EREREAMER @

(Continued)
1. Risk management structure — EREELRE

»  determine the overall objective, risk appetites and risk tolerance for corporate risk
management, and approve risk management strategies, major risk mitigation
solutions and risk management measures;

BECEXRARERERARE RRFEF RRIJE HERREBRENEXR
B 4F 48 77 B DA e R B B B AR B

REGULATORY »  understand and manage each major risks faced by the enterprise and its existing
ORGANISATION management situations, and make effective risks control decisions; approve the
EEME decision- making standards or mechanisms regarding major decisions, major risks,

major events and major business processes;
THNEZERCERERNSHAENRR RERRERETMN - #MEARBIEH R AIRE
BEBERORK - EXEAR EAFHNEEZEBRRIZARRZELHS

»  approve risk management report related to major decisions; and
BHEBANRREFENRARERRE &

»  approve the annual comprehensive risk management report.

HEFEEEEREERS -

»  review the establishment and planning of the comprehensive risk management

system;
RISK ERSARRERRANERAE
MANAGEMENT »  review the proposal on the structure of the risk management organisations and their
ORGANISATION responsibilities;
= FHEREIAGRERERABESR
s »  review the annual comprehensive risk management report and submit to the Board;

FRVNEZTSRXFELHRRERRSE

»  review risk management strategies, major risk management solutions and risk
management measures; and
BEZRAREERE BARREBBATRALERERER: &

»  review the annual risk management work plan.

ERFERRER IS -

REREBRBRRERAR/ _E_=FERE

45



46

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM REREREAMER @

(Continued)

1.

Risk management structure (Continued) — - EREEEEE)

»  responsible for the establishment and amendment of the Company'’s risk
management policies and mechanisms;
BEETMERT AR AR E IR BUR RS

»  establish anti-corruption mechanisms, and check for possible corruption conduct
during the internal audit process, and make suggestions for dealing with corruption
conduct;

B RFERES WHEAMEABIETREARFENERTR  HEKITRIEE
HER IR 5
»  formulate annual risk management work plan and submit to the Board and the
Audit Committee for their review;
LEADING RISK BEFERARERIEGE BXEFY BEREAGER
MANAGEMENT »  regularly collect first-hand information regarding risk management, carry out risk
AND SUPPORTING assessment and discuss major risks faced by the Company;
ORGANISATION FEHRERBRERMEER  BTRRTE  ARRUAANEENEARR
A E p  assess the soundness, reasonability and the effectiveness in implementation of the
TER SRS risk management system, and review the annual comprehensive risk management

report, risk management proposals and day-to-day risk management solutions;
AHEEREERSGNREE QEMEMRITHARE ERFELXERREERS -
RERERTEMBERREBBRANR

»  accept reports from employees and cooperating organizations, organize
investigations and provide handling advices, and investigate and deal with people
and matters that violate Company and legal regulations;
REBEESTRAEEMMER ABACTRIRESR  ERERARIEER
ERAFE

p  assist the Group in carrying out risk management work, and formulate internal
auditing plan in accordance with the result of risk assessment; and
BB ASERREEREETIE  RIZARTGERGEAETIETS &

P test the effectiveness of risk management through implementing accounting
methods like walk through test and analytical review on its audit.

ETFTAR  ATEBRE T ABREHRRAREENARIE -

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Corporate Governance Report

TRERRE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM EREREAMER @

(Continued)

1. Risk management structure (Continued) — - EREEEEE)

implement the basic procedures in risk management;

HITRREEENRE

research and propose decision-making standards or mechanisms regarding major

RISK
IMPLEMENTATION decisions, major risks, major events and major business processes of the functional
ORGANISATION G \ e
AR T MARREARBEMEAIBAREK - EXAR EXFHNEZEBRERRKERELE
research and propose risk assessment report of the functional department; properly
carry out risk management work of the functional department; and
It D AR AL RPN B R AT RS - MU ABBERRFIRE R B TE &
establish comprehensive risk management procedures for the functional
department.
BYEE2ARBAEIPINERERRRE
2. Risk management program = EREERERERX
The Group has established a comprehensive risk management AREBEEY ExX=NEAREIER
program which is led and implemented by the internal audit and N RN A AEFEZLEE N ANESL
inspection department. The risk management program is as FItpBhansT - R EREARD T ¢
follows:
(1) to collect first-hand information for risk management; M EAREEVRERRE
(2)  to analyse and assess risks; 2 Rk AT
(3) to propose risk management strategies and formulate risk ) RHEREY R XEKER
management solutions; and ERBARER &
(4)  to supervise the implementation of risk management works (4 HEEBENRREEI(EE
performed by each business units and verify the overall ERETEEWZEEEETE -
appraisal.
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TEERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM

(Continued)

2. Risk management program (Continued)

Key risk management program of the Group
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TEERBE

SUPERVISION AND ENHANCEMENT OF RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group has set up basic procedures that cover the whole process
of risk management, connecting the channels of communication of risk
management information along the reporting lines and among various
departments and business units to ensure timely, accurate and
complete sharing of information and this has laid the foundation for
the supervision and enhancement of risk management.

The senior management of the Group, focusing on material risks,
material matters and material decisions, important management
matters and the business flow, supervises the work relating to the first-
hand information collection for risk management, risk assessment, risk
management strategies, critical control activities and the
implementation of risk management solutions. The internal audit and
inspection department carries out an annual review and examination
on the implementation of the works on risk management by different
departments and business units and its effectiveness for the year,
assesses risk management strategies and evaluates inter-departmental
risk management solutions and business units’ risk management
solutions, proposes suggestions for adjustments and recommendations
for improvements and issues evaluation and recommendation reports
which will be sent to the relevant senior management in a timely

manner.

MATERIAL RISKS THE GROUP MAY FACE

In 2023, during the course of business planning, we identified material
risks that the Group may face, including the risk of breach of
agreement by governments, risk of delayed collection, risk of
management of accounts receivable, risk of litigation disputes and risk
of liability for breach of agreement.

The potential risk of breach of agreement by governments arises from
project stagnation or cessation and economic losses caused by local
fiscal austerity or unilateral modification of project requirements. The
Group's corresponding measures on such risks include establishing a
feedback mechanism for breach of agreement and actively
communicating with local governments to formulate solutions.

The potential risk of delayed collection arises from the impacts of the
general market environment and the failure of the government to make
payments as scheduled due to fiscal austerity, resulting in damage to
the Company'’s interests and the extension of the collection period.
The Group's corresponding measures on such risk include maintaining
good communication with the government, understanding the
situation and making collection efforts.
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MATERIAL RISKS THE GROUP MAY FACE (Continued)

The potential risk of management of accounts receivable arises from
the failure to deliver and confirm sewage or sludge treatment
information on time, leading to disputes and loss of economic
interests. The Group's corresponding measures on such risk include
requiring treatment plants to promptly deliver and confirm sewage or
sludge treatment information in strict accordance with the agreements.

The potential risk of litigation disputes arises from disputes over labor,
construction, technology or sales and purchases, resulting in
unenforced contractual obligations and litigation risks. The Group's
corresponding measures on such risk include building a legal risk
prevention and control mechanism and incorporating dispute
management into performance appraisals.

The potential risk of liability for breach of contract arises from project
progress or water plant operation not being carried out in accordance
with the agreements due to insufficient funds, resulting in the risk of
liability for breach of contract. The Group's corresponding measures
on such risk include performing proper financing to ensure sufficient
funds and having the legal department conduct regular inspections
and tracking of contracts to reduce the risk of breach of contract.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
SYSTEM

The Group has incorporated anti-corruption and anti-bribery policies in
its standard of business conduct, and anti-corruption training are
provided to its employees and Directors to promote integrity and
enhance awareness about malpractice. Employees and other
stakeholders can report suspected misconduct and violations of law
and standards to the Group’s Internal Audit and Inspection
Department by phone or email, or to the Audit Committee by e-mail
on anonymous basis. During the year, there is no incident involving
serious fraud or misconduct have been received from employees nor
external parties. The Audit Committee will continuously review and
monitor the implementation and effectiveness of the whistleblowing
system.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

We have always believed that diversity is vital to the Group's
sustainable development. We insist on equality in the workplace and
strive to build a working atmosphere that fosters mutual respect,
inclusion, and mutual helpfulness to promote our employees’
happiness and satisfaction. To protect employees’ basic human rights
and enhance development diversity, we prohibit any type of
discrimination or screening in recruitment and promotion based on
gender, ethnic origin, religion, social status, or other considerations.
Currently, the male to female ratio in the workforce of the Group
including senior management is approximately 2:1 and the Board
considers that the Group has maintained a healthy and reasonable
gender diversity in its workforce.
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MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has formulated a set of program of continuing obligations
on information management and disclosure to formally regulate the
monitoring of inside information that arises during the course of its
current business development and has established the practice of
delivering such information to the Shareholders, the media and
analysts. When handling the relevant matters, the Group will comply
with “"Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission and the related provisions issued
by regulatory organisations and the Group has clearly stated that the
unauthorised use of confidential or inside information is prohibited.
The Group has set up a system of answering enquiries from external
parties about the Group's affairs, and will appoint and authorise the
senior executives of the Group to act as the Company’s spokesperson
in response to enquiries on a particular area.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'’S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 75 to 82.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s independent auditor, Ernst & Young, is set
out below:
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RMB

ARET T

Annual audit services FEETRS 2,552
Non-audit services I RS 308
Total fees BE A 2,860

Non-audit services included tax advisory services and environmental,
social and governance advisory services. The Audit Committee is
satisfied that the non-audit services did not affect the independence of
the external auditor.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group's business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of transparency and
timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
Shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions. The
general meetings of the Company provide a forum for face-to face
communication between the Board and the Shareholders dialogue.
The Chairman as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence,
other members of the respective committees and, where applicable,
the chairman of the independent Board committee, are available to
answer questions at general meetings.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains on its
website up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information, which are
posted and are available for public access. The Company also arranges
periodic investors’ conference and sets up dedicated investor relations’
e-mail address to receive enquiries from the shareholders and potential
investors. The Board had reviewed the shareholder's communication
policy during the year ended 31 December 2023 and considered that
the policy has been properly implemented and is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 June 2023,
resolution for amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company to (a) permit the Company to hold hybrid
general meetings and electronic general meetings; and (b) bring the
Memorandum and Articles of Association in line with relevant
requirements of applicable laws and the Listing Rules, was propose
and passed. Details of the amendments were set out in the Company’s
circular dated 26 April 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at Shareholders’
meetings, including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries to the Board
could send their enquiries to the Company'’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong or the headquarters in the PRC or by email to
kangda@kangdaep.com. Shareholders can contact Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch share
registrar of the Company, if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETINGS AND PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share basis, shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business or
resolution specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
convene a physical meeting at only one location which will be the
principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Wan Sing is the company secretary of the Company. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, he has undertaken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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Report of Directors

EEEHE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group is set out in “Business Review” section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis”.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities, which are
extracted from the annual audited reports, are set out on page 231 and
page 232 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and its
financial position at that date are set out on the financial statements on
pages 83 to 86 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend payment of the final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (year ended 31 December 2022: nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend payout
of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations and subject to the Articles of Association. Subject to
compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of
Association, in deciding whether to propose any dividend payout, the
Board will take into account, among other things, the financial results,
the earnings and distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity
requirements, the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit lines,
and the current and future development plans of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The transfer books and register of members of the Company will be
closed from Friday, 31 May 2024 to Wednesday, 5 June 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares can be
registered. The record date for entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “Annual
General Meeting”) is Wednesday, 5 June 2024. In order to be qualified
for attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers of
Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 30 May 2024.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The political, economic and social conditions in China are experiencing
changes and reforms, which may adversely affect our business, growth
strategies, operating results and financial condition.

Demand for the Group's services and business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected by the
following factors:

o political instability or changes in social conditions in China;
° changes in laws, regulations and administrative directives;
o measures which may be introduced to control inflation or

deflation; and
o changes in the rate or method of taxation.

These factors are affected by a number of variables which are beyond
control.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group adheres to the concept of green environmental protection
in conducting its business and is dedicated to reduce environmental
impacts and contribute to environmental conservation. The Group has
endeavored to comply with applicable environmental protection laws
and regulations and has developed policies in relation to water
resources, energy saving, office resources, chemical resources,
construction materials, sewage discharge, exhaust gas, solid waste and
noise. For example:

o the Group has adopted water conservation management system
and provided manual on water conservation for employees;

J energy-saving designs and equipment are used in the Group's
wastewater treatment plants;

o paper conservation and doubles-sided printing are promoted,
digital office system is employed to reduce office resources
consumption;

o Energy-saving and recycled materials are used in constructions;

. Dust and noise reducing measures are used in construction sites.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
laws, rules and regulations in particular, those have significant impact
on the Group. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and
relevant operation units from time to time.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands where the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 87 of this annual report respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Companies
Law, amounted to approximately RMB1,717.0 million (2022: RMB1,712.4
million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's five largest

suppliers accounted for 11.7% of the Group's total purchases and
purchase from the Group's largest supplier included therein amounted
to 2.8% of the total purchases for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's sales to its five
largest customers accounted for 30.5% of the Group's total sales and
sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 6.9% of the
total sales for the year.

Jiangxi Silver Dragon Water Environment Construction Co., Ltd.* (L P§
IRBENIRIFIZFZR AR E LA A]) (“Jiangxi Silver Dragon”) is one of the
five largest suppliers of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023. Jiangxi Silver Dragon is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Water, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li Zhong, Ms. Liu
Yujie and Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan, the executive Directors of the
Company, are also directors of China Water and Mr. Chau Kam Wing,
an independent non-executive Director of the Company, is also an
independent non-executive director of China Water. Further details are
set out in the section “Connected Transaction” below. Save as
disclosed, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.
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BANK LOANS
Particulars of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Details of the Group's policies on capital management are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any
material investments in the equity interest of other companies.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS OF
CAPITAL ASSETS

As of 31 December 2023, Group had no material investment and other
plans for capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

On 16 November 2023, Chongging Kangda Environmental Protection
Industry (Group) Co., Ltd* (EERERREX(EE)ER A7)
("Chongging Kangda”), an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of he
Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement (the “Equity
Transfer Agreement”) with Shenzhen Goldtact Environmental Holdings
Limited* (XY & ZRIBIEK AR 2 7)) (“Shenzhen Goldtact”),
pursuant to which Chongging Kangda agreed to sell, and Shenzhen
Goldtact agreed to purchase 31% equity interest in Zhongyuan Water
Group Co., Ltd.* (R FR/K 7S & B A R A 7l) (“Zhongyuan Water”) at a
consideration of RMB144,884,503.80 (the “Disposal”). Shenzhen
Goldtact is owned as to approximately 94.09% by China Water. Further
details of the Disposal are set out in the section “Connected
Transaction” below.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and associates for the year ended 31
December 2023.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS
EMPLOYEES

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of
the Group. The objective of the Group's human resource management
is to reward and recognise performing staff by providing a competitive
remuneration package and implementing a sound performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by appropriate training and providing
opportunities within the Group for career advancement.
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CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's customers are generally municipal, district or county level
governments or their designees in China. We typically enter into
agreements with the Group’s customers to provide wastewater
treatment and other services on a project-by-project basis.

The Group's business is built on a customer-oriented culture, and are
focused on establishing relationships with district or county level
governments or their designees in China. The Group also understands
that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers and
customers to fulfil its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its
market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at
delivering constantly high standards of quality in the service to its
customers.

SHAREHOLDERS

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate value
to Shareholders. The Group is poised to foster business developments
for achieving the sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) (Co-Chairman)
Li Zhong (Co-Chairman)

Liu Yujie

Duan, Jerry Linnan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Chau Kam Wing

Chang Qing

Peng Yongzhen

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Li Zhong, Ms. Liu
Yujie and Mr. Chang Qing will retire at the Annual General Meeting,
and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the Annual General Meeting
are set out in the circular to the Shareholders.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 23 to 28 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has entered into
service contract/letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
fixed term of one year and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party to the
other.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS OF
SIGNIFICANCE, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director or his/
her connected party had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions of significance, arrangements or contracts to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the Articles of Association, every Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 14 June 2014 (the “"Adoption Date”). The
following is a summary of principal terms of the Share Option Scheme:

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the Eligible
Persons (as defined in the following paragraph) an opportunity to have
a personal stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimise
their future performance and efficiency to the Group and/or to reward
them for their past contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise
maintain on-going relationships with such Eligible Persons who are
significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
performance, growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the
case of Executives (as defined below), to enable the Group to attract
and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward
them for their past contributions.

Who may join in the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, grant options (“Option(s)”)
to subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the terms
set out in the Share Option Scheme to:

(@)  any executive Director of, manager of, or other employee holding
an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any
member of the Group (“Executive”), any full-time or part-time
employee, or person for the time being seconded to work full-
time or part-time for any member of the Group (“Employee”);

(b)  a Director or proposed Director (including an independent non-
executive Director) of any member of the Group;

() adirect or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group;

(d)  asupplier of goods or services to any member of the Group;

(e) a customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner,
franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any member of
the Group;

()  a person or entity that provides design, research, development
or other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or

other services to any member of the Group; and

(9) an associate of any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to
(f) above (the person referred above are the “Eligible Persons”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Maximum number of Shares

A resolution was passed by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company on 10 June 2020, approving,
inter alia, to refresh the limit of the Share Option Scheme to
213,973,500 shares of the Company, representing 10% of the issued
shares of the Company as at 10 June 2020. For further details please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 June 2020. As at the
date of this annual report, 213,973,500 shares of the Company are
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme, representing 10%
of the issued shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of Options
granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
exceeds 1% of the Company's issued share capital from time to time.

Where any further grant of Options to such Eligible Person would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options
granted and to be granted to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate over
1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant shall be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible
Person and his or her associates abstaining from voting.

Offer and grant of Options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be
entitled at any time within 10 years from the Adoption Date to offer the
grant of an Option to any Eligible Person as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select to subscribe at the subscription price for
such number of Shares as the Board may (subject to the terms of the
Share Option Scheme) determine (provided the same shall be a board
lot for dealing in the Shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange or an
integral multiple thereof).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Minimum holding period, vesting and performance target
Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board may in its
absolute discretion when offering the grant of an Option impose any
conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation thereto in addition to
those set forth in the Share Option Scheme as the Board may think fit
(to be stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant of Option)
including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing)
qualifying and/or continuing eligibility criteria, conditions, restrictions
or limitations relating to the achievement of performance, operating or
financial targets by the Company and/or the grantee, the satisfactory
performance or maintenance by the grantee of certain conditions or
obligations or the time or period before the right to exercise the
Option in respect of any of Shares shall vest provided that such terms
or conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other terms or
conditions of the Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt,
subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine as
aforesaid (including such terms and conditions in relation to their
vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no minimum period for which an
Option must be held before it can be exercised and no performance
target which need to be achieved by the grantee before Option can be
exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
payment period

To accept the grant of an Option, HK$1 as consideration for the grant
of an Option must be received by the Company from the grantee
within 28 days from the date on which the board resolution approves
the grant of Options.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be such
price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the time
of grant of the relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter
containing the offer of the grant of the Option) but the subscription
price shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(@) The nominal value of a Share;

(b) The closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date; and

(©)  The average closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange's daily quotations for the 5 business days (as
defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the offer
date.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there is no Option granted,
lapsed or exercised under the Share Option Scheme. As at 31
December 2023, no Option was outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group's
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) (i) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered into the register maintained by the Company, or (iii)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

EEREETRAERKRG A
EROREEENESRKXR

NRZEZ=F+-A=+—8 ARAESE
REEITERA BRARA F) s H ([ f5A =
(EERBHERPEEO ([EFHRBEEH])
FEXVE) A D c MERG REEFETR B
BEOREBLHERHEENEXVIET RS
HEMERNRABMEBBIANERS AR
(BEREFSF RIS GO BIE X E Ek
BRAFENEIRAR)  H()REZEFK
eGP EIGEEFARNRBMEFEENE
AR RAR - i) REZRESTRIZAM
EARNBIREBHRATNESRABLT ¢

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Number of capital of

Name of Director Nature of Interest Shares  the Company

LERANE

ERITRAN

ESsA BEME RHEE BMAOBDE

Mr. Zhao Juanxian Person acting in concert 546,728,004 25.56%
(alias, Zhao Junxian)® —EITEgAL (long position)
HEEXLED (45 &)

Mr. Li Zhong Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.47%
R A ERBEA A (long position)
(#F&)

Ms. Liu Yujie Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.47%
BEART L ERBEEA (long position)
(#F7)

Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.47%
MM EnEEA (long position)
(41 %)

Mr. Chau Kam Wing Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.09%
JB SR EE 5 A EREEA (long position)
(#F2)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (Continued)

= ol
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Number of capital of

Name of Director Nature of Interest Shares the Company

HEAR

B RITRAE

EEpR ERME RHEE BMAOB D

Mr. Chang Qing Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.09%
Bi5EE EnEEA (long position)
(45 &)

Mr. Peng Yongzhen Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.09%
KB E BEnEA A (long position)
(#FB)

Note: st -

(1 By virtue of Mr. Zhao Juanxian acting in concert with Mr. Zhao Sizhen, being the son
of Mr. Zhao Juanxian, under the SFO, Mr. Zhao Juanxian is deemed to be interested
in Mr. Zhao Sizhen's interests in the Company.

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2023 were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company and any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors, or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

(1) AR EE £ B Zhao Sizhen ok (BEBRLEZ
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

FERRRNKRG RAERBERD S
EmRXR

R-ZE-=F+-A=+—8  StEBEF=FFHM -
IUNTALT (BEEFARAZSITHAERIN)
RO AEBRG R EEREZSRBEK
BIEEXVEB K B2 K B350 S IE AR A A
A B EERN AR BRI E 5 K E &5
FEI6IEBEFENELMAOES AR -

Number of  Percentage of
Shares/ Issued Share
Underlying Capital of
Shares held  the Company
gD, LHEDES BT
HERGEE RANE D

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest
wE LB B3 EatE

China Water Affairs Group Limited™®  Interest of controlled corporation
REKBEEFRAF O REHEE S

Sharp Profit Investments Limited Beneficial owner

(“Sharp Profit”)"® EnEA A

Mr. Zhao Sizhen? Interest of controlled corporation
Zhao Sizhen %o £ @ REH AR R

Beneficial owner

BEamEEA
Kangda Holdings Company Limited® Beneficial owner
FEZERERARF BamlEE A

BPEA V Holding (5) Limited Beneficial owner
("BPEA V") (“BPEA V")¥® ERBAEA

Beneficial owner

BEamEEA

953,119,996 44 54%
(long position)

(#2)

953,119,996 44.54%
(long position)

(7R)

543,828,004 25.42%
(long position)

(4 2)

2,900,000 0.14%
(long position)

(42)

543,828,004 25.42%
(long position)

(4F2)

344,129,996 16.08%
(long position)

(1 R)
344,129,996 16.08%

(short position)
CRE)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

EEE“%FHQ@&*E%EHE@EP By
BENAXE
Number of  Percentage of

Shares/ Issued Share
Underlying Capital of
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held  the Company
FisiR1D, LHEDES BT
wE A8 B3 EatE HERGHE KREANBEIL
BPEA Private Equity Fund V, L.P.4® Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
2= A E R (long position)
2
(45 2)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
SEYE A B R A (short position)
X&)
BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P.4® Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
R EE (long position)
=]
(45 &)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
7=l E R (short position)
k&)
BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited“® Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
T A E RS (long position)
2
(45 2)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
SYEHEE (short position)
X&)
BPEA EQT Holdings AB Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
("BPEA EQT")“0) A E R (long position)
2
(45 2)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
A E R (short position)
X&)
EQT AB“S) Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
AR (long position)
=]
(45 &)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
=l E R (short position)
X&)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

m

Save

Sharp Profit is wholly owned by China Water Affairs Group Limited. China Water
Affairs Group Limited is therefore deemed to be interested in Sharp Profit's interests
in the Company under the SFO.

By virtue of Mr. Zhao Juanxian acting in concert with Mr. Zhao Sizhen, under the
SFO, Mr. Zhao Juanxian is deemed to be interested in Mr. Zhao Sizhen's interests in
the Company.

Kangda Holdings Company Limited is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Zhao
Sizhen and Mr. Zhao Sizhen is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held
by Kangda Holdings Company Limited under the SFO.

BPEA V is held as to approximately 99.35% by BPEA Private Equity Fund V, L.P.
BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P., is the general partner of BPEA Private Equity Fund V,
L.P. BPEA EQT is the sole shareholder of BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited, the
general partner of BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P. BPEA EQT is wholly owned by
EQT AB, which is listed on Nasdaq Stockholm. Each of BPEA Private Equity Fund V,
L.P., BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P., BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited, BPEA EQT
and EQT AB is deemed to be interested in BPEA V's interests in the Company.

On 8 May 2020, BPEA V issued exchangeable bonds with principal amount of
HK$361,336,495.8 to Sharp Profit (“Exchangeable Bonds”), which entitled the holder
of the Exchangeable Bonds to exchange for 344,129,996 shares of the Company (at
the initial exchange price of HK1.05 per share of the Company) beneficially owned
by BPEA V. As at 31 December 2023, Sharp Profit beneficially owned 608,990,000
shares of the Company and is the holder of the Exchangeable Bonds with principal
amount of HK$361,336,495.8 which are exchangeable into 344,129,996 shares of the
Company beneficially owned by BPEA V.

as disclosed above, and as at 31 December 2023, the Directors

were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief

executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the

Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered

in the register referred to therein.
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(4) BPEA V H BPEA Private Equity Fund V, LP.# 8 4
99.35% ° BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P. &BPEA
Private Equity Fund V, LP. B Z @& ¥ A ° BPEA
EQT %A BPEA Private Equity GP V, LP.®) @A A
BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited #) Mff — % 3 -
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% & ¥ A ° BPEA Private Equity Fund V, L.P. *
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had
any interest in any business which competes or may compete with the
businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 16 November 2023, Chongging Kangda entered into the Equity
Transfer Agreement with Shenzhen Goldtact in respect of the Disposal.
As Shenzhen Goldtact is owned as to approximately 94.09% by China
Water, Shenzhen Goldtact is an associate of China Water and a
connected person of the Company. The transaction in relation to the
Disposal constitutes a major and connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the Company’s
independent shareholders approved the Disposal pursuant to the
Equity Transfer Agreement in the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 27 December 2023. Further details of the Disposal
and the Equity Transfer Agreement were set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 16 November 2023 and circular dated 8
December 2023. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (Continued)

On 25 September 2020, Kangda Investment (Hong Kong) Company
Limited (“Kangda Investment (Hong Kong)”), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a framework
construction services agreement (the “Construction Services
Agreement”) with Jiangxi Silver Dragon, pursuant to which, the parties
agreed that Jiangxi Silver Dragon may be selected to provided civil
works, construction, installation works and supply of equipment for
projects of the Group relating to the construction, upgrading,
reconstruction and expansion of wastewater treatment facilities
through a tender process in compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC. The term of the Construction Services
Agreement commenced from the date of the Construction Services
Agreement and ended on 31 December 2022. Jiangxi Silver Dragon is
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Water, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Jiangxi Silver Dragon is an
associate of China Water and a connected person of the Company.
The transactions in relation to the Construction Services Agreement
constitute continuous connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the Company’s independent
shareholders approved the continuing connected transactions in
relation to the Construction Service Agreement in the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 16 November 2020. Further
details of the Construction Services Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2020 and circular
dated 30 October 2020. On 8 November 2022, Kangda Investment
(Hong Kong) and Jiangxi Silver Dragon entered into a new construction
services agreement (the “Renewed Construction Services Agreement”)
to renew the Construction Services Agreement for a term commencing
from 1 January 2023 and ending on 31 December 2025. Further details
of the Renewed Construction Services Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 November 2022. The annual
caps under the Renewed Construction Services Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and years ending 31 December 2024 and
2025 are RMB55 million, RMB55 million and RMB55 million,
respectively. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (Continued)

As set out in note 35 of the consolidated financial statements, certain
bank borrowings of the Group were secured by Mr. Zhao Juanxian,
which constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. However, pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing
Rules, as the guarantees provided by Mr. Zhao Juanxian were
conducted on normal commercial terms and not secured by the assets
of the Group, the guarantees provided by Mr. Zhao Juanxian set out in
note 35 of the consolidated financial statements are fully exempted
from reporting, announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.09 of the Listing Rules, as Huizhou Kangda
Yingzhihuang Water Co., Ltd.* (BINREHR 2 EKEER A 7)),
Jiaoling Kangda Environmental Governance Co., Ltd. (48 FEIRIE A
IEBBRAFA]), Pingdingshan City Bay Water Treatment Co., Ltd.* (*FT&
Ly T8 & 2K 7% A BR A 8)), Jilin Kangda Environmental Protection Co.,
Ltd.* (HMEZEIRRAE R A A]), Weihai Kangda Ecological Environment
Treatment Co., Ltd.* (BN /B RELRLIRBEZEAE AR A A]) and
Shenyang Jinhai Kangda Environmental Protection Water Co., Ltd.* (&
F5 31 8 FE 3 IR IR /K75 B BR A &)) are insignificant subsidiaries of the
Group, the related party transactions between the Group and their
respective non-controlling shareholders set out in note 35 of the
consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the other transactions set in note 35 of the
consolidated financial statements either do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company or
are exempted from reporting, announcement, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

*  For identification purposes only
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CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions of the Group and have confirmed
that these transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i)  on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reported to the Directors that
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors to believe
that, during the year ended 31 December 2023:

() the above continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board,;

(i)  the above continuing connected transactions that involve
provision of goods or services by the Group, were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company;

(iii)  the above continuing connected transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing such transactions; and

(iv)  the respective cap amounts set out for the relevant agreement
referred to above have been exceeded.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

The material post balance sheet events are disclosed in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management
and independent auditor the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Report of Directors

EEEHE

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors'
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.
Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they had complied with such code of conduct
during year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Company has compiled with all the
applicable provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company's total issued
share capital, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and permitted under the
Listing Rules, are held by the public at all times during the year ended
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young has acted as auditor of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Li Zhong
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B % AR

e
EY:

To the shareholders of
Kangda International Environmental Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kangda
International Environmental Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 230, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"”) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (“IAASB”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the "Code”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 8 T

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B % AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
REESEE

FAREEFTTEE G

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENETNNEEREETER

Provision for impairment of trade receivables and financial receivables

B S BN TE K 2 mh TR R (B

Trade receivables and financial receivables were significant to
the consolidated financial statements and the majority of the
receivables were generated from service concession
arrangements, engineering procurement construction (“EPC")
contracts, and build-transfer contracts. Expected credit losses
("ECLs") allowances for trade receivables are made based on
the assessment of the recoverability of receivables due from
customers. The Group is required to regularly assess the
recoverability of its trade receivables and financial receivables.
This involves significant judgement and estimation as the ECLs
allowances must reflect information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future conditions.
BHRUFIAL S MEKFBHGEMBRRAEERN M
REBRKRBHRERBGEHALERY  TIERBEER
(TEPCHENKRER —BRAK - EHRWFIENTEREE
BiE(EREEBERD BEHREHEKREPHEMN KO
ERTEm a1 - EEEATHFEEEZIREFIELS
BEYGKIEMRIKEIEE - MEP RERAEH KRG RE
AREREEBEREARRARBESMH - B AT MAK
RBEARRIERIEE R -

Relevant disclosures are included in note 2.4 material
accounting policies — “impairment of financial assets”, note
2.5 significant accounting judgements and estimates —
estimation uncertainty — “Provision for expected credit losses
on trade receivables, financial receivables and contract
and note 21 “trade
receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.
HERBEHNGEEMBRRMI24ERGTER —[28E
ERE] - M2 5 ERG A HE R A — At T REE —T8
SHREYIE eREKRFEREHNEERREEEHERE] -
M 191 € BB WKIE | RMTsE21 B S REKGRIA] »

assets”, note 19 “financial receivables”,

Our procedures to assess the recoverability of trade
receivables and financial receivables included,
among others, obtaining confirmations of trade
receivables and financial receivables, examining
evidence of collection of trade receivables and
financial receivables after the year end, recalculating
the ageing analysis by customers, examining the
Group's assessment of the customers’ financial
circumstances and ability to repay the debt,
comparing the Group’s provisioning rates against
historical collection data, and considering the
customers’ historical payment habits along with other
macroeconomic information and other reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information.

F 5T E S RWGIA & & B W IR AT i =
BEEMETNREFB2EETRAMLE S ERIER
CREKRIENGSER RELEERRIWOES
JEW IR K & BB W RIE /G E - EMTERPA
EREDIT i SEEHXPHBNARMEE
BB NME LR EREENREREBER
EHE FRREPOXNBENMEMZELEER
AREMAEE BB KBEOREILEER

We also assessed ECLs allowances model and
checked the calculations.

EENCHEENEEERRE  AeEhMtE -

In addition, we evaluated the adequacy of the
disclosures regarding the ECLs allowances for trade
receivables and financial receivables.

o BEEENERE S RUIEN S BB K FHIE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 8 T

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
REETEE

FAREFTTEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEENEFTNNEEREETSER

Recognition and measurement of the contract revenue for service

IREGABE LR T B KWt R KT B

The Group engages in certain service concession
arrangements under the terms of Build-Operate-Transfer
("BOT") in which the Group carries out the construction work
of municipal infrastructure for certain governmental authorities
or their designees (the “Grantors”) and receives in return the
rights to operate municipal infrastructure concerned in
accordance with the pre-established conditions set by the
Grantors. The measurement of revenue for service concession
arrangements which is accounted for under IFRIC 12 Service
Concession Arrangements involves significant management
judgements and estimates including determination of
applicable accounting model, estimation of the future
guaranteed receipts, prevailing market rate of construction
gross margins, and discount rates as used in the valuation
process.

Rizgk — B — B ([BOT)MGR - EEEFIET
MG LR Bt EREREE TRARELEE
EHME (RTADBE LN GESETHRERREETER
TR IRETBRERRENSERIERSDE - RIEEERH
BRERBZESF 2RRBEFFLE LT ERBRETR
SRR BE S RERERBAG NG BRECER S
B AFAAKBERENKE RIOTMENTREENX LA
EBREPHAMEREX -

Relevant disclosures are included in note 2.4 material
accounting policies — “service concession arrangements”,
note 2.5 significant accounting judgements and estimates —
judgements — "accounting for service concession
arrangements” and “percentage of completion of construction
services”, note 4 “revenue” and note 19 “financial receivables”
to the consolidated financial statements.
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concession arrangements

We reviewed the contract terms of the service
concession arrangements and assessed the
accounting model adopted and the future
guaranteed receipts. We evaluated the competency
and objectivity of the external appraiser engaged by
management to assist the determination of the gross
margin for construction service and discount rates.
We also evaluated the basis and assumptions in the
valuation and performed a comparison of the inputs
used in the valuation against external market data. In
addition, we involved our internal valuation
specialists to assist us in evaluating the gross margin
for construction service and the discount rates. We
reviewed the methods and assumptions adopted by
management in determining the total budgeted
costs. We checked the relevant supporting
documents for actual costs on a sampling basis. We
also performed cut-off testing procedures to check
whether material costs had been recognised in the
appropriate accounting periods.

FEEERMMBEFRLE LS QERAL T A
RAEgtRARRKRRNBREBNEE - BEFFAHE
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AR - EREARAZRENAESHHMER

We also assessed the adequacy of the relevant
disclosures.

BEENHEEBRESSRD °
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B % AR

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 8 T

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Pang Sum Joe.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place,

979 King's Road,

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meREkEMEERER

Year ended 31 December2023 #Z T _=F+_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
=== —E=-—
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETRT ARETT
REVENUE g 4 2,216,381 2,896,589
Cost of sales SHEK AR (1,140,387) (1,627,942)
Gross profit EF 1,075,994 1,268,647
Other income and gains Hth A R iz 5 59,789 53,873
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HRAX (994) (936)
Administrative expenses THHRX (283,090) (274,125)
Other expenses H iR (43,397) (105,868)
Finance costs %ﬂéﬁX$ 7 (578,719) (566,214)
Share of profits and losses of: DIEA T AR EE
Associates /N 4,699 2,554
Joint ventures % (328) (3,590)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR %% A0 s 6 233,954 374,341
Income tax expense FriS % M X 10 (103,726) (134,379)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 130,228 239,962
Attributable to: T3 IE R
Owners of the parent HAREE A 11 124,753 235,679
Non-controlling interests SEFE AR = 5,475 4,283
130,228 239,962
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE B A REZERZHEAEBEER
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF Z#|
THE PARENT
Basic for profit for the year FEER T
(expressed in RMB per share) (AEBRARKRER) 11 5.83 cents? 11.01 cents 7
Diluted for profit for the year FE#EH N
(expressed in RMB per share) (AERARKRER) 11 5.83 cents? 11.01 cents 7

BERRERAR/ —E-_=FERE



84

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

EEEREMEEKRER

Year ended 31 December2023 #Z T _=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt E AR%TR ARETT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME H o 2 W i
Other comprehensive income that will HreREERRERT > BEEER
not be reclassified to profit or loss in Z H A 2 E A
subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at fair BERBRATEFAEMEE
value through other comprehensive W IRIERE -
income:
Changes in fair value NEEESY (16,000) 115,000
Income tax effect TS & 2,400 (17,250)
(13,600) 97,750
Net other comprehensive income that will TR EEZBREERHEEER
not be reclassified to profit or loss in 2 H Ath 2 a3 ER
subsequent periods (13,600) 97,750
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRARMEEKE - MERFIE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (13,600) 97,750
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREEBELE
FOR THE YEAR 116,628 337,712
Attributable to: —FEU%IEJ%TE :
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZ 2SN 111,153 333,429
Non-controlling interests #T P 2 5,475 4,283
116,628 337,712
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

2023 2022
—E=-= —=E=——
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETRT ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB LR 12 53,378 59,006
Investment properties WEME 11,083 11,218
Right-of-use assets PREEE 13 2,286 1,435
Investments in associates REEE RN RIIEE 14 234,577 381,131
Investments in joint ventures RELETCENKE 15 78,091 78,419
Service concession intangible assets BIVEE —FaFricEk 17 1,376,539 1,436,965
Other intangible assets HmEpEE 1,776 2,171
Goodwill HE 18 58,325 58,325
Financial receivables % FhE W FR A 19 9,512,959 9,244,530
Deferred tax assets REFRIBEEE 20 84,362 75,058
Prepayments, other receivables and FERNFRIA - EoAh R MORIE R E At
other assets BE 22 25,191 73,754
Contract assets GHEE 23 1,177,367 1,508,393
Total non-current assets FERBEELAE 12,615,934 12,930,405
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18,092 17,482
Contract assets GHEE 23 77,629 198,553
Equity investments designated BERRATEFTARMEE
at fair value through other W gs B IR I B
comprehensive income 16 347,000 363,000
Financial receivables T Rl e WK IR 19 2,079,291 1,961,955
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 21 2,808,513 2,436,439
Prepayments, other receivables and TEATRRIE ~ E R WGRIE &
other assets Hi & 22 903,826 674,372
Pledged deposits EIRFR 25 128,713 186,561
Cash and cash equivalents BeEMBESEEY 25 248,360 196,938
Other current financial assets HEthmEemEE 24 4 45
Total current assets MBEEMLE 6,611,428 6,035,345

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE
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2023 2022
—E-= —_EF_-—
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
=2 ARETRT AREFT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and bills payables B HRMNFIERENERE 26 2,013,332 2,260,221
Other payables and accruals HtERSRIERETER 27 177,286 257,076
Deferred income PR AE UL A = 1,930
Interest-bearing bank and FHEERTT R H A fE 5K
other borrowings 28 3,501,475 2,879,809
Tax payable FES 1A 79,356 59,403
Total current liabilities mE B EERE 5,771,449 5,458,439
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEETFE 839,979 576,906
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHABERABES
LIABILITIES 13,455,913 13,507,311
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Trade payables B 5 RN FHIA 26 201 59
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEIRIT REAMME R
borrowings 28 6,415,560 6,642,008
Other payables and accruals Hih R RIE R EFTE A 27 30,629 31,026
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEAE 20 1,159,491 1,093,610
Total non-current liabilities JEREN B EREE 7,605,881 7,766,703
Net assets BEFE 5,850,032 5,740,608
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners BRRER AELER
of the parent
Share capital A&7 29 17,125 17,125
Reserves s 30 5,694,664 5,586,310
5,711,789 5,603,435
Non-controlling interests eI S 138,243 137,173
Total equity R 5,850,032 5,740,608

Li Zhong

i

Director

EF

Duan Jerry Linnan
ER 4
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2B R

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ_-Z

=+ A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BAREAARE
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value
Share  through other Non-
Issued Share Merger Special option  comprehensive Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve income profits Total interests equity
&ATE
AR
2ERERN
BhE EHEE F2R
EES S R EE AHEE KHGRE % ATERE REER EH 5 BHEE
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARMTR  ARETT ARETn  AREBTT  ARMTR  ARETT  ARETn  ARETZ  ARETR
Asat 1 January 2022 RZZZZ%4-A-A 17,125 1,717,384 303,131 - 65,553 (217,600) 3294413 5,210,006 137,615 5407621
Profit for the year EREH = = = = = - 25619 235619 4283 239962
Other comprehensive income EREMZENE -
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity KERRATEALZE
investments designated at fairvalue ~ WEHREREATERE -
through other comprehensive BHA
income, net of tax - - - - - 97,750 - 97750 - 97,750
Total comprehensive income EREENGEE
for the year - - - - - 97,750 235619 33349 4283 37,712
Dividends paid tonon-controlling M- &FEERBR M 2 kS
shareholders = = = = = - - - (4.725) 4725)
Transfer to special reserve (2) BRERAIERN = - - 12810 - - (12810) - - -
Utilsation of special reserve (&) BREEHEER - - - (12.810) = = 12810 = = =
As at 31 December 2022 RZBZZF+-A=1-A 17125 1,717,384 393,131 - 65,553 (119,850 3,530,092¢ 5603435 131173 5,740,608
Asat 1 January 2023 RZF==%-A-A 17125 1,717,384 393,131 - 65,553 (119.850) 3530092 5,603,435 137173 5,740,608
Profit for the year EREN = - = - - - 124,753 124,753 5475 130,228
Other comprehensive income ERAMZENE -
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity EERRATEALMZE
investments designated at fairvalue ~ EHREREATERD
through other comprehensive BHA
income, net of tax - - - - - (13,600) - (13,600) - (13,600)
Total comprehensive income ERPENGEE
for the year - - - - - (13,600) 124,753 11,153 5475 116,628
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U SEF B R - - (2799) - - - - (2.799) (4,405) (7.204)
Transfer to special reserve (a) BREEHIRRER - - - 2,603 - - (2,603) - - -
Utiisation of special reserve (a) HERAIGE - - - (2,603) - - 2,603 - - -
As at 31 December 2023 R=E==f+-A=1-A 17125 1,117,384 390,332 B 65,553* (133450 3654845 571,789 138243 5,850,032

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB5,694,664,000 (31 i

December 2022: RMB5,586,310,000) in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

(a) The Group provided for and utilised the safety production expense fund according

ZERBEELEREEMBARAREAARY
5,694,664 0007 (ZE-ZZ4F+=-A=+—H: A

FR ¥ 5,586,310,000 7T ) B4R & &1

HtaE -

to the Circular on Printing and Distributing the Management Measures on the
Enterprises Production Safety Expense of Enterprises Appropriation and Utilisation
(2022 No.136) issued by the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Emergency

Management of the People’s Republic of China.

EERES -

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE

AEBRBEPEAREMNBEGS BB RESE RIS
HECEARD < ER2EEBRARDMERE
B 3 > B R AN ([2022]11365%) sHEFER L 24
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Year ended 31 December2023 #HE-_ZE-_=F+_-_A=+—IFE
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2023 2022
—=== —=E=——
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®BTR ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B H5 AT g ) 233,954 374,341
Adjustments for: AR THIRIE :
Finance costs BMERA 7 578,719 566,214
Foreign exchange differences, net INEZERE - JFRE 6 (510) 47,918
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBATAMERE 6 - 1,359
Share of profits and losses of associates DLt & R FINE & FEEn
and joint ventures (4,371) 1,036
Bank interest income ER1TH B UL A 5 (2,522) (3,560)
Interest income from loans to a third M—RE=FEFRBFBUWA
party 5 (20,087) (18,672)
Interest income from loans to an BA—XRKBEAAI R —REEDE
associate and a joint venture &GRSR N 5 (1,663) (840)
Investment income from other current HEMngemEEmEEIRA
financial assets (1) =
Dividend income from equity EERRATEFAEMEEY
investments designated at fair value w2 RERE R B A
through other comprehensive income 5 (9,602) =
Depreciation of property, plant and M BB REHITE
equipment 6,12 5,758 6,877
Depreciation of investment properties KEYEITE 6 135 876
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 6,13 1,172 283
Amortisation of service concession | EE — s e
intangible assets 6,17 87,244 77,654
Amortisation of other intangible assets H i & iy 6 395 406
Loss on disposal of an associate HE—REE R AINEE 14 5,781 -
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BFERRZHER S
plant and equipment 518 6 32 39
Impairment of financial receivables © B R W IR RE 6,19 829 67)
Impairment of contract assets EHEERE 6,23 (147) (547)
Impairment of prepayments, other TE T RRIE  Ho A R WURR TR R LA
receivables and other assets BEERE 6, 22 2,593 2,579
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W IE R E 6, 21 30,646 36,080
Loss for debt restructuring B EHERE 288 365
908,643 1,092,341



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

Year ended 31 December2023 #HE_ZE-_=F+_-_A=+—IFE

2023 2022
—=== St
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®BTR ARETT
Increase in inventories FEEM (610) (416)
Increase in financial receivables & 7b e I 0 (386,594) (242,183)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHEERD, () 459,326 (18,208)
Increase in trade receivables E 5 U FR IR IE N (402,720) (696,276)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TR RRIE ~ B EWORIE K&
other receivables and other assets Hab&E (3Em), md (24,846) 118,265
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills B S MR R ENEE
payables GRA),/ (220,391) 138,533
(Decrease)/increase in other payables H At A FRIE R FEEHE A
and accruals CRA),/ &0 (15,991) 15,858
Decrease in deferred income 5 JE U A Rk > (1,930) (7,027)
Cash generated from operations REPRERE 314,887 400,887
Interest received B UF B 2,830 3,511
Income taxes paid B HBFTSH (24,795) (35,989)
Net cash flows from operating activities &2 /B TSR &M= F58 292,922 368,409
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFHHERTRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property, EEWE BELREER
plant and equipment 12 (710) (456)
Additions to intangible assets NEEREE (60,406) (79,066)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME  BERZE
property, plant and equipment 15 B FTiS3KIE 548 140
Decrease in other current financial assets  ELth 7 B & g & 2= &k 42 28,386
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—KMEAA = (120)
Additions to investments in associates R R AR E N - (1,804)
Decrease in pledged deposits HARTF FOR D 57,848 147,309
Decrease in loans due from a third party B —XRE=FEF AL 16,500 20,000
Increase in loans due from an associate  JEW — F B = A &) & LN (11,208) (12,125)
Dividend income from equity investments #&7& &A1& AT EFT AL M2 HE K E
designated at fair value through other 2 RERE R B A
comprehensive income 9,602 -
Dividends received from an associate BE—REEARNERRE 588 =
Acquisition of a subsidiary W HE — KB A A = (282)
Net cash flows from investing activities KEEZHMERESREFHE 12,804 101,982

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE
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Year ended 31 December2023 #HE-_ZE-_=F+_-_A=+—IFE

2023 2022

—E-= =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M ARBTR ARBTRT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRAERERE

ACTIVITIES
Increase of interest-bearing bank and ST RERTT R HE M8 I N

other borrowings 5,308,853 5,482,560
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and  {E& 5t S #R1T R E M &5

other borrowings (5,071,877) (5,499,455)
Interest paid EARTAIE (478,947) (545,790)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U B FE 20 A R 2 (13,600) =
Principal portion of lease payments HEMNZARE LD (1,537) (344)
Net cash flows used in financing activites FE/EZETAR S REF5E (257,108) (563,029)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN RERREEEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #in,GRd) BEE 48,618 (92,638)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  F#RE kRS ZEY

of year 196,938 289,898
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [EXRE ST 2 /F 5

net 2,804 (322)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRREERASZEY

END OF YEAR 25 248,360 196,938

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December 2023

—E-=F+-A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Kangda International Environmental Company Limited (the
“"Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The registered address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 4 July 2014.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are engaged in the design, construction, operation
and maintenance of waste water treatment plants (the “WTPs"),
reclaimed water treatment plants (the "RWTPs"”), water
distribution plants (the “WDPs"), sludge treatment plants (the
"STPs”) and other municipal infrastructure in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC”, or Chinese Mainland, which
excludes for the purpose of this report, the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the PRC or Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the PRC or Macau, and Taiwan).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
the Company has no controlling shareholders.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as
follows:

1.

AAREBEHR
FREBBRIRRABR AR ([RAF]) R
EHEIMKIREREERAF R
A &) 5 i 3% 25 B2 b 41k & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° Z<
NEIRDR T —NFLANBEERD
BERZMERAR ([BERAM]) £k E
M o

ARBAR/—RREZBAR HMEA
AEFEARKNE (THEIKXPER
o RABREME  TEETEEER
AITRERKES - FEIRFISRITTRE
FBRFAREGE) LER EE 28
K& 5 KERIEm (D5kERIERR]) - F
HERERIER (THAKEER]) - #KER
(MK mR)) -~ BREE R (75 22
TR 1) B EL At T B LB AR A

ANFES(EFNRA AQFAE
PR AR 3R o

EBEMBELARNESR
BEARRBEENBARMFBERYIW
T

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
RNAER EmEL/ BRTEE/
BRERERMH dfMRE ALAREREEIE FEXREK
Direct Indirect
HE B
Kangda Environmental The BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding company
Protection Investment Limited
(RERRREBRAR)
RERRREARLA RBRAHE 1% 100 - REBRAAF
Kangda Investment (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding company
Company Limited
(FERE(BR)ERARA)
RERE (BE)BRAH BB 1AL - 100 REZRATF

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREEER @
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

FHEMERARNER (E)
BRARREENERBRFEEHSIM

92

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

follows: (Continued) T : (8&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARER HMERL/ BRTLE/
BEREELE HRA AAFDEERERSL TEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Kangyu Investment Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland 1S$200,000,000 = 100 Investment activities in Chinese
(RaREBRAR) Mainland
RAREERAR" E/ R E R 200,000,000% T - 100 ReERBESREED
Chongging Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,876,019,000 - 100  Investment in WTPs and
Protection Industry (Group) construction of municipal
Co., Ltd. ("Chongqing Kangda") infrastructure in Chinese
(EERERREX (EB)BRAF) Mainland
ERRERREX /RN N = 100 ZHREABRE
(EB)ERAR ([2ERE])" 1,876,019,0007C KRR R
BRMBER R
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB80,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RERRKEBBRAR) services in Chinese Mainland
FERRKEERAR /RN AR - 100 EHREABRRTKEERR
80,000,0007C RESKEEREL RS
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB63,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Shangqjiu) Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RERR (BEL)KBERDE) services in Chinese Mainland
FERR (L) KBERAR* /RN ARE = 100 EFREAMERTKEERR
63,000,000 7T REKERRES R
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB23,000,000 = 100 Provision of WTP operation
(Suzhou) Water Co., Ltd. services in Chinese Mainland
(BERR(EM) KBERAR)
FERR(EM) KBERAR* /RN ARE = 100 e Bl ARt
23,000,0007C AKEERES R
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e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREEER @)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EREMBARNER (8)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EEARTREENB AR FEHS
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARER HMERL/ BRTLE/
BEREELE HRA AAFDEERERSL TEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Guangrao Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB8,320,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EBRERRKBEERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
EERERRKBEERAR B/ RN ARE = 100 ZEREABERKEERR
8,320,0007T RS RE & 5
Harbin Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Investment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RRERERREEBRAR) services in Chinese Mainland
RRERERREREERAR" /RN AR = 100 ZEREABERKEERR
30,000,0007T R ERRE RS
Linying Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB6,000,000 - 100 Provision of WTP operation
Protection Water Co., Ltd. services in Chinese Mainland
(B TU&%M*HE a))*
ERRERRKBERD HE/FEA N - 100 EREARE
6,000,0007C AKEEREE R
Weifang Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB94,180,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BN RERRKBEBRAR)* services in Chinese Mainland
EGRERRKEERAR /RN ARE = 100 EHREAMERTKEERR
94,180,0007T REUTIKRIERE R R
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB17,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Gaomi) Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(FERR (R )E*Eﬁﬁﬁ[‘ﬁ _l)“* services in Chinese Mainland
FERR(R%) SKREBBAT /RN AR = 100 TEREABRRKEERR
17,000,000 7T REUIKRIERE R R
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APEIREEER @)

FHEMERARNER (E)
BRARREENERBRFEEHSIM

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

94

follows: (Continued)

™ (&)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARERB KL/ BRITER/
BRREXLE dftRE AAREEREAIL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
E# 5k
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB8,500,000 = 100  Provision of WTP operation
(Gaomi) Fengcheng Sewage services in Chinese Mainland
Treatment Co., Ltd.
(RERR (RE) BRLETKER
BRAR)
FERR(RE)BMLRE B/ E R AR - 100 EPERRE
AKEEERA R 8,500,0007¢ AKEEREE RS
Rushan Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB24,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
(FLREABBERAR) provision of WTP operation
services in Chinese Mainland
AIFEEKBRRAA* B/ E R AR - 100 EPERBERTKEERR
24,000,000 7T RADTKRERE 2 R
Shanggiu Kangda Sewage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,250,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BERESKEEBRAR)! services in Chinese Mainland
BERETKREERAR* RE/ R E R ARE - 100 EREAMRETKEERR
20,250,000 BT KRR RE 2 R
Haiyang Xingcun Kangda Water Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 19,490,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(BRAINREKBARAR) * provision of WTP operation
services in Chinese Mainland
BEITRNREKBEERAR* B/ E R ARE - 100 EPERBERTKEERR
19,490,007 RADTKRERE 2 R
Shanxian Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB26,500,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BREERRKBBRAR) services in Chinese Mainland
BERERRKBERAR E/ R AR - 100 EFREAMRERTKEERR
26,500,000 RADTKRERE 2 R

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAREEER®
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEMBARMNER (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EEARTREENB AR FEHS
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARERB R BRITEZE/
BRUREXMH dftRE AAREEREAIL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
i 5k
Kangda (Dongying) Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB163,263,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RE(RE)RIRKBBERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
FE (RE) BRKBARA A" E/ R E R ARE - 100 EFERBERTKERER
163,263,00070 KRR RE E R
Beijing Chang Sheng Si Yuan PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB150,000,000 - 100 Investment, management of
Environmental Protection environmental projects and
Technology Co., Ltd. public infrastructure projects
(ARREBRRRMBEBRAR) in Chinese Mainland
ERRERRERRZER AR RE/ R E R ARE - 100 EREAMRE  ERERR
150,000,0007C RARRAERRIEER
Yucheng Dongjiao Chengjian PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BRADHBESKREERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
BHRBMRTKREERR R E/ R E R AR - 100 EPERBERIKEERR
10,000,000 7 KRR MEE R
Puyang Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS50,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(ERRERRKBARAR) * services in Chinese Mainland
BEERERRKEERL A "/ HE R ARE - 100 EFREAMRETKEEER
50,000,007 AR ME S R
Liangshan Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(RLEEABER AR provision of WTP operation
services in Chinese Mainland
RIEEKBERRA RE/ R E R ARE - 100 EFREAMRETKEERR
1,000,000 72 AR ME S R
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

1.

APEIREEER @)

FHEMERARNER (E)
BRARREENERBRFEEHSIM

follows: (Continued) T : (8&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARER HMERL/ BRTLE/
BEREELE HRA AAFDEERERSL TEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Jining City Xinkangda Sewage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB64,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EEMEREKKERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
BEMEREKEERAR /RN ARE = 100 EFREAMRZETKEERR
64,000,000 7 REKERRE S R
Shen County Kangda Sewage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB121,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EBREkEERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
FEREKBERDA /RN AR = 100 R EAMRETKEERR
121,000,000 7 R ERRE S R
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB33,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Gaomi) Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RERR (BR)KBERDE) services in Chinese Mainland
FERR(RE)KBERDR* /RN AR - 100 EHREABRRTKEERR
33,000,0007T RESKEEREL RS
Zhengzhou Xinzhongzhou Water Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 100,300,000 = 100  Provision of WTP operation
(BMEFRMRBBBRAR)* services in Chinese Mainland
B MKBERA R /RN ARE = 100 EFRBABRESKEER
100,300,0007T BERH
Xuzhou Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BMEERRKBBRAR)* services in Chinese Mainland
BHNEERRKBEERA R /RN AR 20,000,007 = 100 EFREARBELKEERR

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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AEIREEER @)

FHMERRNELR (E)
BRARREEMNE QB FEERSIW

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NEER R BRITEZE/
BRREXLE dftRE AAREEREAIL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
i B
Tianjin Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB68,077,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RERERRKBERAA)* services in Chinese Mainland
RERERRKBERAR* E/ R E R AR 68,077,000 - 100 EFREIRSERTKERRR
REUIKRIERE R R
Chongging Fulunde Technology Co., Ltd.  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 - 100  Development and sale of
(EEAREREARAR) " computer software in Chinese
Mainland
EEHRENRARAR E/ R E R AR 20,000,000 7T - 100 EREIRE S EE
RHFRERHE
Suzhou Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB36,000,000 = 100  Provision of WTP operation
Protection Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. services in Chinese Mainland
(BHEERRSKREERAR)
BNRERRIKERBRAR /RN AR 36,000,000 - 100 ZEFREABRESKEER
B2 RK
Gaomi Kangda Lvyi Sludge PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB3,000,000 - 100 Construction and provision of
Treatment Co., Ltd. STP operation services in
(AERESE S RREARAR) Chinese Mainland
AERESESREEERAF R/ HE R AR 3,000,000 7T - 100 EHREAMERTREERR
RTREZESRE
Yunan Kangda Environment PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB62,000,000 = 100  Construction, operation and
Treatment Co., Ltd. maintenance of WTPs and
(BrEREREREARAR): * other environmental
protection projects in Chinese
Mainland
BERERRGEARAA e/ HEA AR 62,000,000 - 100 EFEIAMER EXRAE

AKRER R AMRRER

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE 97



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

APEIREEER @)

FHEMERARNER (E)
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

™ (&)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARERB KL/ BRITER/
BRREXLE dftRE AAREEREAIL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
E# 5k
Weihai Kangda Ecological PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 100,000,000 = 88 Construction, operation and
Environment Treatment Co., Ltd. maintenance of WTPs, STPs,
("Weihai Kangda") pipe networks and other
(BBRELERGRS municipal infrastructure in
RBERAR) Chinese Mainland
BBRELERAGARE e/ HEA AR#100,000,00070 - 88 ETEMNRER EERER
BRAR ([BERE] KRR TR ER -
ERRATRERRIE
Pingdingshan City Bay Water Treatment ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 - 80  Construction of WTPs and
Co., Ltd. ("Pingdingshan City Bay") provision of WTP operation
(PR EKBARAR) * services in Chinese Mainland
PR EEKEERAF] E/PERD AR 50,000,000 7T - 80 ETEMBRRTKEERL
(IFIEWLmEE])* RETKEEBRES R
Dongping Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland US$5,200,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(RTREABERAT) provision of WTP operation
services in Chinese Mainland
RYERKBERAA" E/PERD 5,200000% 7T - 100 EFEABRRSKEERL
RETKEEREZRH
Chongging Kangda Lvyi Energy PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 - 100 Investment in energy industry
Investment Co., Ltd. and provision of WTP
(EEREGERRRAGRAR) operation services in Chinese
Mainland
EERERBRRREARAR" HE/PER AR 50,000,0007C - 100 EREABRELRITER
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AAREEERN @
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEMBARMNER (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EEARTREENB AR FEHS
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARERB R BRITEZE/
BRUREXMH dftRE AAREEREAIL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
i 5k
Shanggiu Kangda Water PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BEREKEERRAR) services in Chinese Mainland
BEREKRBERAR e/ HERN AR 10,000,000 - 100 EPEAMERISKEERR
REUIKRIERE R R
Chongging Kangda Zhishang PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB70,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Environmental Protection Industry Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BEREZRRREXBRAA) services in Chinese Mainland
ERREEHBRRESBRAR R/ HE R AR 70,000,000 - 100 EFRERBERTKERRR
RV R RE R R
Xinzheng Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
(FBREKEERAR)* provision of WTP operation
services in Chinese Mainland
MEREKBRERLR E/RE R AR 1,000,000 - 100 EREADRZETKEERR
REIKRERE R R
Qishan County Dayuan Sewage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB3,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(LSRR KEEEREFEAR) services in Chinese Mainland
RIERRAKEERR E/ R E R AR 3,000,0007C - 100 EFERBERSKEERR
B REUTIKRIERE R R
Weifang Shuangjie Water Purification PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB8,000,000 - 100 Sale of water purifying materials
Material Co., Ltd. ("Weifang Shuangjie”) in Chinese Mainland
(RO BERAMERBRAR)
W BRI R RE/ R E R AR¥8,000,0007C - 100 EREIRMEEE Bk

BRDR ([ Ee])
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAREEER®
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) FEMBARMNER (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EEAARTREENBARMFEHRS
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NEER R BRITEZE/
BRREXLE dftRE AAREEREAIL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
i B
Dong'e County Kangda Sewage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB110,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(R ZEREKBERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
REREKBARAA hE/HEN AR 110,000,0007C - 100 EHERGERTKERRR
RETKERHE S RS
Liaocheng Jiaming Kangda PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB70,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(I ERRETKEEERAR) * services in Chinese Mainland
W ERRETKEERRD A E/ R E R AR70,000,000 7T - 100 R EAMRETKEERR
RETKERHE S RS
Linging City Kangda Sewage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB75,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RETREKEEARAR):* services in Chinese Mainland
BETRETKERERAR" R/ HE R AR 75,000,000 7T - 100 EFERMERTKEERR
RETKERHE S RS
Qitaihe Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 = 100  Construction and provision of
(tRAREKEBREARR)! WTP and RWTP operation
services and reclaimed water
treatment services in Chinese
Mainland
tEAREKBARAE AR GEVGE T AR 890,000,000 7T - 100 EFEABRREKEERR
BEKERRYRIES R
BREEREKEERS
Xinzheng Xinkang Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB60,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
(BFRAKBERRA)* provision of WTP operation
services in Chinese Mainland
HEHBEKBERA A HE/PER AR 60,0000007C - 100 EFERBRRTKEERL
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER @)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EREMBARNER (8)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EEARTREENB AR FEHS
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARER HMERL/ BRTLE/
BEREELE HRA AAFDEERERSL TEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB15,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Linyi) Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BERR () KBERDE) services in Chinese Mainland
FERR (B kBERAR* B/ RN AR #15,000,0007 = 100 ZEREABERKEERR
RS RE & 5
Fengxian Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
the second Sewage treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BERERREZSKEEERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
LERERRETKER /RN AR 20,000,007 = 100 ZEREABERKEERR
BR AR R ERRE RS
Jining Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EERERRKEERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
BERERRKEERAR /RN AR #25,000,0007C = 100 EFREAMERTKEERR

RATKEEREE R

Haiyang Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB6,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BBRERRKBRBAR)* services in Chinese Mainland

BERERRKEERAA E/ R E R AR 6,000,0007C - 100 AFERBRRTKEERK

BRI K B R E R

Wendeng Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(XBRERRKBEBRAR)* services in Chinese Mainland

NERERRKBERAA" /RN AR 10,000,000 = 100 TEREABRRKEERR

AR R RE 2 R
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

102
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follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARERB R BRITER/
BRREXLE dftRE AAREEREAIL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
E# 5k
Weifang Binhai Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,500,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(A BBRERRABERAR) * services in Chinese Mainland
B RERERRKBARAR* RE/ R E R AR10,500,000 7T - 100 EFREAMRZETKEERR
RETKERHE S RS
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,500,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Hebi) Water Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
("Hebi Kangda") services in Chinese Mainland
(RERR (BE) KRBERAR)
FERR (BE)KEEERRA RE/ R E R AR%5,500,0007 - 100 EFREAMRETKEEER
(EEmE]) REUIK B RE S R
Pingdingshan Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 10,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(FELRERRKBEARAR):* services in Chinese Mainland
FRIIRERRKBER AR R/ HE R A& #10,000,0007C - 100 EREAMRETKEERR
RETIKRERE S R
Huadian Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BRRERRKBEBRAR)! services in Chinese Mainland
BEARERRKBERAR* RE/ R E R AR 10,000,000 - 100 EPERBERSKEERR
REUTIK R RE S R
Suihua Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB52,700,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(B RERRKBBRAR)* services in Chinese Mainland
B RERRKBERAR* E/ R E R AE#52,700,0007 - 100 B AR KEERR

RATKEERE 2 R
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAREEER®
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEMBARMNER (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EEARTREENB AR FEHS
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARERB R BRITEZE/
BRREXLE dftRE AAREEREAIL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
i 5k
Jixi County Chengjian Sewage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB8,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BEFHRKBEERRA)* services in Chinese Mainland
BERRRTKREERAR" E/ R E R AR 28,000,000 - 100 EFREIRSERTKERRR
REUIKRIERE R R
Dacheng Chengjian Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB9,600,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(REEARRRTKREARAR) services in Chinese Mainland
ABEHERRSKEEER A E/ R E R AR%9,600,0007T - 100 EFRERBERTKERRR
RV R RE R R
Jiyuan City Yuchuan Chengjian PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(ERTEIHRSKEEERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
ERT ) MBS KERERAR /RN AR 30,000,000 - 100 EFREAMERTKEERR
REIKRERE R R
Dandong Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB27,800,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BREERRKBARAR):* services in Chinese Mainland
AREERRKBERAR" E/PER ARH27,8000007C - 100 EPERBRRTKEERR
RETKERHE S RS
Sanmenxia Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
(ZMREEKBBRAR) provision of WTP operation
services in Chinese Mainland
=MBREEKBARAA e/ HEAN AR 810,000,000 - 100 EHERGERTKERRR

AR R RE 2 R
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NEER R BRITEZE/
BRREXLE dftRE AAREEREAIL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
i B
Tianjin Kangda Lvyi Sludge PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 - 100 Construction of STPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of STP operation
(REREZEIREEBRAR) services in Chinese Mainland
REREGE REEERAR R/ HE R AR #2,000,0007C - 100 EFREAMERTREERR
RETREEME S RE
Jiaoling Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB56,172,000 = 97  Construction, operation and
Governance Co., Ltd. maintenance of WTPs and
("Jiaoling Kangda") other environmental
(BEERERRREBRAR) protection projects in Chinese
Mainland
EERERRBABERAA e/ hEA AR 856,172,000 - 9 ETERBER EER4E
(IBERE])* AKEERREMIRRER
Wenzhou Chuangyuan Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB168,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
("Wenzhou Chuangyuan"”) provision of WTP operation
(Mg J/J?ﬁﬁ%ﬁ E At services in Chinese Mainland
BMPERKBERA e/ HEA AR #168,000,00070 - 100 EFEABRRFKEERR
(DRMEVR])* RETKERRE S RS
Meiling Environmental Technology PRC/Chinese Mainland SGD3,780,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Zibo) Co., Ltd. ("Meiling Zibo") provision of WTP operation
(RBEREMRCSE) BRAF) services in Chinese Mainland
XEREMBOHB) BRAA GEVGE T 3,780,000 1K T - 100 EFEABRREKEERR
(TmEE])" RETKEEBRES R
Jining Meiling Sewage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Purification Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EEx x?’?ﬁg‘ftﬁ Eﬂ_ )i services in Chinese Mainland
BEERKFCERA e/ hEAL AR 85,000,000 - 100 ERERBERSTKERRR
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

™: (&

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NEER FMARL/ BRITEZE/
BRREXLE dftkA ARREGRERSL ETEXE
Direct Indirect
i B
Qingzhou Meiling Sewage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Purification Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BMTERAKFEARAR):* services in Chinese Mainland
EMTEREAKHEERR A" L/ HE R AR%5,000,0007T - 100 EFREIRSERTKERRR
REUIKRIERE R R
Sichuan Weiyuan Hefeng PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB45,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Bioengineering Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(M) FEREENTRERAR) services in Chinese Mainland
MIBEREEMIRERAA* R/ HE R AR 45,000,000 7T - 100 ZEREABERKEERR
RV R RE R R
Taiyuan Kangjin Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 194,450,000 = 99.44  Construction of WTPs and
(RRRBKBBRAF) provision of WTP operation
services in Chinese Mainland
REREKBEERDA VT AR #194,450,00070 - 944 ERERBERTKEERK
REIKRERE R R
Weiyuan Kangda Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB38,496,000 = 95 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(FERERRABBAF) services in Chinese Mainland
RERERRERAR hE/hEN AR 38,496,000 - % EPENMERSTKERRR

AR R RE 2 R
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1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as
follows: (Continued)

# The English names of these companies referred to in this report represent
management'’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of the companies
registered in Chinese Mainland, as no English names have been registered.

2 Kangyu Investment Co., Ltd. and Meiling Environmental Technology (Zibo)
Co., Ltd. are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

* These companies are registered as limited liability companies under PRC
law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

1.

APEIREEER @)

A B 2 AR ()
BEALDTEEHBAANERTIN
T ()

H A E AP B A 3 1T A0 2 D A T 2
B ARERBOZEARNRAXEEDE
BEEENBEETXERMAE -

FRRERR AR RERREMROLE)E
RABDRBEHEAZEMAIEBEDEE -

ZERADREHEEEAMAERELE

AR -

EEZRBLERMIARBMBAREE
FEAFERASAKAEEEEFE
MEERD - EFRBRINHEMKER
ANFBEEEHEBNITE -
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 21 RREE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") (which
include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for equity investments designed at fair
value through other comprehensive income which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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E RN EF AR I E
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BHREAARE AR 25 AR
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B TRIE

REEE

ARG BRREEBEAKREEE_ZT
—E=EFFTZR=T-HIEFENHBR
el il NCIDER/NCIN-§ -k g
MER(EEEBIEER) - EAKER
SEPREHRNEH T A LA EER
AEpR - B NBREHREHRT
EEHEN (AR T AKEEREERIRE
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(O] $ By - BT 12 4 o
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities and any non-
controlling interest; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for

the first time for the current year’'s consolidated financial

statements.

Amendments to |AS 1

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that are

applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note 2.4 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation of
any items in the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group's approach and
policy align with the amendments, the amendments had no
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@)

Amendments to |AS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it
no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments did not have any
significant impact on the financial position of the Group as
at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 or its
consolidated financial performance for the year ended 31
December 2022. The Group has adopted the amendments
on temporary differences related to leases from 1 January
2023.

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities
to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is
effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group
has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the
Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to the
Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that have

been issued but are not yet effective, in the consolidated financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)’
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”)’
Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements'
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 B BB R A& Y B BR Bt

112

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 B EM{E ) R & A B BR Bt

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a
right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early
application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments and whether existing loan
agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on
an entity's liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall
estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures
of information that enable users of financial statements to
understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in
a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date
of initial application. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other case, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or
joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level3 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy
by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets,
investment properties, and non-current assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it
can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

— = —

=

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

=#+=-_A=+—H

family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of

the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);

and
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:
Buildings and other infrastructure 3.13%-4.50%

6.67%-18.00%
9.50%-18.00%

Machinery
Office equipment and others

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)
An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use asset) held to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of such properties to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rate used for this
purpose is as follows:

Buildings 4.50%

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 10 years.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis
over the commercial lives of the underlying products not
exceeding five to seven years, commencing from the date when
the products are put into commercial production.
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Operating concessions EESTrE
For details of the accounting policy of operating concessions, EREERITENGHAREFE  F2

please refer to “Service concession arrangements” below.

Operating contract rights

Operating contract rights represent the fair value of operating
rights of WTPs or RWTPs acquired through business combination.
These intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line basis
over the remaining period of the operating contract rights.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:
Land 19 years
Office 2 to 5years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of
a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office properties (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office properties
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other
income and gains in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income due to its nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as other income and
gains in the period in which they are earned.

Service concession arrangements

The Group has entered into a number of service concession
arrangements with the Grantors. The service concession
arrangements consist of Build-Operate-Transfer (the "BOT")
arrangements and Transfer-Operate-Transfer (the “TOT")
arrangements. Under the BOT arrangements, the Group carries
out construction work of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure for the Grantors and receives in return
the rights to operate the service project concerned for a specified
period of time (the "operation period”) in accordance with the
pre-established conditions set by the Grantors, and the service
project should be transferred to the Grantors with nil
consideration at the end of the operation period. A TOT
arrangement is similar to a BOT arrangement, except that the
Group pays consideration for the rights to operate the WTPs,
RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure that have
been built.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Service concession arrangements (Continued)
Consideration given by the Grantors

A financial asset (financial receivable) is recognised to the extent
that the Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or
another financial asset from or at the direction of the Grantors for
the construction services rendered and/or the consideration paid
and payable by the Group for the rights to operate WTPs, and
the Grantors have little, if any, discretion to avoid payment,
usually because the agreements are enforceable by law. The
Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or another
financial asset if nothing other than the passage of time is
required before payment of the consideration is due and the
Grantors contractually guarantee to pay the Group specified or
determinable amounts even if the payment is contingent on the
Group ensuring that the infrastructure meets specified quality of
efficiency requirements. The financial asset (financial receivable)
is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out for
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) under
“Investments and other financial assets” below.

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to the
extent that the Group receives the rights to charge users of
public service or the grantors remunerate the Group on the basis
of the extent of use of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure by users, but with no guarantees as to
the amounts that will be paid to the Group, which is not an
unconditional right to receive cash because the amounts are
contingent on the extent that the public use the service. The
intangible asset (operating concession) is accounted for in
accordance with the policy set out for “intangible assets” above,
which is amortised on a straight-line basis over the terms of
operation ranging from 25 to 30 years.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a
financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, then each
component of the consideration is accounted for separately and
is recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Service concession arrangements (Continued)
Construction or upgrade services

Costs relating to construction or upgrade services comprise
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads. Revenue from the construction or upgrade services
under the BOT agreements is estimated on a cost-plus basis with
reference to the prevailing market rate of gross margin at the
date of the agreement applicable to similar construction services
rendered in similar locations, and is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of
the relevant contract.

Operating services

Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for in
accordance with the policy for “Revenue recognition” below.
Costs for operating services are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are
not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment
only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair
value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e.,
statement of financial position) when:

removed from the Group’s consolidated

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SREERE (&)

General approach (Continued) —RAER (&)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit RERELE  AEETHEERRB
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since %7] RERAREEEE LA - E/\\ﬁ fly
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group AEEerRem I ANKRERH
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial ?"ELWE’]H@E@ BT ARYHBER
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default HERSEZE AR R o (EH TR - K

occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The various group companies have different credit policies
depending on the requirements of their markets in which they
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operate and the businesses they engage in. However, in certain KfE o A EETERT @ A
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in FINBERETR - st RASEFEN
default when internal or external information indicates that the FA{EER AT IERT $%.Tﬁ7

Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts BB REESHFIE - BIAEE TR

in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.
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which the loss allowance is measured at an amount EHREER12EAEREE
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Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased FoPEER BYIRERUAREERRZE
significantly since initial recognition but that are not EZFAETBRRIEEER
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss ERNERMEEZEMIT AR
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ZERBEN S HEREE
ECLs BB EERBED

SRTHE
Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the B N BHEEEERED

reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant
financing component and lease receivables, the Group chooses
as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Financial liabilities (Continued) cRBaEE)
Subsequent measurement (Continued) H#HE (&)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings) (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at
the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general policy for provisions above; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
amount of income recognised in accordance with the policy for
revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the year, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary

differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any

unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the

extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available

against which the deductible temporary differences, and the

carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be

utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets
and released to the profit or loss over the expected useful lives of
the relevant assets by equal annual instalments.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Revenue recognition W 25 B R
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHKE

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

BOT arrangements

Revenue from the construction services under the BOT
agreements is estimated on a cost-plus basis with reference
to the prevailing market rate of gross margin at the date of
the agreement applicable to similar construction services
rendered in similar locations, and is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated
total cost of the relevant contract.

EPC arrangements

Revenue from the provision of construction services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The input method recognises revenue based on
the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction
services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved. The Group uses the expected value
method to estimate the amounts of claims because this
method best predicts the amount of variable consideration
to which the Group will be entitled.

Provision of operation services

Revenue from the provision of operation services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Revenue recognition (Continued) Wy 25w R (48)

Other income H b W

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the & Y% B IR R [ L B pA 10 & HA e A 7
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an R o WIFEUR R — I Bisk b iy A &

index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of
which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
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measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they ZERERE 2 ANATETE -2 F
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer BRI ER SR A ZHAREEE o

using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed
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as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of equity ER&REETHRENRATAZKE L
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance BIEMETRE D TIE - MIBERIGHE
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any BTYBEHATES KRB - XIERZRKH

other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme. The employer contributions vest fully once made.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
"MPF Scheme"”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.

Housing fund and other social insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security contribution
schemes for its employees pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC. These include a housing fund, basic
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, injury insurance and
maternity insurance. The Group makes monthly contributions to
the housing fund and other social insurances. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis. The Group has
no further obligations beyond the contributions made.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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Dividends g
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are RARBLRRAERRASG L8 ER
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. AlRARE-

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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B R EE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the year. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of
the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

As at the end of the year, the assets and liabilities of the entities
whose functional currencies differ from the presentation currency
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and the consolidated statements of
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 2.5 EXRESTTHE R A

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
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those involving estimations, which have the most significant MBERETERNCELEZEANS
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: BT
Revenue from contracts with customers EFERNWE

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue
from contracts with customers:
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

Accounting for service concession arrangements

The Group engages in certain service concession
arrangements in which the Group carries out construction
work of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal
infrastructure for the Grantors and receives in return the
rights to operate the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure concerned in accordance with the
pre-established conditions set by the Grantors. In
accordance with IFRIC 12 Service Concession
Arrangements, the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure under the service concession
arrangements may be classified as intangible assets or
financial assets. The WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure are classified as intangible assets if
the Group receives a right (a licence) to charge users of the
public service or if the Grantors remunerate the Group on
the basis of the extent of use of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs,
STPs or other municipal infrastructure by users, but with no
guarantees as to the amounts that will be paid to the
Group. Whenever only part of the investment by the Group
under these service concession arrangements is covered by
a payment commitment from the Grantors, it is recognised
as a financial receivable up to the amount guaranteed by
the Grantors, and as an intangible asset for the balance.
The Group recognises a financial receivable if it has an
unconditional contractual right under the service
concession arrangements to receive a determinable amount
of payments during the concession period irrespective of
the usage of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

Accounting for service concession arrangements
(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial receivable is
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Revenue from the construction service under the terms of
service concession arrangements is estimated on a cost-
plus basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of
gross margin at the date of agreement applicable to similar
construction services rendered in similar locations, and is
recognised on the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the proportion of costs incurred
to date to the estimated total cost of the relevant contract.

When the Group receives a payment during the concession
period, it will apportion such payment among (i) a
repayment of the financial receivables (if any), which will be
used to reduce the carrying amount of the financial
receivables on the statement of financial position, (ii)
interest income, which will be recognised as revenue in
profit or loss and (iii) revenue from operating and
maintaining the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure in profit or loss.

Judgement is also exercised in determining the fair value of
the financial receivables. Discount rates, estimates of future
cash flows and other factors are used in the valuation
process.

2.5 EXGE I E R MA@

H i (&)
EFEEHWE(B)

(i)

R RE LR E BT ()

EMHERRE  rBEKKEAEE
RERMEE LB HRAGE -

RIEFHALLELZHERTHNER
R TI2EBRRHHE B
EREUHREHBEUZRRBER
TS EME - RRAIAKE
EbEF YREBRTANE(2E
ESHEEKRAERBE QMGG
AR HIETE) 7R

AN £ B A RF ETAS E BRI B BOE
B 28R EIEE()EE
& EL U R IE (InE) - AL
B IS AR R & R W SR IE M BR
B i)FlBERA (BRIEEERE
Was) K (i) /5 7K B2 B MR~ B AEOK
BR BB R - BEOK R - 05 R BE B R sk
Hah MR ERREES R EEK

@ (MR R -

EEEEBEYRRANRFER
TREEL HE - TR E - AEHR
XEEeREREMBEAZENHE
BIZHEM -

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE

149



150

2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)  Accounting for EPC arrangements
The Group seeks to collect claims from the customers as
reimbursement of costs and margins for scope of works not
included in the original construction contract, which give
rise to variable consideration. The Group determined that
the expected value method is the appropriate method to
use in estimating the variable consideration for claims in
construction services, given there is a wide range of
possible outcomes which are subject to negotiations with
third parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, current
negotiations with customers, profitability of the head
contracts of the customers and the current economic
conditions.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends from
certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax jurisdictions is
subject to judgement on the timing of the payment of the
dividends or on whether certain subsidiaries of the Group are
determined to be Chinese resident enterprises by the PRC
governing tax authorities in the future. Management considered
that it is not probable that the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC
will distribute retained profits as at the end of the year in the
foreseeable future, and accordingly no additional provision for
withholding tax was made. Where the final outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally rewarded, the
difference will impact the deferred tax provision in the period in
which the difference arises.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 25 ERETTHE R ()

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the year, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment, the Group periodically reviews
the changes in market conditions, expected physical wear and
tear, and the maintenance of the asset. The estimation of the
useful life of the asset is based on historical experience of the
Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Depreciation amount will be adjusted if the estimated useful lives
and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment are different from previous estimation. Useful lives
and residual values are reviewed, at the end of the year, based
on changes in circumstances.

Current income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and Chinese
Mainland. Estimation is required in determining the provision for
taxation. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally recorded, the differences
will impact on the current income tax and deferred income tax in
the periods in which the differences arise. Deferred tax assets
relating to certain temporary differences or unused tax losses are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or the unused losses can be utilised.

The realisation of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise,
which will be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such a reversal takes place. Details of deferred tax assets are
contained in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Percentage of completion of construction services

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage of
completion of individual contracts of construction works, which
requires estimation to be made by management. The stage of
completion is estimated by reference to the actual costs incurred
over the total budgeted costs. Due to the nature of the activity
undertaken in construction works, the date on which the activity
commences and the date on which the activity completes usually
fall into different accounting periods. Hence, the Group reviews
and revises the percentage of completion of construction works.
Where the actual contract revenue is less than expected or actual
contract costs are more than expected, a foreseeable loss may
arise.

Estimation of total budgeted costs and cost to completion for
construction services

Total budgeted costs for construction contracts comprise (i)
direct material costs and direct labour, (i) costs of subcontracting,
and (iii) an appropriation of variable and fixed construction
overheads. In estimating the total budgeted costs for
construction contracts, management refers to information such
as (i) current offers from sub-contractors and suppliers, (i) recent
offers agreed with sub-contractors and suppliers, and (iii)
professional estimation on material costs, labour costs and other
costs.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
financial receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables, financial receivables and contract assets. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geography, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in
the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 25 ERETTHE R ()

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) fhat AR E M (8)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables, BEZRWFIE eRERRERENE
financial receivables and contract assets (Continued) ERBEEEHERE (E)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's financial receivables, trade receivables and contract
assets is disclosed in note 19, note 21 and note 23 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Financial receivables

Estimation is exercised in determining the fair values of the
financial receivables at initial recognition. These fair values are
computed on the discounted cash flow method using a discount
rate based upon the market-related rate for a similar instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. The assumptions and
estimates used can materially affect the fair values of the financial
receivables.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further
details are given in note 18.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other
times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of
the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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3.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group's operating businesses
are structured and managed separately according to their nature.
Each of the Group's operating segments represents a strategic
business unit that provides services which are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of the other operating
segments. Summary details of the operating segments are as
follows:

(@) the segment of Urban Water Treatment engages in the
design, construction, upgrade and operation of WTPs,
RWTPs, STPs and WDPs, and in the operation and
maintenance of waste water treatment facilities entrusted
by governments (“O&M");

(b) the segment of Water Environment Comprehensive
Remediation engages in river harnessing and improvement,
foul water body treatment, and sponge city construction;
and

() the segment of Rural Water Improvement engages in the
construction and operation related to “the Water
Environment Facilities of Beautiful Village” such as: waste
water treatment facilities and pipeline construction for
collecting waste water so as to achieve rural living
environment improvement.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on the reportable segment
results, which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax except that unallocated income and
gains, finance costs as well as corporate and other unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities mainly comprise operating assets
and liabilities that are directly attributable to the segment or can
be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.

Segment assets exclude investment properties, unallocated
intangible assets, unallocated deferred tax assets, unallocated
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, unallocated
pledged deposits, unallocated cash and cash equivalents,
unallocated investments in associates and a joint venture and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities, and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

EREAK °
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I8 o
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e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE=-=F+=-F=+—H
3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. RETHER )
(Continued)
Water
B2 Environment
ZB-=FtZR=t-H Urban Water Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2023 LEE Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
KR o
WEK RERE ERRE |5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue A E
Sales to external customers NE P E 2,123,024 43,438 49,919 2,216,381
Total segment revenue DB 2,123,024 43,438 49,919 2,216,381
Segment results PHEE 512,121 (16,281) (11,119) 484,721
Reconciliation: # -
Unallocated income and gains APBEWA Rz 18,615
Share of profits and losses of MERDEHERANER
unallocated associates 3,777
Share of profit and loss of an ME—EARPRAELENER
unallocated joint venture (42)
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMRDPERX
expenses (56,902)
Unallocated lease-related finance costs K 2 Bl 1AL E B A (156)
Unallocated finance costs (other than KA B R EK A
interest on lease liabilities) (REEEFEHRM) (216,059)
Profit before tax BR AR A 233,954
Segment assets IHEE 16,511,177 1,253,543 636,810 18,401,530
Reconciliation: i -
Corporate and other unallocated assets ¥R HMA SR EE 825,832
Total assets BEE 19,227,362
Segment liabilities PHEE 12,473,546 489,654 362,094 13,325,294
Reconciliation: ik -
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMKRAEEE
liabilities 52,036
Total liabilities BER 13,377,330
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3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. REoHERM®W
(Continued)
Water
S Environment
ZB-=FtZR=t-H Urban Water Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2023 LEE Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
KEBH B
WEKE RERE BKRE At
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Other segment information HitHBER
Investments in associates REERRINRE - 234,258 - 234,258
Unallocated investments in associates ~ IEf & AR A DAL IR E 319
Investment in a joint venture R—RaEhENRE 69,656 - - 69,656
Unallocated investment in a joint venture R—RA &t ER R P B E 8,435
Share of profits and losses of associates 7% & A AR B2 - 922 - 922
Share of profits and losses of unallocated 7 2 Ac B & 1\ A1 M 1B 2
associates 3,777
Share of profit and loss of a joint venture 215~ XA & ERBR (286) = = (286)
Share of profit and loss of an unallocated A — X AN B A E L ERER
joint venture (42)
Impairment losses recognised in profit or BB HERR AR A E 15 &7
loss, net* (31,690) (2,231) - (33,921)
Depreciation and amortisation nEREH 65,837 18 25,046 90,901
Unallocated depreciation and ROBHEREH
amortisation 3,803
Total depreciation and amortisation ~ #T& R B 545 94,704
Capital expenditure BRAR 15,497 - 19,256 34,753
Unallocated amounts KPEeH 8
Total capital expenditure* ErNabdotal 34,761
i Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment e BARZBEFEME - BB RREARR
and service concession contract assets. ﬁ%gtl:rz\%%é\ #\Jﬁé S
& The impairment losses recognised in profit or loss consists of the impairment G REZEINHREGERESESREKRRIEA
of financial receivables, the impairment of contract assets, the impairment of BE - aHNEERE 85 RKFIERER
trade receivables and the impairment of other receivables. H h FE W GRIE R ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M A

31 December 2023

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. REFHER @
(Continued)
Water
HE Environment
“E--F+-R=1-H Urban Water ~ Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2022 IL5E Treatment Remediation  Improvement Total
KRE i)
KT RARE EIKAE A&
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT ARETTT ARET T
Segment revenue A E
Sales to external customers MM BEPHE 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Total segment revenue AE B 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Segment results PHEE 558,915 24,161 (4,809) 578,267
Reconciliation: R
Unallocated income and gains APBEWA Rz 9,728
Share of profits and losses of MERDEHERANER
unallocated associates 1,363
Share of profit and loss of an PME—ZARPRAELENER
unallocated joint venture (1,060)
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMRPERX
expenses (45,594)
Unallocated lease-related finance costs K2 Bl 1AL E B A (108)
Unallocated finance costs (other AOMBEKA
than interest on lease liabilities) (REAREMERIN (168,255)
Profit before tax B0 A 374,341
Segment assets IHEE 16,067,718 1,422,044 673,140 18,162,902
Reconciliation: ik -
Corporate and other unallocated assets ¥R HMASBEE 802,848
Total assets BEE 18,965,750
Segment liabilities FHEE 12,061,589 522,441 515,810 13,099,840
Reconciliation: ik -
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMADIEAE
liabilities 125,302
Total liabilities BER 13,225,142
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31 December2023 —E-—=F+=-HA=+—H

3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. RETER @)
(Continued)
Water
BHE Environment
T+ A=1—-H Urban Water ~ Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2022 IL5E Treatment Remediation  Improvement Total
KR i
BT FERE KRR Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Other segment information HitHBER
Investments in associates N A=UNEI: 0 = 233,924 = 233,924
Unallocated investments in associates ~ REEE A RN K2 R E 147,207
Investment in a joint venture R-REECENRE 69,942 - - 69,942
Unallocated investment in a joint venture R—RA &t ER R P BHRE 8,477
Share of profits and losses of associates 7% & A AR B2 = 1,191 = 1,191
Share of profits and losses of unallocated 71 F 2 Al B & 1\ A1 M 1B 2
associates 1,363
Share of profit and loss of a joint venture A 15— XA & £RBR (2,530) = = (2,530)
Share of profit and loss of an unallocated A — X AN EA ELERER
joint venture (1,060)
Impairment losses recognised in profit  PEZER AR EE B FE’
or loss, net* (29,753) (8,292) = (38,045)
Depreciation and amortisation rEREE 65,814 2 16,212 82,048
Unallocated depreciation and AOEIFEREH
amortisation 4,048
Total depreciation and amortisation WERZHEES 86,096
Capital expenditure BRRZ 110,835 = 34,851 145,686
Unallocated amounts APEeH 39
Total capital expenditure* EvNardtal 145,725
i Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment * BARZBEFEME - BB RREARR

and service concession contract assets. BRIEEENEE -

g RNERERHREBESESBERNA
WE AHNEERE B 5RBKHIERER
H A eI RE

The impairment losses recognised in profit or loss consists of the impairment
of financial receivables, the impairment of contract assets, the impairment of
trade receivables and the impairment of other receivables.
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3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

3. BEHFER @)

i E & ¥
(a) HEBEFEUE

2023 2022
—E_=F —_E-—
RMB’000 RMB‘000
ARET T ARET T
Chinese Mainland R A 2,216,381 2,896,589

The revenue information above is based on the locations of
the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

bl BB T ER TP R E

(b) FRBEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Chinese Mainland A B (A i 12,531,572 12,855,347

All the non-current assets are located in Chinese Mainland.
The non-current asset information above excludes deferred
tax assets.

FBIERESEEDNNHE R -
LA RBDEENEH T RER

ERBEE °

REREBRBRRERAR/ _E_=FERE
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3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. RESIER®
(Continued)
Information about major customers BTEEFERNER
The revenue derived from the Group's two largest customers REA - AEBMAE P EENHKE
during the year is as follows: N
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-_=F+=-A=+—HLFE

Urban Water

Treatment Total
I SE K 7 &5t
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR T
Customer A BEA 152,322 152,322
Customer C ®PC 134,881 134,881
287,203 287,203
Year ended 31 December 2022 BHE_Z_-_—_F+_A=+—HIFE
Urban Water
Treatment Total
SR IK 75 =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Customer B =FB 356,209 356,209
Customer C EFC 186,917 186,917
543,126 543,126
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4.

—E-=F+-A=+—H

REVENUE

The Group has entered into a number of service concession
arrangements with the Grantors on a BOT or a TOT basis in
respect of its WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal
infrastructure. These service concession arrangements generally
involve the Group as an operator in (i) constructing WTPs, RWTPs,
WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure for those
arrangements on a BOT basis; (ii) paying a specific amount for
those arrangements on a TOT basis; and (iii) operating WTPs,
RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure on behalf
of the Grantors for periods ranging from 17 to 30 years (the
“Service Concession Periods”), and the Group will be paid for its
services over the Service Concession Periods at prices stipulated
through a pricing mechanism.

The Group carries out construction works of other municipal
infrastructure under EPC arrangements and agrees with EPC
customers to enter into a settled agreement for the construction
work during the construction.

Revenue represents: (i) an appropriate proportion of contract
revenue from construction contracts under BOT arrangements,
EPC arrangements and other construction service projects, net of
tax and government surcharges; (ii) revenue from operation of
WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure
under BOT arrangements and TOT arrangements and the
provision of Operation and Maintenance services; and (iii)
financial income from service concession arrangements. The
amounts of each of the significant categories of revenue during
the year are as follows:

W &=
$EIE?JE§§7KJEI¥W‘E$7J<&EI§

ORI~ 55 Y IR B R sk H fh T B
**‘“mLABOT&TOTEﬁEﬁi#%AJ
VEERBFTECELHE ZERBE
.%‘H&W%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ%lfﬁ%%&%%
(VABOT AR B R E L HEER 5 /KEIE
R BAKEER - #HKEK - 5RERE
iR B8 L A TR BRERE R ¢ (i) BATOT A =
MZELHIRNIEBESE  R(i)R17
E30FMHARA ([ REFTEZHE D
REE T AL SKEER - BEKE
B~ KR 05 R BE B R sk E T I
AR MAEEBRREETLE
HM M AR S iR mBE BRI REMNE
TEIELS TRBN o

$E.$ETJ% EPC &2 HE 3 17 H fib T BUE
RMEHERTIRE  TRER HﬁFEﬁEEiEPC
HPEEMRIVER I ENEE HE -

Wzsts : () BOTZ HE - EPCRHE R H A
B H&%IEHT%*“A?’JE’Jﬁ;?tWIJ:.
4 U 25 ?D%TRIE&BZWMNJD;%'(”)
BOTZ HE RTOTZ #E T i& & )5 /K fE 12
R~ BAEKEIER - KR - 5REE
iR B8 L A T R R RS e LA IR PR A B
HERBOUWE  RBRBEFEE
ZHER B EIRA - RERZTEARWZZLE
BIESEEAT ¢

Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHWE
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —_=__
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Revenue from operating services BEERB W= 1,295,986 1,267,485
Revenue from construction services R AR W = 173,630 893,178
Financial income from service concession  ARTE 55 5 45 2 22 BRI B 7S UL A
arrangements 746,765 735,926
Total 5t 2,216,381 2,896,589
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4. REVENUE (Continued) 4. q&ﬁ_ﬁ(%>
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFEHWE(E)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WEERAD
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-_=%+=-ZA=+—H
IEFE
Water
Environment
Urban Water Comprehensive Rural Water
Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
XRE B
Segments 28 HEKH GARE KRR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Revenue from contracts EESHWE
with customers 2,123,024 43,438 49,919 2,216,381
Geographical market HETH
Chinese Mainland R 2,123,024 43,438 49,919 2,216,381
Total revenue from contracts with B A K& %
customers 2,123,024 43,438 49,919 2,216,381
Timing of revenue recognition W R
Services transferred over time RER R ER A R 2,123,024 43,438 49,919 2,216,381
Total revenue from contracts with B A K@%
customers 2,123,024 43,438 49,919 2,216,381
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4. REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

4. W3:H &)
EEAHWE (B

(a)

WEERMAD (B)
Bz —_F+-_A=+—H
1EFE

Water
Environment
Urban Water Comprehensive Rural Water
Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
KRR m)
Segments 7% LY maRE KRR Ch
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT ARETTT ARET T
Revenue from contracts EESHWE
with customers 2,123,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Geographical market BET S
Chinese Mainland R 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Total revenue from contracts EFAANERE
with customers 2,123,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Timing of revenue recognition U2 FE AR B
Services transferred over time Ba By R B2 5 0 R 75 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Total revenue from contracts EFAHNERE
with customers 2,123,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589

Revenue from construction services, operating services of
waste water treatment, reclaimed water treatment, water
distribution and sludge treatment and financial income
from service concession arrangements are recognised over
time.

Performance obligations

The aggregate amount of the transaction prices allocated
to the performance obligations of BOT and TOT
arrangements that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2023 was RMB33 billion (2022: RMB35
billion). The performance obligations expected to be
recognised in more than one year relate to the services to
be performed in respect of the BOT and TOT
arrangements. The amounts disclosed above do not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

(b)

SEOKBEIE C KB - KB
MEREEMEZRSE ELR
B A KBRS E TR
B A A —ER B R A FERR o

BHEE
R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H%
BEZ=BOT R TOTZHER AR ETT (3%
HoRBIT) BHETNR ZER
BeBEAARBIET (=ZF
——F: AR¥350187) - HH
R—FUEERZBEHETESF
FBOTRTOTLZHEBITHIARTE B
e EXBENSEIBIEXR
HIE A BB -
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5. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Hitlk AR W=
2023 2022
—s=-= T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTF T
Government grants* BT 48 B * 20,230 25,447
Interest income from loans to a third party [ —%XK % =75 B HH B UA 20,087 18,672
Dividend income from equity investments  ¥87E &1L A FEFT A H A
designated at fair value through other FEN R RERERD
comprehensive income % S U A 9,602 =
Bank interest income RITR B UL A 2,522 3,560
Interest income from loans to an associate [ —FKEEZE N AN —FKAEE
and a joint venture TEERAF B A 1,663 840
Rental income less depreciation of HEeWRARKREMENE
investment properties 1,274 516
Foreign exchange differences, net MEH R FER 510 =
Others HAp 3,901 4,838
Total #Et 59,789 53,873

Government grants primarily represented the value-added tax refund and

the environmental protection funds for environmental technological

improvements granted by government authorities. Certain environmental

protection funds related to the upgrading of WTPs granted by government

authorities are recognised as deferred income that is recognised in profit or

loss on a systematic basis over the expected upgrade interval cycle. There

are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

BB EBRBTREX TORERR

RERAERREMBMENRERERS - &
TRERFE R ARG KEERIES B
MERRESERRBETRA - KA
ERREIE R BERN RS TR
WEEZ LA B R GEEHRHR

R
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

6. BRFLATEF
782 B 6O 18 B AT R TH 8 0 (B A)

(crediting): AR EIBZRE
2023 2022
—_E_-= =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mo AR¥T T ARET T
Cost of construction services AR RS A AR 206,487 758,048
Cost of operation services i RSB AR 933,900 869,894
Total cost of services 8 BR T B AR 1,140,387 1,627,942
Depreciation of property, plantand #1% -« liFE kX EITE
equipment 12 5,758 6,877
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FAEEEITE 13(a) 1,172 283
Amortisation of service concession (EFL A E — SRSk
intangible assets iy 17 87,244 77,654
Amortisation of other intangible Efh i & E iR
assets 395 406
Impairment of financial receivables® <& fl &I FRIB R E * 19 829 (67)
Impairment of contract assets* EREERME" 23 (147) (547)
Impairment of trade receivables’ B 5 W RIERE 21 30,646 36,080
Impairment of other receivables® E fth B RSB E 22 2,593 2,579
Lease payments not included inthe W #FF A E & E=
measurement of lease liabilities O ER=E RN 13(c) 389 278
Auditor’s remuneration % DN & 2,552 2,656
Employee benefit expense (including {8 & 1& FIF 3
directors’ remuneration): (BIEESHMN)
Wages, salaries and allowances, T& - #e KERL
social securities and benefits HERENEF 235,984 250,065
Pension scheme contributions RS FT B R
(defined contribution scheme)* (REHRFKETED 25,078 24,153
Total employee benefit expense BIEERAAXL 261,062 274,218
REBRRRARAR/ T _=FERE
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31 December2023 —E-=F+=-A=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

6. BRBLAIER (&)

2023 2022
—E—-= —E=-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET T ARBFT
Operating lease income KEHE WA (1,409) (1,392
Less: Depreciation of investment W IREYMERE
properties 135 876
Rental income less depreciation HeWABREMETE
of investment properties 5 (1,274) (516)
Bank interest income RITH B YA 5 (2,522) (3,560)
Government grants BT 48 B 5 (20,230) (25,447)
Interest income from loans to M—REB=FERHOF EMRA
a third party 5 (20,087) (18,672)
Interest income from loans to M—REELER—HHE
a joint venture and an associate NAIREREF B I A 5 (1,663) (840)
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  KERZE
property, plant and equipment, net 18 B E18/F 58 32 39
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBAREE - 1,359
Loss on disposal of an associate HE—KEE R AEBE 5,781 =
Foreign exchange differences, net  [E{ Z%8 + /$58 (510) 47,918

L The impairment of financial receivables, the impairment of contract assets,
the impairment of trade receivables and the impairment of other receivables
are included in “Other expenses” in profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

* SREKRFIARE GHNEERE B5E
WK IR (B B R WOR BRERT AR 1R
A [EMmRE P -

& BEEFER KRR AT RASEERRET
ARBIEIRB HFKF
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7.

FINANCE COSTS 7. BERA
2023 2022
—s=-= —T-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT
Interest on interest-bearing bank FHERIT REME KA S
and other borrowings 578,563 566,106
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 156 108
Total 5t 578,719 566,214

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulation, is as follows:

DIE 25 WBET

8. EERESITHRAEHM

REBEENRHITRAEMESREE
AR R - BB R EMEGIE 383(1)(@) - (b)
Q@ ROERAR (HEEEFZEM) R

2023 2022

—F=-= — -
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBFR  ARBFT
Fees ik 1,951 1,897

Other emoluments: Hih < :
Salaries, allowances and e RMREYER

benefits in kind 4,957 4,833
Total st 6,908 6,730

(i)

Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

(i) BUAFHITES

AEEENBIYIFATEENE

during the year were as follows: ST

2023 2022

==== — T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Mr. Chang Qing (F&) BEEE 325 316
Mr. Peng Yongzhen (K %) TIKEEE 325 316
Mr. Chau Kam Wing (JE$828) AR L E 325 316
Total #E 975 948

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2022:
Nil).

AFEREVERENBIIFNTES

MEMBHFM(—T——4F: &) -
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERESITHAEHM®
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(i) Executive directors (i) HMITESE
Equity- Salaries,
settled  allowances Pension
share option and benefits scheme Total
Fees expenses in kind contributions remuneration

DEREE Fe 2R BihE
e BEERx  BENERN  EHR g
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTL ARBTL ARBTT ARETR ARETRL

Year ended 31 December HZE-ZT-=f

2023 TZAZt-ALFE
Executive directors: HITEE:

Mr. Zhao Juanxian HEBLE

(alias, Zhao Junxian)

(BEE) 325 - 1,581 - 1,906
Mr. Li Zhong (ZH) T4 217 - 1,483 - 1,700
Mr. Duan Jerry Linnan BMmELE

(EEg) 217 - 1,351 - 1,568
Ms. Liu Yujie (ZIER) BERL T 217 = 542 = 759
Total 5t 976 - 4,957 - 5,933
Yearended 31 December ~ HEZZT-_F

2022 TZA=t—-BLEE
Executive directors: HITES:

Mr. Zhao Juanxian HEELE

(alias, Zhao Junxian)

(HEE) 316 - 1,536 - 1,852
Mr. Li Zhong () FhiLE 211 - 1,452 = 1,663
Mr. Duan Jerry Linnan BE A

() 211 - 1,319 - 1,530
Ms. Liu Yujie (21E7%) BFEARL 211 - 526 ~ 737
Total st 949 - 4,833 - 5,782
There was no arrangement under which a director waived MEEERNFAELRRLBAE
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. R EFFE L BE -
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31 December 2023

9.

—E-=F+-A=+—H

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
directors (2022: four directors), details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining two (2022: one) highest paid employee who is
neither a director nor a chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

hEBEFHHESR

R AERBHREBE=AEE (=
To—F NBER)  WEZHMH
BHAR LS AFEBTRA (=
ToF &) ERADREENFE
REITHA B BB HHIER Z F B
BT :

2023 2022

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ # % BN EWEF] 1,959 1,019
Performance related bonuses FRILFEREIEAT 178 88
Pension scheme contributions RIRE AR 109 23
Total @t 2,246 1,130

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

FHEATHREANIESERIFERSIT
BAB&Z=HHMESABIT

Number of employees

BEAH
2023 2022
—E—= —_=__
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T Z 1,500,000 7T 2 1

Total BEt

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law Implementing
Regulations (% A R HE MBI ZFTEFEAEHEHA) , most of
the subsidiaries established in the PRC, engaged in the
operations of waste water treatment projects, are eligible for tax
holiday of a three-year full exemption followed by a three-year
half exemption commencing from their respective first years of
generating operating revenue (the “3+3 Tax Holiday”). At the
end of the year, these subsidiaries were qualified for the 3+3 Tax
Holiday or in the process of preparation and submission of the
required documents to the respective tax authorities to apply for
the 3+3 Tax Holiday.

In accordance with the relevant tax rules and regulations of
Chinese Mainland, a number of the Company'’s subsidiaries enjoy
income tax exemptions and reductions because (1) these
companies are qualified third-party enterprises engaged in
pollution prevention and control, and are entitled to corporate
income tax at a reduced tax rate of 15%; and/or (2) they have
operations in the Western regions of Mainland China that are
qualified for a 15% concessionary corporate income tax rate for a
prescribed period of time pursuant to the “Announcement on
Continuing the Enterprise Income Tax Policy for the
Development of the Western Region” ([2020] No. 23) issued by
the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration of Taxation,the
National Development and Reform Commission.

Under the relevant PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and
respective regulations, except for the preferential treatments
available to certain subsidiaries as mentioned above, other
subsidiaries within the Group were subject to corporate income
tax at the statutory rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

10. FTSRAX

RE(FEARKMBECEMEHEE
He AR BI) - FE o B AR 32 3 7 205 7K BRI
HREZNAROIMBARESERBEH
EEEARZRGENEEFERRARE
R=FRBREE=FRFNHEER
([ZR=ZRFHBEER]D -RFER X
FMBRRICAREREX=ZRRFM
HBREBLLESHERASBNHBEEA
BEXHEXRBE= 2= RFRBESE -

RAE A B A AR R 48 B SOE R - R
RAETHBRARZAMESRE LA
% BERAMNZEARERESRE
MEBRE=-FNLE ZFTHEIHERD
ERMERME: R/ RQZZFRFRT
B Ao 7R R i [ AT 2 XS ARIBEET X
M BEREERRE BERERMRESL
BEeEMmN(ENTEERDARBLE
FT5 B R B9 R 25 ) ([2020] 235%) 1A 45
THEREGERZERIS%ERCEMRS
HRE o

REAEB(FEARKMBE L ERSHR
By RBRER B LB THE QA
EREEFEIN  AEEANEMNE
REALR25%HEE R RN LR
B o

RERSHENEBRELESNARA R
R ARBERSHEE MEBR LR
SHAMMERAER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FAIEHBAX (@)
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the PO 7R 5 B 6 (N A AE BB R AR SRR
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong JERTR A - HO EE R B BN G HE
Kong during the year. 1o
2023 2022
—E=-= —=E——
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Current BVHA
— Chinese Mainland — PR A 44,749 36,901
Deferred PRI 58,977 97,478
Total tax charge for the year FABIBX HAEE 103,726 134,379
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit BRADB RE KNI HER R FAEBEK
before tax at the statutory tax rate for the country in which the YA E Bt R 51 5 89 R B Al A E B E B
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the BHRE (L) BREEBRTENR
tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the BERXEE ARERHX (BEER
applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax R)EEBERNEOHEROT
rate, are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARBTT ARET
Profit before tax R 85 Al g A 233,954 374,34
Tax at the statutory tax rate RETR L ENHIE 58,489 25.0 93,585 250
Lower tax rates for specific provinces 5§ 7€ % {7 8k & b U # 8
or enacted by local authority BHERIER = (10,702) (4.5) (31,947) (8.5)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR Z 2,616 1.1 2,420 0.6
Tax losses not recognised AERTEER 45,442 19.4 58,882 15.7
Tax losses utilised from previous 18 f B HifE M 75 5 18
periods (8,205) (3.5) (6,920) (1.8)
Reversal of tax losses recognised R B BHEER KT
in previous periods EERE 17,179 7.3 18,510 49
Tax effect of disposal of subsidiaries &} B AR MHBEFE - = (410) 0.1)
Profits and losses attributable to & & ¥ REE A A
joint ventures and associates fE(H B %= (1,093) (0.5) 259 0.1
Tax charge at the Group's effective &R AKEEEHEHEH
rate B it 103,726 443 134,379 359
The share of tax attributable to associates and joint ventures DEEE AR REERERETIEAEA
amounting to negative RMB412,000 (2022: negative RMB990,000) R#412000t (ZZ - : BAR¥
is included in “Share of profits and losses of associates” and 990,000) ME =AM [ 1G5 & A F1E
“Share of profits and losses of joint ventures” in profit or loss. mIRIDiEaEbEERsIBTAK:.

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B R AR MY A

31 December2023 —E-—=F+=-HA=+—H

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 11. g’l\\ AEBEEENBAENG
i &

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE Al
PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based BEREARMNeBENHERFRG AT
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders BREDSAEARBGEINRFANDETE
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary AR 2 hnAE T 39 #02,139,735,000 A% (—
shares of 2,139,735,000 (2022: 2,139,735,000) in issue during the T~ T4 2,139,735,000 %) (4% 38 % LA
year, as adjusted to reflect the rights issue during the year. [RERF AR ETE o
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue BE_T_=FR_Z-__F+=A
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. E+—BIEFE AKEWEDETE
L RAR -
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are BRERNREERFTDERATEIER
based on: (=i
2023 2022
—Eg=-= =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®TTT
Earnings: B
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AR ESRERREER T A
holders of the parent, used in the basic BRAEBAERTEA
and diluted earnings per share FE G5 A
calculations 124,753 235,679
Number of shares
igrig 4=
2023 2022
—E-= =
Shares: 87
Weighted average number of ordinary ARGt EERER K #E 2N 8
shares in issue during the year used in FREHTEER
the basic and diluted earnings per share  Jl#EF15 &k
calculation 2,139,735,000 2,139,735,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. % - BERRE
31 December 2023 —®_=ft+=-RA=+-—H
Buildings Office
and other equipment  Construction
infrastructure Machinery ~ and others in progress Total
BFRAM BORE
EfRiE B REM REIRE @t

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTR ARMTR ARWTR ARMTR

At 1 January 2023: W-E-=%—-A—A:

Cost AR 85,866 23,000 37,048 725 146,639

Accumulated depreciation ZEERAE

and impairment (36,611) (19,491) (31,531) - (87,633)

Net carrying amount REFE 49,255 3,509 5,517 725 59,006
At 1 January 2023, net of R-Z2-=%—H—-H"

accumulated depreciation IR EFTERRE

and impairment 49,255 3,509 5,517 725 59,006
Additions NE - - 710 - 710
Disposals HE - (331) (249) - (580)
Depreciation provided FRMERRE

during the year (3,431) (962) (1,365) - (5,758)
At 31 December 2023, net of RIZZ=%+-A=+-H"

accumulated depreciation MR 2 ERAE

and impairment 45,824 2,216 4,613 725 53,378
At 31 December 2023: R-B_=F+-A=1+—R:

Cost AR 85,866 22,669 37,509 725 146,769

Accumulated depreciation ZEERAE

and impairment (40,042) (20,453) (32,896) - (93,391)
Net carrying amount RERE 45,824 2,216 4,613 725 53,378
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B R AR MY A

31 December2023 —E-=F+=-A=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BERRE @
(Continued)
31 December 2022 - —F+-AF=+—H
Buildings Office
and other equipment  Construction
infrastructure Machinery and others in progress Total
BTRAM MR
AR s REf ERIRE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR%TT AR%Tn ARBTn
At 1 January 2022: W-Z--#—-f-AH:
Cost KA 85,866 22915 37,943 1,900 148,624
Accumulated depreciation ZEHERRE
and impairment (33,180) (18,423) (30,237) - (81,840)
Net carrying amount FRE A 52,686 4,492 7,706 1,900 66,784
At 1 January 2022, net of RZZ-—F-A—-H"
accumulated depreciation MR 25 E A
and impairment 52,686 4492 7,706 1,900 66,784
Additions NE - 120 336 - 456
Disposals HE = (27) (152) = (179)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF - - () = 3
Depreciation provided FRTERE
during the year (3,431) (1,076) (2,370) = (6,877)
Transfer 8% - a - (1,175) (1,175)
At 31 December 2022, net of RZBZZF+ZA=+-H"
accumulated depreciation M2 E A
and impairment 49,255 3,509 5517 725 59,006
At 31 December 2022: RZZ--F+-R=1+—-R:
Cost KA 85,866 23,000 37,048 725 146,639
Accumulated depreciation ZHMERAE
and impairment (36,611) (19.491) (31,531) - (87,633)
Net carrying amount REFE 49,255 3,509 5517 725 59,006
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December 2023

12.

13.

—E-=F+-A=+—H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's buildings with a net
carrying amount of approximately RMB9,965,000 (2022:
RMB11,792,000) were pledged to secure certain interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 28). As
the payments of the land use rights for the buildings cannot be
separated reliably from the payments for the purchase of office
buildings, the entire payments are included in the costs of the
relevant buildings.

Certain infrastructure with a net carrying amount as at 31
December 2023 of approximately RMB9,433,000 (2022:
RMB10,168,000) is situated on a piece of land which is legally
owned by the non-controlling shareholder of Jilin Kangda
Environmental Protection Company Limited (“Jilin Kangda”), a
subsidiary of the Group. The subsidiary is contractually authorised
to use the land without charge throughout its operating period.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases certain land properties and office properties
under operating lease arrangements with leases negotiated for
terms ranging from 1 to 16 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.

12.

13.

M- BERSZE®

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H ' ' &x5H
BREFEN B ARE9650007T (ZF
—F ARK11,792,0007T) B E T2
FERFER TAEEE T EHRITR

H A& KA ER (Bi7E28) - AR LHbfE
ARNMREA SHEEERAEF
SRR D BE - MBI RET AR RE
FRA ©

RZEBE_=F+-_A=+—8 ' E@EF
HX A ANREE 433,000 T (ZE - —4:
AR #10,168,0007T) B & T E B 2R i
BHUNRBEAEENKBE RS MEER
REBR ARG ([EWREE]) B IEZEREEE
BEREAR B - X B AR
ABHARERBREAELHEREFERZ LT
i o

HE

REBER/EEA
AEBERBEEHERHFHEEE T L
MERBRIME  HEBEHRNF—
EFRF—KME  NEERRFH
HEEEERM DA TAEERINGA
a) o

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets AEBRFRANFEREEENR
and the movements during the year are as follows: HEERESSHWMT
Land Office Total
T it WAE &&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARETT
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZFE_—_F—H—H 1,408 310 1,718
Depreciation charge ERX (96) (187) (283)
As at 31 December 2022 g
and 1 January 2023 TZA=+—HK
—E-=%—H—H 1,312 123 1,435
Additions INE - 2,023 2,023
Depreciation charge HERX (96) (1,076) (1,172)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%F
+TZA=+—H 1,216 1,070 2,286
REBRRRARAR/ T _=FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ma

31 December 2023

13. LEASES (Continued) 13. *HE(Z§>
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREBEA (B
(b) Lease liabilities by HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under RERXN - HEAG(BEETER
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the TRAEAME ) M REE RN
movements during the year are as follows: ™
2023 2022
—E=-= —=E——
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—H—B®REE 1,974 2,210
New leases FEE 2,023 -
Accretion of interest recognised F AR N B IE N
during the year 156 108
Payments (NP (1,537) (344)
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt A=+—HMEAEE 2,616 1,974
Analysed into: DT
Current portion BN ERZ6 5 (1,113) 271
Non-current portion JEBNERER o (1,503) (1,703)

(c)

(d)

B R EE

—E-=F#+-A=+—H

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
38 to the financial statements.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

HERBNIMOMREHEHRE

B s 38 FE o

(c)

REHAEFHENESTRINS

leases are as follows: IR :
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBNE 156 108
Depreciation charge of right-of-use EREEENERX
assets 1,172 283
Expense relating to short-term leases  E15Z HiTH E AR M & A 389 278
Total amount recognised in profit RERERNETER
or loss 1,717 669

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c) to
the financial statements.

(d)
THRMFE31(0) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M A

31 December 2023

13.

14.

—F=F+-A=t—A

LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties consisting of four
commercial properties under operating lease arrangements. The
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to
the then prevailing market conditions. Rental income less
depreciation of investment properties recognised by the Group
during the year was RMB1,274,000 (2022: RMB516,000), details of
which are included in notes 5 and 6 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable

13. HE®)

AEEERAHBA
AEBRBELELHAELHHEEHTEY
X (pPEREmAYE)  HEKZIBT
EXHEINRES  UREBEERNE
AR TEHAERES - NEBFAER
MESWAREEDETERARE
1,274,000t (ZE =% : ARK
516,0007T) + EF BN MK W
556

R-ZB_=F+-A=+—H A&H
HEEBPFI VNN HELLEHETH

operating leases with its tenants are as follows: ARHAEEYCRREIREERBAT ¢
2023 2022

—E-= -
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Within one year —FRN 1,291 1,456
After one year but within two years —FRERERAN 1,025 1,325
After two years but within three years MEREB=FN 456 628
After three years but within four years —FRENFRN 469 456
After four years but within five years MERERER 483 469
After five years hFE = 483
Total st 3,724 4,817

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 14. REFERRINRE

2023 2022

—E-= —_ ==
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
Share of net assets DIRFEE 224,136 370,690
Goodwill on acquisition L B B P 2 10,441 10,441
Total 5T 234,577 381,131

REBRBBRRERAR/ _E_=ZFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

14. REEE R TIIRE ()

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
BRAME ARIMFBOT

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

Percentage of
equity interest
Place of incorporation Issued and fully attributable to
Company name registration and operation paid-up capital the Group  Principal activities
NAER MR KEEERS
BRREXNE ERTRAZRE RERSL FTEEH

Jiangsu Eastern Biological Sludge PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB35,000,000 49 Treatment of sludge in rivers
Treatment Engineering Co., Ltd. and lakes
("Eastern Sludge Treatment”)

(IHERFEEERIRERAR)

THRHEEERIRERARA E/PER A 35,000,007 EARRABETTRRE
(MRAEEFR])

Fuzhou Fuhe River Investment & PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB300,000,000 24 Investment, construction,
Development Co., Ltd. (“Fuzhou Fuhe") operation and management
(N ETREREREERAR)! of municipal projects

ENTET R REREBRAT e/ el AR 300,000,0007C RE BR EER
(M 1) ERMHIAR

Sichuan Kangda Zhonghuan Municipal PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 30 Design and consulting of
Engineering Design Co., Ltd. construction projects
("Sichuan Zhonghuan”)

(M ERERRTR IR ARAR)

P EER R R TR HE/RER ARH5,000,0007T BRORR Rt Rk
ARAR ()R]

Leping Hehu Ecological Environmental PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 44 Construction, operation and
Treatment Co., Ltd. ("Leping Hehu") management of environment
(BImIREERRREERAT) protection and infrastructure

projects

ST ERRERBERAT E /AR AR 50,000,007 Bk BEREERRR
(ESo0k:1)) ARRIEAR

#

The English names of these companies referred to in this report represent

management's best effort at translating the Chinese names of the companies

registered in Chinese Mainland, as no English names have been registered.

B FE AR B A 3 1T A9 2 D A T 2 X
B ARERBOZEARNRAXEEDE
BEEENBEETXERMAE -
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14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

14. REEE R TIIRE ()

The percentages of voting power held and profit sharing are the

same as the percentages of equity interest attributable to the

Group. The Group's shareholdings in the associates comprise

equity shares held through wholly-owned subsidiaries of the

Company.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

information in respect of some investments in associates, which

are individually material, reconciled to their carrying amounts in

the consolidated financial statements:

FBEREEMENDEHN A DL RARE
BEEHREB D LR - REBERE
ERANEEBEARRZENB AR
AR -

TRFARDE @R EAREE QA
MR ERELGAMBRRPOFREEEY
BROMBERME

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
Fuzhou Leping Fuzhou Zhongyuan
Fuhe Hehu Fuhe Shuiwu
N 5] S48 Y1 )] H RS
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARMFR ARETT ARBTO
Current assets MBEE 295,195 30,143 474,278 196,220
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,960,343 264,077 1,848,592 443,781
Current liabilities mEAE (420,430) (918) (406,096) (20,089)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (1,203,571) (176,921) (1,285,374) (147,021)
Net assets BETE 631,537 116,381 631,400 472,891
Reconciliation to the Group's AEERBERA
interests in the associates: R
Proportion of the Group's AEE MR RELL I
ownership 24% 44% 24% 31%
Group's share of net assets AEEHHEERA
of the associates FEE 151,569 51,208 151,536 146,596
Carrying amount of the REKREE
investments 151,569 51,208 151,536 146,596
Revenue W 14,891 - - 52,127
Profit for the year FR R 138 - = 3,468
Total comprehensive income FREENELTE
from the year 138 - = 3,468

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE
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B R AR MY A

31 December2023 —E-—=F+=-HA=+—H

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 14. REBEE RRNRE @)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information TRIRIIEBMBIEANAEFBEE L D
of the Group's associates that are not individually material: AIMEHITBER
2023 2022
—Eg=-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Share of the associates’ profit kB & A B F A A

for the year 4,666 1,479
Share of the associates’ total DIREE N R 2 E W AR

comprehensive income 4,666 1,479
Aggregate carrying amount of the REERBERRRERN

Group's investments in the associates BRE4AE 31,800 82,999
On 27 December 2023, the Group disposed of the entire of its MRZBEZ=F+-HA=++tRH XEH
31% equity interest in Zhongyuan Water Group Co., Ltd. HERERFRKEEBER QR (THR
("Zhongyuan Shuiwu”). The difference between the consideration K] B2 EB3N%ARRE - KEBEENEE
and the carrying amount of the investment in Zhongyuan Shuiwu HEARF RKERIRE RE(E 2 =
at the date of disposal, amounting to RMB5,781,000, was #A K H5,781,000 T E R E R #R
recognised as a loss on disposal in the profit or loss account. REEEE-
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e B R AR M A

31 December2023 —E-=F+=-A=+—H

15. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 15. REETENKRE
2023 2022
—E-= T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBETT
Share of net assets DIREE 78,091 78,419

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows:

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to

Issued and

Place of registration fully paid-up

BERAELEMNFBENT

Company name and operation capital the Group Principal activities
REEES

CEE: BREREXELE ERTRARZRE REBSL FEXK

Zibo Tiangiyuan Water Supply Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,190,000 49 Central water supply
("Tiangiyuan”)

CEEmABEREKERRE)!

BT R K /B A AR #5,190,0007C R EK
BRAR([REM])

Gaomi Kangrui Environmental Protection  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB28,000,000 50 Sale and maintenance of
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Gaomi Kangrui") environmental
(BEMERBERHEERAR) protection equipment

BEMRRRERR /R EA AR HERRE
BRAR (&%) 28,000,000 7T RRRE

“ The English names of these companies referred to in this report represent # HREDE RN AT ETHET

management'’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of the companies
registered in Chinese Mainland, as no English names have been registered.

HHE ARERANOZEARNREXEEE
BEEENBEETXERMAE -
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B R AR MY A

31 December2023 —E-—=F+=-HA=+—H

15. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)  15. EAA%/JJ}_* WIRE (4)
The above investments are held through wholly-owned MIRETERA R B2 EME R A
subsidiaries of the Company. ﬁ o
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information TRINTIEFERERNREES S
of the Group's joint ventures that are not individually material: FHAHTEER -
2023 2022
—m—= —E—=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Share of the joint ventures’ loss e EPEFRNER
for the year (328) (3,590)
Share of the joint ventures’ total DMEEERREEWEETE
comprehensive income (328) (3,590)
Aggregate carrying amount of AEBRAELEREN
the Group's investments in REAE
the joint ventures 78,091 78,419
16. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 6. EEARAFEITTAHMLS

VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HEZNRERE
INCOME
2023 2022
—T_= —z—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Equity investments designated at fair value 1§ BIZ A FEF AREMEE
through other comprehensive income W ) IRIE R &
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value ~ FF_ETIIREIRE - B AFE 347,000 363,000

During the year, the loss, net of tax, in respect of the Group's
equity investments in Zhongyuan Asset Management Co., Ltd.
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to
RMB13,600,000 (2022: gain in other comprehensive income
amounted to RMB97,750,000).

RER REMZAKRSERONEAEE
RPAREEEEBRAFTNRERED
BB (KR FIE) A AR 13,600,000 7T
(ZZZ=ZF - Hth2AE W= lEA
AR#97,750,0007T) °
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31 December2023 —E-=F+=-A=+—H

17. SERVICE CONCESSION INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B &E&E — BT RK&EE

2023 2022
—E=-= =
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated R—A—BHKAK -
amortisation bk 25t H#EH 1,436,965 1,084,506
Additions NE 26,818 430,113
Amortisation provided during the year FNEHHE (87,244) (77,654)
At 31 December Rt+—_A=+—8 1,376,539 1,436,965
At 31 December: Rt+—_A=+—8H
Cost AN 1,765,836 1,739,018
Accumulated amortisation BT (389,297) (302,053)
Net carrying amount BRHFE 1,376,539 1,436,965
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's service concession R-EBE-_=F+-_A=+—H KA&EE
intangible assets with a carrying value of RMB1,254,846,000 (2022: BRE B AR ¥ 1,254,846,000C (=&
RMB1,258,955,000) were pledged to secure certain interest- —— 4% : AK#1,258,9550007T) A &
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note WEE — BFHARERDCERER TR
28). EEE T ERIT M EMERER

£T28) o
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

18. GOODWILL

18. &

Cash-generating units
ReEEXEN
Manufacture of

Waste water  chemicals for

treatment waste water
plant treatment Total
EESKEE
75 K R FrA{tER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETFIT ARETFIT ARET T
2022 -
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of RZE-_—_F—A—HH
accumulated impairment KA - Mk REHRE 58,325 - 58,325
Cost and net carrying amount at RZZE ==
31 December 2022 +-—A=+—HH
B 7R 1% BR T FHE 58,325 = 58,325
At 31 December 2022: .=
+=A=+-8:
Cost B#N 58,325 1,894 60,219
Accumulated impairment Z25FTRE = (1,894) (1,894)
Net carrying amount R FE 58,325 = 58,325
2023 —EC-=F
Cost at 1 January 2023, netof HRZ-ZZT-_=F—H—HH
accumulated impairment PRS- OBk REHRIE 58,325 = 58,325
Cost and net carrying amountat M Z=ZZ = =4
31 December 2023 +=-A=+—8H
B 7R I BR T FE 58,325 - 58,325
At 31 December 2023: R =%
+=-—A=+—8":
Cost PR 7R 58,325 1,894 60,219
Accumulated impairment ZRE = (1,894) (1,894)
Net carrying amount BREDFE 58,325 - 58,325
Impairment testing of goodwill (RN AR S

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the cash-generating units of “waste water treatment
plant” and “the manufacture of chemicals for waste water

treatment” for impairment testing.

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units of “"waste
water treatment plant” and “the manufacture of chemicals for
waste water treatment” have been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on a financial
budget covering a three-year period approved by the Group and
based on the assumption that the sizes of the operations remain
constant perpetually. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 9.33%. A growth rate of 2% (2022: 2%) is
used for the perpetual period.

BREGAFRBNBECSIERS
IKBEIERR | e [ £ E)S/KBRIEFT AL 2 am
ReELBEUERENR -

[5KERMR] & [ £ EFKEEMAL
BRI ReELESEMMNAKESBER
BEAANEEMEN=ZFHUKEZ
ABERENRSRERANFTENERER
BT UWEBREKEEREXKATE R
= TROR FE A RO B BT AL IR K A 9.33% ©
KXABEMANERE AW (ZE ==
F 1 2%) °
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e

31 December 2023

18.

B R P EE

—E-=F+-A=+—H

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
“waste water treatment plant” and “the manufacture of chemicals
for waste water treatment” cash-generating units for 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Price inflation — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to price inflation is the forecast price indices during the budget
year for the relevant markets.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of waste water treatment plant and the
manufacture of chemicals for waste water treatment, discount
rates and price inflation are consistent with external information
sources.

18. B8 (&)

AR AR (8)
AE_FE_=—Ft-_A=+—BE=%
TFTR=+—BDKEERK] &
(EESKEERAEEmI REELE
HEREERDERRRK - T XH
TEEERBEERCRERALETHE
REA AR S RERER -

BEEME —BESRETREENX
WF@%%%WEE%%&E FEA]
—FAMBERNFYENE - gRBEH
B RR BRI N TR B RO T 45 3 R T B P 45
e

BB FE — AR EARINGHRE X

RERF BB E R o

EEk —RAREESE TERBIR
BEMNEESHERMSERBEFENE
BB -

DT IEKEE B R N A S KB IR AT
EERMMBER - MEXRERES
MEERREEINFAER IR -
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

19. FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES

19. & BB WKTE

2023 2022

=== —=E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT

Receivables under service concession RRIGHF T 48 & 2o BE

arrangements FEYRIE 11,595,265 11,208,671
Impairment BE (3,015) (2,186)
Net carrying amount BREFE 11,592,250 11,206,485
Portion classified as current assets DEARSEEIS (2,079,291) (1,961,955)
Non-current portion FERNEAER 9,512,959 9,244,530

Receivables for service concession arrangements arose from the
service concession contracts to build and operate WTPs or STPs
and were recognised to the extent that the Group has an
unconditional contractual right to receive cash from or at the
direction of the Grantor.

Financial receivables were unbilled receivables mainly due from
governmental authorities in Chinese Mainland, as the Grantors in
respect of the Group's service concession arrangements. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances. Financial receivables represent contract
assets as the rights to considerations have yet to be
unconditional.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial

REFFFRELELHREHRAELEBER
K38 257K BRI )5 e B B AR ) AR 75
FAAREaK YR AKEREAEGN
BRENBRTASERT ANERE
BUR £ B HERR o

TREBEFKBESRARBRFE 2
AEWHBEAMBKTRENTIR - B
BT SN KEBIRGFFRE LN
BTYA AEBEYERZSEHRFTHE
AEMEHEMEERTER - SRE
WHRIEEANEE - REZWIAER
FET) i AR P SR AR A ©

TREMREREBRREZSHNT -

receivables are as follows:

2023 2022

—E-= —_=F__
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
At beginning of year REA] 2,186 2,253
Impairment losses B &R 829 (67)
At end of year RER 3,015 2,186
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

19. FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. S REWTE @)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix. The provision matrix is initially based on the
probabilities of default rates which are estimated based on
historical observed default rates and published credit ratings of
credit bonds issued in Chinese Mainland. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forward-looking credit
risk information.

The increase in the loss allowance was mainly due to the increase
in the gross carrying amount of financial receivables.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's financial receivables:

MED TN EHRE B RRA R R
T -BEEEDRIREEEROXR
FEARBEEITEEEFNEAMEER
AREERROBEGE - KETERR
BENEGER RN RE B AR SNAREE
BEEE  EAARKAEEESRR
BERMAERAIEER -

BRI I B R i & Bl R WA
R 1 AR (E S AN B

FRASESRERFENEERRE
FEZIT

2023 2022

—Eg=-= =
Expected credit loss rate FEHEEEEE 0.0260% 0.0195%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FEAE(ARETT) 11,595,265 11,208,671
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) FEHEEEER(ARET T 3,015 2,186

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's financial receivables with a
carrying value of RMB7,957,461,000 (2022: RMB7,114,919,000)
were pledged to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

R-ZBE-=F+=-A=+—0 ' K&£H
BRMEE ARE7,957,461,000T (=&
——F: AR¥7,114,919,0007T) B &
BRI GRIEE IR ER FAEKE SR T
BRT R EME A ER (FiaE28) o
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

20. DEFERRED TAX 20. EFLERH
The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group, AEEAEEBANBEEREEERE
and the movements thereon, during the year are as follows: EAREZHNT :
31 December 2023 —E-=f+=H=+-—H
Transaction
costs for
Service interest- One-off
concession bearing bank deduction Right-of-use
arrangements borrowings  of machinery assets Total
it BRAT
FR 545 3% R HEH
gezy RAHRA — R0 RRAEEE @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTTR ARBTR
Deferred tax liabilities BREREERE
At 31 December 2022 RIZZZF
T=HET—E (1,081,187) (12,132) (291) - (1,093,610)
Deferred tax (charged)/creditedto  FRAEH (15),/
profit or loss during the year STARERRE (69,796) 4,423 (28) (480) (65,881)
At 31 December 2023 R-F_=F%
+ZA=1+—-A (1,150,983) (7,709) (319) (480) (1,159,491)
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31 December 2023 —Z—
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20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

20. EFEFLIE (48)

Fair value
adjustments of
the equity
investments
designated at
Losses available fair value
Impairment of ~ for offsetting  through other
financial and ~ against future  comprehensive Lease
contract assets  taxable profits income liabilities Other Total
EER
BRAFETA
TRREE  Ht2EUR
ERREH RRERH HRERE
BERE  EAOER AVERR HEER At Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR AEBTR KRBT AE®TR  ARMTR AEBTR
Deferred tax assets ERHEEE
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZE+ZA=1-H 9,217 44,494 21,150 - 197 75,058
Deferred tax creditedto equity ~ FRRERF ABELEHE
during the year - - 2,400 - - 2,400
Deferred tax credited/(charged to ~ ERRERFT A/ (1K) &)
profit or loss during the year EiEHE 7,943 (1,583) - 560 (16) 6,904
At31 December 2023 R-B-Z£+-A=1-H 17,160 29 23,550 560 181 84,362
REBRBBRRERAR/ _E_=ZFERE
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20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20. IEEBLIE (@)
31 December 2022 —E-__F+=-A=+—H
Transaction
costs for
Service interest- One-off
concession  bearingbank  deduction of
arrangements borrowings machinery Total
FTEIRTT
MRS R ET fA A KR EY
Eober R A —RIEHR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEE
At 31 December 2021 R-ZTE——%F
TZHET—F (983,521) (17,809) (272) (1,001,602)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited ~ F AR Bz (1),
to profit or loss during the year T ARJIEZEHIE (99,035) 5,677 (19) (93,377)
Deferred tax liabilities HEHB AR EERE
derecognised from the BEEMEARE
disposal of the subsidiaries 1,369 - - 1,369
At 31 December 2022 RZTE——%F
TZH=ET—F (1,081,187) (12,132) (291) (1,093,610)
Fair value
adjustments
of the equity
investments
Losses designated at
available for fair value
Impairment of offsetting through other
financial and againstfuture  comprehensive
contractassets  taxable profits income Other Total
KER
BATEA
ARREE  HEpzEks
cERAH RRIERT HRERE
BERE wHRER NTERE Afts @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Deferred tax assets BRRBEE
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-F+ZA=1-H 2,184 55,612 38,400 213 96,409
Deferred tax charged to equity ERRERNBOELERE
during the year = = (17.250) = (17.250)
Deferred tax credited/{charged) to  FRAMERETA/ (%)
profit or loss during the year EEHBE 7,033 (11,118) - (16) (4101
At 31 December 2022 R-B__F1-A=1-H 9,217 44494 21,150 197 75,058
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20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20. EIEFLIE (&)

The Group also has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMB224,608,000 (2022: RMB217,852,000) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is
5% or 10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group's subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland. In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately RMB3,745,349,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB3,623,448,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

AEBMEFEAMEEREBEAR
#0224,608000L (ZEZZF : AR
217,852,0007C) * R —ERFAE®
ARIEHE AR ERFUER -

AEEBARZFETBEAMBKIHE R
AME—_EENF-A-HEELNE
FFr D Ik B B SR TR - NEE R
BRAEXR 5% 10% °

W-ZBE-=F+"A=+—08 WEH
AN £ B 5 F B b K ST O B B A BB
M TE OB E oK PE & F FE A B0 TR0 B A
REMEEHEEE EFERE %25
MiEB AR A B RARRTARED KA B
B -AR-_E-_=F+-_A=+—8"
HAEANHEBARNEESRNE
Bt = R4 (18 R Bttt B RIEER H
B &) AT 4 B A R ¥ 3,745,349,000 7T
—T——F: AR¥3,623,448,0007T) °

7R ) i) B s SRR A+ P B S 48 B 75 A 4]
PIBHEE -
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZ EWRIA

2023 2022

—=E:_-= —=E-—
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Trade receivables g 5 WA 2,918,555 2,515,835
Impairment VERED (110,042) (79,396)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 2,808,513 2,436,439

The Group’s major customers are the PRC government
authorities or agencies. The Group not only provides construction
service and operation service pursuant to its service concession
arrangements, but also provides construction service under other
construction service projects.

Trade receivables represent the unsettled amounts being billed
to the customers in accordance with the terms specified in the
contracts governing the relevant transactions. The Group does
not have a standardised and universal credit period granted to
the construction service customers. The credit period for
individual customers of construction service is considered on a
case-by-case basis. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group's trade receivables are amounts due from
the Group's associates of RMB108,664,000 (2022:
RMB242,815,000), which are repayable on credit terms similar to
those offered to the major customers of the Group.

At 31 December 2023, the Group's trade receivables with a
carrying value of RMB1,181,567,000 (2022: RMB911,844,000) were
pledged to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

AEENEEEFP STEBF#HERK
B ARETERBERKEHALER
BEER i R RS MO RIRTS - TR A
2R AR5 IH B AR ARTS ©

BHRUFEERERERBISZNE
# P 51| B B {5 K T FE MR P B0 R 4808 3K
He ARBYEFAERRBEFL R LS
—RENERY - ERERRBEFH
ERMTIZEREEE E - B 5 R
HER -

AEENEZRBFEREREEAEE
B & N B 5038 B A R ¥ 108,664,000 7T
(ZE==F : AR%242,815,0007T) °
ZERBEAEERNEIERFRENE
LEEKEREE -

N-ZZE-_=FE+-A=+—H0 &&EH
BRTEARE1,181,567,000T (= &
——fF: AR¥911,844,0007T) MWE 5
ERFEERTER TASES T A
RIT R EAb fE SRAEAR (MF7E28) ©
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. ESEWFIE &)

An ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

RBEHR - REZXZAHLMERER
Bk AEENESREGIRNKRE

DT

2023 2022

—E=-= — =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within 3 months 3fEAA 531,465 479,263
4 to 6 months 4Z 68 A 388,458 291,946
7 to 12 months 7E1218 A 460,962 597,215
Over 12 months Bi@12 @A 1,427,628 1,068,015
Total 5t 2,808,513 2,436,439
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade B S EWEN B EEERE ST

receivables are as follows:

2023 2022

—F;=-= — -
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARET T
At beginning of the year R E A 79,396 44,402
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEF 5 (MisEs) 30,646 36,080
Amount written off as uncollectible B AU B 1 AZ 35 1) & B - (1,086)
At end of the year RER 110,042 79,396

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating,
and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit
insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

REHRE A RRABEREETRED
o Rt ERHEEER - BEXDHE
REFBRUEBERERA Bte EmE
Al BPBERIRFRIARGEABREAM
EERBREANREHE) WEEXP
DEBA IR B B BEE - Kt E R
IARRMESER  EEBREEENR
SEMAGHERBESEEHE  EANR
KARKEBEARTBRN SR LA EER -
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TREFNEHECABREBEEENLIEEE

on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

21. EZEWRFE &)
SREWRBN S SRR ER -

R-E-_=%+=-A=+-—H

Within 4to 6 7 to 12 Over 12
3 months months months months Total
kel
3EAEA 4ZF6f@R 7E121@A 1218 A &&t
Expected credit loss rate ~ TEHIE EE51E R 0.69% 0.91% 1.36% 6.33% 3.77%
Gross carrying amount REREE
(RMB'000) (AR®EFT) 535,163 392,008 467,319 1,524,065 2,918,555
Expected credit losses TEEE B EE
(RMB’000) (AR¥TT) 3,698 3,550 6,358 96,436 110,042
As at 31 December 2022 R-—ZE-_—_F+=-A=+—H
Within 4to b 7to 12 Over 12
3 months months months months Total
B iE
3EAR 4Z=6EA 7E12{EA 121E A A&t
Expected credit loss rate ~ FEHI{E B E 1B % 0.61% 0.96% 1.30% 5.80% 3.16%
Gross carrying amount RERTEE
(RMB'000) (AR¥FT) 482,209 294,770 605,086 1,133,770 2,515,835
Expected credit losses BEIEEEE
(RMB’000) (AR®TT) 2,946 2,824 7,871 65,755 79,396
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22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

22. ANRE - Htt BWRERE

OTHER ASSETS &=
2023 2022
—E-= =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Loans to third parties BFE=ZTHNER 183,500 200,000
Deductible input VAT AR ERER A 134,996 105,110
Loans to a joint venture and BY—HeaERER
an associate —REBENANER 42,859 31,096
Deposits vk 40,961 50,068
Prepayments TE S 3R 27,440 22,036
Staff advances BT#R 3,310 4,667
Other receivables H b fE Y F T8 533,737 370,358
966,803 783,335
Impairment allowance B (37,786) (35,209)
Total #ET 929,017 748,126
Portion classified as current assets DERREEMNI S (903,826) (674,372)
Non-current portion FERNERER 25,191 73,754
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22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

22. AR - Htt EWFRERHE

& E (&)
b, M 2K TE R O S 1B B e B
—|T:

2023 2022

—Eg=-= - ——
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARETT
At beginning of the year ] 35,209 32,918
Impairment losses WIEEE 2,593 2,579
Amount written off as uncollectible E AU Bl iz SH ) & 58 (16) (288)
At end of the year RER 37,786 35,209

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default of comparable companies
with published credit ratings. As at 31 December 2023, the
probability of default applied ranged from 1.83% to 15.47%
(2022: 0.98% to 13.09%) and the loss given default was estimated
to be 100% (2022:100%). Included in the above provision for
impairment of other receivables is a provision for individually
impaired other receivables of RMB37,786,000 (2022:
RMB35,209,000) with a carrying amount before provision of
RMB557,483,000 (2022: RMB553,518,000).

Apart from described above, the financial assets included in the
above balances relate to receivables for which there was no
recent history of default and past due amounts. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, the loss allowance was assessed to be

minimal.

BESMTRESREAHERAEEAAD
D E BRI A E LB A R 498
KT - R_E-_=F+-_fF=+—
H FTEBMNELOBEN T1.83%%
15.47% (Z & = — :0.98% &
13.09%) * MELBEEHF A 100% (=
T 4 100%) o bt H4th g Ug TR IE
MR ERBEERLBHEARE
37,786,000 L (T = —F : AR
35,209,000 7t.) B9 51 2 5 (B E th & Uk 5k
H(RELBEEIMNEREAEARRE
557,483,000 (ZE - —F : AR
553,518,000 7T ) ) FTYER) B4 o

B bt oh - 5 A bl FE UG SR IR AR B AR
B REERTPY EHRCHELE
HRBEB RS _=FK_FT -

+=—A=+—H  BERHTIHABE -
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS

23. BHEE

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
+=A=+—8 +t=—A=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Contract assets arising from: INTEBMEENEGRHNEE
Construction services AR 1,255,667 1,707,764
Impairment A (671) (818)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,254,996 1,706,946
Portion classified as current assets DEARSEEIS (77,629) (198,553)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 7 1,177,367 1,508,393

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from
construction services as the receipt of consideration is conditional
on successful completion of construction. Included in contract
assets for construction services are retention receivables. Upon
completion of installation or construction and acceptance by the
customer, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to intangible assets and contract assets included in
financial receivables under service concession arrangements and
operating concession for BOT arrangements and trade
receivables for other construction contracts when the rights to
considerations are unconditional. The decrease in contract assets
in 2023 was the result of the completion of construction services.

HRREBRFRZRKNE TR ATK
B BB ES HERIR AT HRER A
SEBTUANGBER - BRRBENE
ERRRURRES HETXTRLERER
VTEREFERMNEL ERARBHNEENST
BMEMONBEEETEE EREENR
BHRE AHEERRERBEFESE
LRHIAT & B EURIA R BOT LA E
ERFFENAREMEREONE SRR
REZHR - R-B_=FEHNEERD
TI32 R AR TR AT 2K
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23.

B R EE

—E-=F#+-A=+—H

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

23. /—\,%’Ji%i* )

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract BHEEREBEREZSHOT -
assets are as follows:
2023 2022
—Eg=-= ="
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®TTT
At beginning of the year REA 818 1,365
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEF (fiEs) (147) (547)
At end of the year FR 671 818

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
the probability of default approach to measure expected credit
losses. The probabilities of default rates are estimated based on

BEDMTNERSE B MRAENR X
EETT U ERHEEEE - O
EDNBRBEOERRTEAME EITEE

default rates and published credit ratings of credit bonds issued BEFHER ﬁ!ﬁﬁ,\u; FfhE - ZETER
in Chinese Mainland. The calculation reflects the probability- 1 I EREREEELRN R
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and EBHEHAE Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ&%lﬁ E ATAR
supportable information that is available at the reporting date RAEMEERBRENNEGERAEER
about past events, current conditions and forward-looking credit Ko
risk information.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure EHEAEBREAHNEENEERRERS
on the Group's contract assets: AR

2023 2022

—EB-= =

Expected credit loss rate EHEEEER 0.05% 0.05%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) REAE(ARETT) 1,255,667 1,707,764
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) EHEEEER(ARETT) 671 818

At 31 December 2023, the Group's contract assets with a carrying
value of RMB12,590,000 (2022: RMB220,770,000) were pledged to
secure certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

Included in the Group's contract assets are amounts due from
the Group's associates of RMB38,928,000 (2022: RMB47,245,000),
which are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to
the major customers of the Group.

R-B_=F+_A=+—8 ~5E
BREEAR12,590,000T (ZE ==
F : AR 220,770,0007T) & K& E
ERAERTARES T RRITRE
i & SRR (FHRE28) ©

AEBHNANEERFERKAE B E
NFEIFHIEAR 38,928,000 (===
F o NR¥A47,24500070) @ ZERIAR
AEFRTIEZFPIRHNBUEERKR
BE -
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e SRR MR

31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

24. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at December 2023, bank wealth management products
amounting to RMB4,000 were purchased by the Group from
certain banks. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows
were not solely payments of principal and interest. The aggregate
changes of fair value of the financial assets were immaterial since
their respective acquisition dates.

Htt R emEE
RZZTZ=F+=H FTEEBEETR
THRERTEVER 2EAARE
40007 - HREAHNRERETR R
SR RFE - Bt oa sl o8 AR
ANFEFABSENEHEE - SHEE
BEEEEHNRAFELEAEEM -

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 25. RERBEBYREBERER
PLEDGED DEPOSITS
2023 2022
—E-= . —
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBFT
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTE R 376,073 383,499
Time deposits T HRTF 3K 1,000 -
Subtotal /NEF 377,073 383,499
Less: Pledged deposits B ERER (128,713) (186,561)
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFLFEY 248,360 196,938
Cash and bank balances denominated in: A NI EBEHERIR & MIRITAR
—RMB - AR 247,494 195,826
— United States dollars —E7T 503 867
— Hong Kong dollars —%TT 363 245
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEY 248,360 196,938
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, ARETAIEHEBAHEM B - A

under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and pledged deposits and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits in
the consolidated statement of financial position approximate to
their fair values.

i - AR & B A i S B B AR TE DA M A
ENEEMNEEERTE AEEEE
BREFEENFEINERBFOHRITHAR
BHBAEMEY -

RITREVET BRITERMNRILZD
FREREUH B - B RHRE—KRE
ZEATE  BFAKENAEREH
R WL B #9585 R HITF KON = BRER
FB o RITHE R RE R TR T ERFER
ALY ERZOLENEBRIFR
T HAMBMARARERREEE
YA R R F R R EEEE R FEN
=
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31 December 2023

25.

26.

—F=Ft+ZA=tT—A

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group's pledged deposits with a
carrying value of RMB21,358,000 (2022: RMB20,400,000) were
pledged to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

At 31 December 2023, the Group's bills payable were secured by
the pledged deposits amounting to RMB94,061,000 (2022:
RMB136,742,000) (note 26).

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing. The credit
periods granted by each individual supplier are on a case-by-case
basis and are set out in the supplier contracts.

For retention money payables included in trade payables, in
respect of guarantees granted by the suppliers, the due dates
usually range from one to two years after the completion of the
construction work or the preliminary acceptance of equipment.

25.

26.

HERBESEBEYREHRE
b =

A (E)

R-EBE-_=ZF+—-A=+—H ' £x5H
BREEA AR 21,358,000 (==
& ARB20,400,000 7T) HIEREFEZE
FTEH LERRTFAEENSE TR
RITREMER(HE28) °

R-EBE-_=ZF+—-A=+—H ' £x58
B JE 1 1R LA A R 94,061,000 7T (=
T F o AR#136,742,0007T) B E
R S EIE R (FFEE26) o

BEZRNRERENRE

B BB RAREN R THE - &8
BB R R SR E R T AR T
T WHAREER A LA -

SREERR TRARBFAE S ENHIEA
MEMFREEMS  NRBAEBEN
FRBIERTHVIBWRER—E
M -

2023 2022

—Eg=-= - ——
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARETT
Bills payable (note (a)) FE T 4% (T E (a) 102,928 161,364
TOT payables (note (b)) TOT FEAF FIA (M1 5E (b)) 3,985 3,985
Trade payables B 5 EMNERIE 1,906,620 2,094,931
Total Bt 2,013,533 2,260,280
Less: Non-current portion W FERNERER 201 59
Current portion BERER 2 2,013,332 2,260,221

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bills payable were secured by the
pledged deposits amounting to RMB94,061,000 (2022: RMB136,742,000)
(note 25).

(b) TOT payables represented amounts due to the Grantors based on the
payment schedules set out in the relevant TOT contracts at the end of the
year.

B oE -

(@ MRZEZ=F+-A=+—B FEENE
NHEETIABEAR4,061,000T (ZF
Z =4 AR®136,742,0007T) KK 3 17 5K
YRR (FT3E25) ©

(b) TOTEMREHRFERRBEMABATOTE L FT
BN RERRAEORNAET AR -
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31 December2023 —E-=F+=-HA=+—H

26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the Group's trade and bills payables as at
the end of the year is as follows:

26 ESERREBRESERE @
REF  NEEE 50N HERENE
BHERBIFOT :

2023 2022
—E=-= -

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR TR ARBTT

Within 3 months 3EANR 370,571 629,083
4 to 6 months 4= 6@ A 141,980 255,423
7 to 12 months 7E 1218 A 211,017 296,107
Over 12 months i@ 1218 A 1,289,965 1,079,667
Total BEt 2,013,533 2,260,280

The carrying amounts of the current portion of the trade and bills
payables approximate to their fair values.

Included in the Group's trade and bills payables are amounts due
to the Group's associate of RMB10,120,000 (2022: RMB10,120,000)
(note 35).

B 5 RN RIE R ENZ R D iR
HEERAEANFERS -

AEBNEZEMNFERENZESRE
BHAEE —RBEEARRBEARE
10,120,000 (ZZEZZF : ARK
10,120,000 7T) (Bf5E35) °
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31 December2023 —E-—=F+=-HA=+—H

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. HitENREREGTER

2023 2022
=== P —

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARMT T ARBTT

Payables for the acquisitions JE A< Ui B FR B 67,121 75,917

Salary and welfare payables (note (a)) Bt TE MEF(a) 37,761 56,023

Contract liabilities (note (b)) BHRE (b)) 30,634 31,031

Amounts due to related parties (note (c)  FEAT BEES 75 7B (B L () 19,324 74,316

Other taxes payables H fth fEAT 18 9,178 7,519

Other payables H B 5RIE 43,897 43,296

Total FE 207,915 288,102

Portion classified as current 7> $8 7% BV BA B Ath & < 508 K2

other payables and accruals EErERANID (177,286) (257,076)

Non-current portion JEBNERER 7 30,629 31,026

Notes: BfsE -

(a) The salary and welfare payables are non-interest-bearing and are payable on (a) BN TEREFN AT EERIREREZ -
demand. Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have no fixed terms Hi BN FRIEAD B RERETEEFRH -
of repayment.

(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) AHREEFBIT -

2023 2022
—ECo=F —Z==-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETT
Construction services ERR 30,634 31,031
Total @t 30,634 31,031
Contract liabilities include advances received to deliver industrial products EHNBEERARNIXERRRMHEHE
and render installation and construction services. The decrease in contract R TR MU AR BR « — B - =F W&
liabilities in 2023 was mainly due to the decrease in advances received from HEBERLETZHERFREIMHN TP I5K
customers in relation to the operation services of waste water treatment and RIERSREEEERBHOBETRD -
sludge treatment at the end of the year.
(c) The amounts mainly represent borrowings provided by Zhongyuan Shuiwu, (c) SREERTRKS  AEBEFEZEHBL

the non-controlling shareholders of Huizhou Kangda Yingzhihuang Water
Co., Ltd. (BMEEE Z 2/KBH R A Al) (“Huizhou Kangda”), which is a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and Jilin Kangda, to finance the
construction of property, plant and equipment of Huizhou Kangda and Jilin
Kangda.

AEMFEER 2 2KBAERAR ((EIME
E ) REWEER IR R R A E R
NREREMNFEREHFEENDE B
REFREES -
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31 December 2023 —ZE—

=#+=-A=+—H

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

28. FFERIT R E AL AR

BORROWINGS
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
ZECZE+ZA=t-H ZEZF+ZA=1-A
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BERAI= ERF%
(%) 85 AR%TR (%) H8ER ARETR
Current A
Lease liabilities (note 13(b)) REAE (HF130) 4.21-4.91 2024 1,113 491 2023 271
b a1 -2 Z3C=F
Bank loans RITER 3.00-4.35 2024 388,797 345435 2023 322,906
— secured —BER —Z-ME 5%
Bank loans RIER 2.60-6.96 2024 1,300,100 3.45-7.08 2023 1,405,123
— unsecured —EER —E-ME “T-=F
Currentportion of longterm ~~ REBTEFMNENHLH 3.47-8.84 2024 1,017,333 347-8.02 2023 568,242
bank loans — secured —BHEA “E-mE I
Currentportion of longterm ~~ REBTERNENAT A 1.20-5.50 2024 68,462 5.00-5.30 2023 71,188
bank loans — unsecured — R —Z-ME 5%
Curentpotionof longtern ~ EHEHERNNEDS 484714 024 634120 484714 23 191,157
other loans — secured —HiEE “ECNE —E_=f
Currentportion of longterm ~~ REIEMEFMEHLH 7.50-8.43 2024 91,550 7.80-843 2023 20922
other loans — unsecured —EEA “E-mE I
Total — current il cher 3,501,475 2,879,809
Non-current E 3
Lease liabilities (note 13(0)) HEBE (FF13b) 4.21-4.91 2025-2039 1,503 491 2024-2039 1,703
ZECREER “E-MEER
ZE-hE “E-NE
Long term bank loans REARTER 3.47-5.30 2025-2045 3,213,752 3.47-6.50 2024-2045 3,946,288
— secured —BER ZE-REE ZE-NEE
“EMEE “EWRE
Long term bank loans RHETER 1.20-5.50 2025-2026 540,935 1.20-5.00 2024-2026 67,163
— unsecured —EER —ECREZE ZTNEER
ZECRE ZZIRE
Long term other loans RAHMER 4.84-7.14 2025-2030 1,788,617 4.84-7.14 2024-2030 1,799,800
— secured —BER ZE-REE ZZ-NEE
—E-EF —%=%
Long term other loans REEHER 7.50-8.43 2025-2026 870,753 7.80-8.43 2024-2026 827,054
— unsecured —EER —ECREZE ZTNEER
ZECRE ZZIRE
Total — non-current NS 6,415,560 6,642,008
Total it 9,917,035 9521817
Interest-bearing bank and other  bA N §% 5HE#)
borrowings denominatedin & BRI REMIE R
—RMB — ARE 9,787,315 9,274,240
— United States dollars —ET 129,720 247 571
Total 5t 9,917,035 9,521,817
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28.

B R EE

—E-=F#+-A=+—H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. s EMITRHEMER @
BORROWINGS (Continued)
2023 2022
—E-= -
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Analysed into: DT
Interest-bearing bank and other FEEEBIRITR
borrowings repayable: HAth fH 3K -
Within one year —F AR 3,501,475 2,879,809
In the second year B F 1,978,297 2,176,609
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEFERAT(BREREMT) 2,391,240 2,022,997
Beyond five years FHF%E 2,046,023 2,442,402
Total i 9,917,035 9,521,817
The above secured interest-bearing bank and other borrowings P A EARE BRIT REAMETRIAE T
are secured by certain assets with carrying values as follows: BEFERM  HER@EWT
2023 2022
—ET-= —_=_—
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Property, plant and equipment (note 12) VI S KRR (BTEE12) 9,965 11,792
Investment properties REYE 571 -
Financial receivables (note 19) & bR W R IR (B RE19) 7,957,461 7,114,919
Trade receivables (note 21) 25 rEE (BsE21) 1,181,567 911,844
Pledged deposits (note 25) WIRF R (B FE25) 21,358 20,400
Service concession intangible assets BVEE — B
(note 17) (FF&E17) 1,254,846 1,258,955
Contract assets (note 23) BHEE (H:E23) 12,590 220,770
The Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of KEE A ARK3,827,272,0007T (=

RMB3,827,272,000 (2022: RMB4,134,215,000) were guaranteed by
the Company's investments in certain subsidiaries.

The Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of
RMB474,365,000 (2022: RMB563,033,000) were guaranteed by the
second largest shareholder (note 35).

T —F: AR#4,134,215,0007T) 5
S ERIT R EMMEFTAKRARNE TH
BRRIMRE (EIH -

KEE A ARBEA474,3650007T (=&
— — 4 AR#563,033,0007T) B A A
RIT M EME B E = KIREER (K
F£35) ©
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29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. IR
Shares i gvi)
2023 2022
—E-= -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Authorised: JETE
5,000,000,000 (2022: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,000 (== ==
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 5,000,000,000 %)
BREEO0.01 B T AR 39,766 39,766
Issued and fully paid: EBITRESHRE
2,139,735,000 (2022: 2,139,735,000) 2,139,735,000f% (= F ==
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 2,139,735,000 %)
FREE0.01E T T B 17,125 17,125
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as FEARABRAEHOHMEOT
follows:
Number of Issued Share
shares in issue capital premium Total
28T
RGO EE ERTER B R E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥TR ARBTT
At 1 January 2023 and R-ZE-_=%—F—H
31 December 2023 R_T_=%
+-—A=+—H 2,139,735,000 17,125 1,717,384 1,734,509
30. RESERVES 30. f#fE

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 87 of the consolidated

financial statements.

SHRBHER -

AEEAFERBEFENFESER
HEH 2N G5E M IEHRERE 87 AR
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB2,023,000 (2022: nil)
and RMB2,023,000 (2022: nil), respectively, in respect of

—E-=F#+-A=+—H

lease arrangements for office properties.

3. FERERERME

(a) EEHFBRERS
TR AEERBLAETWERE
ZHNERAREERTHEREN
FRESRE DB A AR 2,023,000
T(ZEZZF 8B)RARK
2,023,000 (ZE = —4F : &) -

Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METHELENEBEEH
activities
2023 —EB—-_=
Interest-
bearing bank Other
and other Lease payables and
borrowings liabilities accruals*
FRIBITR H b B A 7RIR
H ftb & =K HEEE REGFER*
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR#BTT AR®TR AR®T:R
At 1 January 2023 RZTE—=F—H—H 9,519,843 1,974 65,439
Changes from financing MEREREZ
cash flows 292,376 (1,537) (55,400)
New leases S - 2,023 -
Foreign exchange movement  JNEEH) 2,584 - -
Interest expense MERX 578,563 156 =
Interest paid classified as SELABERERE
financing cash flows ME R F 8 (478,947) = =
At 31 December 2023 R-F-_=F
e=R=1—8 9,914,419 2,616 10,039

*

dividend payable, and certain borrowings provided by related

parties.

Other payables and accruals mainly represent interest payable,

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

—E-=F+-A=+—H

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)

1. MEBRERERKFT @

(b)

RETHELENEEED (B)

2022 T
Interest-
bearing bank Other
and other Lease payables and
borrowings liabilities accruals*
SERBRITR H At & < FRIE
HAth i X HEBE REFER*
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREF T ARBTT ARETET
At 1 January 2022 R -_—F—H—H 9,467,529 2,210 65,055
Changes from financing MERSREF
cash flows (17,279) (344) 384
Foreign exchange movement  JMEZH) 49,277 = =
Interest expense B 566,106 108 =
Interest paid classified as DELABERERE
financing cash flows KB F B (545,790) = =
At 31 December 2022 RZZE——
+=—RA=+—H 9,519,843 1,974 65,439

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement

(c) HENRESRHABE
FRNREREXNHEERER

of cash flows is as follows: WEEIOT
2023 2022
—E-=F -
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within financing activities BE R HE A 1,537 344

REREBRBRRERAR/ _E_=FERE

209



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B R AR MY A

31 December2023 —E-—=F+=-HA=+—H

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. FAREE
At the end of the year, the Group did not have any significant MAFEER - AEBEWEERERKA
contingent liabilities. BfE-

33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 33. EEHER
Details of the Group's bank and other loans, which are secured EHEUAREBREERRNASEERITR
by the assets of the Group, are included in note 28 to the Hih ERFBHNER S M |mKM T
consolidated financial statements. 28 °

34. COMMITMENTS 34. &I
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the RIBEER  AEBBLUATELRE :

end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Contracted, but not provided for BT 418 M R B 176,589 185,385
The Group had the following commitments with respect to RAFER  NEEE T5H ARG
service concession arrangements at the end of the year: AR B R BN AR
2023 2022
—E-= =
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR TR ARBTT

Contracted, but not provided for B RTAE & R B 1,890,613 1,991,362
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BB AR S
(a) The Group had the following material transactions with (a) AEBERAKNFEE@ETETH
related parties during the year: BARSWT :

2023 2022
—E-= -

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR TR ARBTT

Certain expenses of the Group paid by 1 T %I/A & H) 32 AR B R

non-controlling shareholders of: XA ERE TR

Huizhou Kangda BMERE 384 384

Pingdingshan City Bay T8 L T = 4,725
Certain loans of the Group borrowed M — KB & A Al B AR

from an associate: AEBETER:

Zhongyuan Shuiwu* AR R IK S * 53,538 100,815
Services provided to associates ABEERTI R —REERE

and a joint venture: REH R :

Fuzhou Fuhe ) ] 12,075 12,151

Leping Hehu L6508 2,767 17,053

Gaomi Kangrui =% B 862 862
Services provided by a subsidiary HREHN—KWE R F]

of a shareholder: R AR -

Jiangxi Silver Dragon (i) AL PaEREE () 26,812 251,789

BERBERREBRAR/ T =FERE
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—E-=F#+-A=+—H

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(Continued)

(a)

(i)

Jiangxi Silver Dragon Water Environment Construction
Co., Ltd. (T FAREERIRIRERBREMTAR]) ("Jiangxi
Silver Dragon”) is a subsidiary of the largest
shareholder of the Group. This related party
transaction also constitutes a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group is contractually authorised to use a piece
of land which is legally owned by the non-controlling
shareholder of Jilin Kangda without charge, and such
use also constitutes a related party transaction during
the year.

The Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings in 2023 amounting to RMB474,365,000
(2022: RMB563,033,000) were guaranteed by the
second largest shareholder (note 28).

The above related party transactions were conducted
in accordance with the terms mutually agreed
between the parties.

5. BB RS (@)

(a)

(&)
()
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e B R AR M A

31 December 2023

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

—E-=F+-A=+—H

35.

Outstanding balances with related parties

A RS (@)

(b) EEEAMETT WAREESER

2023 2022
—Eg=-= - ——
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBFT
Amounts due to non-controlling FERF AT A 7 FE1EAR
shareholders of: A% 3R 3R
Pingdingshan City Bay SFIE LT /i?*%% 55,062 55,062
Jilin Kangda HIFRE 9,285 9,285
Huizhou Kangda BINEE 5,314 4,930
Jiaoling Kangda EaEmEE 678 1,178
Amounts due to associates: FEAT LA T B & R R FUA -
Zhongyuan Shuiwu* AR IKFE * - 55,376
Eastern Sludge Treatment (note 26) A AREBR (MsE26) 10,120 10,120
Amounts due to the subsidiary JRE AT B BB A TS BfT /BB
of a shareholder: NEIFRIE -
Jiangxi Silver Dragon JITHSREE 232,627 305,005
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUL LA T A B FEFE A%
shareholders of: % B FRIA -
Pingdingshan City Bay TR LT 10,649 10,649
Weihai Kangda Bl R E 43 43
Jiaoling Kangda EamE 1,686 1,686
Shenyang Jinhai s 1,100 1,100
Amounts due from associates: JE WA T Bt & A B FOA -
Zhongyuan Shuiwu* HR R IK % * - 118,221
Fuzhou Fuhe )N ] 133,098 139,181
Leping Hehu L4250 4 38,353 44,809
Amounts due from joint ventures: FEWIA TN & &R ER
Tiangiyuan 25 3 22,575 22:575
Gaomi Kangrui = 2 B I 19,000 18,945

Compensation of key management personnel of

(c) AEEXEEEEASHEMH

the Group
2023 2022
—E-= =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Short term employee benefits EHEE R 2,246 1,130
Total compensation paid to XNTEEEREEAEN
key management personnel M AazE 2,246 1,130

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

* On 27 December 2023, the Group disposed of the entire of its 31%
equity interest in Zhongyuan Shuiwu.

EEMenE—THEBERES

FATE AR I LS ©

* R-ZBE-_=F+-A=++08 K&
B & E P RIKTS 2 280 31% ARAE -
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. REHIEINEMTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEEAR - SE eI ANKEE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: W
31 December 2023 —E-=f+=A=+-—H
Financial assets TREE

Financial assets
at fair value

through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income amortised cost Total
BAFEFA 23§
Hft2mE k= A&
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARBT T AR®BTR

Equity investments designated  #87E AL A FEETA

at fair value through other H fth 2 H Y 5 BY
comprehensive income fE e & 347,000 - 347,000
Loans to a joint venture M—RXEETENER - 19,000 19,000
Loans to an associate m—XEEQRNER - 23,859 23,859
Financial receivables % Rl FE W FRTE - 11,592,250 11,592,250
Trade receivables Z 5 W EIE - 2,808,513 2,808,513
Financial assets included in FTATEFKRIE « H UK
prepayments, other FRIE K HAth & B Y
receivables and other assets TRMEE - 798,970 798,970
Pledged deposits EIRFER - 128,713 128,713
Cash and cash equivalents BeNREEEY - 248,360 248,360
Total wast 347,000 15,619,665 15,966,665
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
R
BT &
Hemas #st
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR TR
Trade and bills payables B D RNFIBRENEE 2,013,533 2,013,533
Financial liabilities included FTAHMENFIEREFERT
in other payables and accruals TRIBE 130,347 130,347
Interest-bearing bank and FTRERIT RAMER
other borrowings 9,917,035 9,917,035
Total HEt 12,060,915 12,060,915
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31 December2023 —E-=F+=-HA=+—H

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. RERETHNERMT A @)

(Continued)
31 December 2022 —E-_F+=-HA=+—H
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets
at fair value
through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income  amortised cost Total
BATFERA 124
H 2 E s ARG E
NEREE B & B & B HBET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR¥ETT AR¥ETE

Equity investments designated  #87& A& A FEFTA

at fair value through other Hith 2 H U A
comprehensive income e & 363,000 = 363,000
Loans to a joint venture A—RXEETENER = 18,945 18,945
Financial receivables o B R IE - 11,206,485 11,206,485
Trade receivables B 5 W EE = 2,436,439 2,436,439
Financial assets included in T ATERT RIE - HAtb fEUL
prepayments, other FRIA N B B EE Y
receivables and other assets ERMEE = 646,331 646,331
Pledged deposits EIRF = 186,561 186,561
Cash and cash equivalents HehBEEEEY = 196,938 196,938
Total St 363,000 14,691,699 15,054,699
Financial liabilities eRMAR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
MAFT=
NERtAaE 5T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFT
Trade and bills payables BoRNHIBERENREE 2,260,280 2,260,280
Financial liabilities included ETAEMENKIERETEAN
in other payables and accruals TRBE 201,053 201,053
Interest-bearing bank and STERITREAMME R
other borrowings 9,521,817 9,521,817
Total HEt 11,983,150 11,983,150
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+_-F=+—H

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

37. SMIAATERATFESZ

I
AEESHTA(REABERATES
BAREERIN) MERERATPEMT

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
HREE AEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-=F - —EC-=fF —T-
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE ARETT AR¥®TR ARETR
Financial assets SREE
Equity investments designated EERRATETA
at fair value through other Hin 2 EU R
comprehensive income RIERE 347,000 363,000 347,000 363,000
Prepayments, other receivables RFE - Efth KRR
and other assets, non-current Hih &z JERIHH S
portion - 47,730 - 47,996
Financial receivables, SRR - R E S
non-current portion 9,512,959 9,244,530 9,619,827 9,343,786
Total st 9,859,959 9,655260 9,966,827 9,754,782
Financial liabilities cRAE
Trade and bills payables, BHRNTERENRE
non-current portion JEENERE 201 59 192 56
Interest-bearing bank and other AT RRITREAMER
borrowings (other than lease (HEa‘RN)
liabilities), non-current portion JFENERED > 6,415,560 6,642,008 6,440,736 6,682,873
Total Bt 6,415,761 6,642,067 6,440,928 6,682,929

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, other current
financial assets, the current portion of financial receivables, the
current portion of trade and bills payables, the current portion of
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, the current portion of loans to joint ventures and
associates, the current portion of financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, and the current portion of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

EREDHE RELREFEY &
HER BHEEGE - HbRBE R
BE SREYFENNHED - EH
FENERENREORIHES - 5t A
FENRE - EfbRUGRIAE R Bt EER
CREENAME D  mEEEERE
LRRERNEIEE D - St AH RN
RANMEAERNE R A GRS
WA R 5T BARTT R B A A8 SR A0 BV EA R 20 /9
NPEHRAREEMES  T2EHR
ZETAREHAEE -
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY V. EMIBAEATFERAFESE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for
the fair value disclosure of financial instruments. The finance
manager reports directly to the chief financial officer. At the end
of the year, the finance department analyses the movements in
the values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial receivables,
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade and bills
payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result
of the Group’s own non-performance risks for trade and bills
payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at the
end of the year were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income have been estimated
using a market-based valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation requires the directors to determine comparable public
companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and strategy,
and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such as price to
book value (P/B), for each comparable company identified. The
multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the
comparable company by book value measure. The trading
multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity
and size differences between the comparable companies based
on company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding P/B of the unlisted
equity investments to measure the fair value. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which
are recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

&
RSB AEN A EMI B REEE
TERMIAATERBENBERER -
HEEBREEARBRERS - NASF
X BEBAOMERITANBESS
PETHEEFERNEIELH - HER
B A BE R B L o

TREERAENRFERBBEIN—
BRAIRXHZTRBMBBETANSER (B
BFBBEERIN) JIE - AT BEE
NHEMA®NTTERRKRR

& B UCRR - TR R - E AR IGR
BREMEE BZRNAFEARENR
& AT ERITREMERNIERN LD
B AFETSBRBARRE SRR EHEE
EiEF - EREARERGAERBNTA
BRERMMRREAMTE - NEF
R ARNKERE B ZENFKIBAREN
SR FFRRITREMERNENRR
MELN A FEEDHRFESLTERK -

BEABRAFEFAREMEE KM
EHBREREN A FEDRAERTS
MEEXTGHEE  ZHEEERTABRE
TS ERENETFORRET 7
BEEREERETE RE BREEE
REEAEALBRARAR(AF) - EH
Pras BB BARAERENE
RERNHERER) - BENAETERS
BRI AL BRARMNEEBERAKREE
AERE REEBRERREITEE
ZERBARAELRARZENRE
TR RBEEZREZEERARETH
B MRBBERNIELMBEREDN
MHETREUAGFEATE EZR5
HEXMELENGFT R FEGAKE
FBRRR) R A FHEMNBREES GTA
HizEW =) BEE BRBEHAR
RAEMNEE -
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY V. eMIAEATFERAFESE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) &)

Fair value hierarchy NFEER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIAPAEBMERT AN QA FENE
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments: £

Assets measured at fair value: RAFEFENEE

As at 31 December 2023 R-B-_=%+-R=+—H

Fair value measurement using
ATEFERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERTE EATBE EAFTER
HEE BAE BAE
(B—&) (E=#) (B=H) #st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®MTR AR®TR ARETR

Equity investments designated EEARRATFETA

at fair value through other Hit 2 EREH
comprehensive income BERE = - 347,000 347,000
As at 31 December 2022 MNZE-_—_F+=-—H=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AT EHERR
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BRETS BEAUER EALAEE
B %R (E BAE AR
(B—H) (B=#) (B=&) Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT

Equity investments designated EERERATEFA

at fair value through other Hith 2 m R
comprehensive income iR E = = 363,000 363,000
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31 December 2023

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2023

37. SMIAATERATFESE

&)

AFEERE)
EHEEAFENEE
R-B-=5F+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AT EHBRA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERME  BEATHEE EXATAUHR
KR E BAE BAE
(B—-%) (B=®) (B=8) #@ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®T T AR®T T AR®T R
Financial receivables, non-current <& Bl JE W 708 -
portion IEANEHH - 9,619,827 - 9,619,827
- 9,619,827 - 9,619,827
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
TEFEFRRA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RS BAHR SAIAHE
H R (E BAE BAE
(B—1%) (F=#) (B=#) &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT AREFTT ARETTT ARETTT
Prepayments, other receivables RRFE - Efh IR R
and other assets, non-current HthEE -
portion JEENERE = 47,996 = 47,996
Financial receivables, CREMRIE -
non-current portion FEENER S = 9,343,786 = 9,343,786
- 9,391,782 - 9,391,782
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48

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37. M I AAFERAFEE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) Y EED)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) N EERE)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: EHEAFENEAE

As at 31 December 2023

R-E-_=%+=-A=+-—H

Fair value measurement using

ATV ETERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERmE  EATBE EATTEE
HRE BAE BAE
(B—#) (B=#) (B=#) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETR ARETR ARETR
Trade and bills payables, EH5RNFBENERER
non-current portion JEENERE - 192 - 192
Interest-bearing bank and other AT RIRIT RE M AKX
borrowings (other than lease (AEa BRI -
liabilities), non-current portion JERNERER - 6,440,736 - 6,440,736
Total st - 6,440,928 - 6,440,928
As at 31 December 2022 R-B__F+-HA=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AT EFERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EEMS EAUBEE EANITEER
HRE BAE BAE
(B—&) (B=&) (B=&) Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT AR%®TRT ARETR
Trade and bills payables, EC OBV OES &
non-current portion JEENER L - 56 - 56
Interest-bearing bank and other FTRBITREMER
borrowings (other than lease (HEBERIN)
liabilities), non-current portion JERNERER = 6,682,873 = 6,682,873
Total st - 6,682,929 - 6,682,929
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. i RMEERERBE

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
financial receivables, trade receivables and trade and bills
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency
risk. Generally, the senior management of the Company meets
regularly to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group's exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of
directors of the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse
and approve the proposals made by the senior management of
the Company. Generally, the Group introduces conservative
strategies on its risk management. As the Group's exposure to
these risks is kept to a minimum, the Group has not used any
derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes. The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors of the Company reviews
and agrees policies for managing these risks and they are
summarised below.

AEENFESRIABRFEAERITR
HpfEs RekReFEYMRERE
Ko ZEERTATZANASAEEDN
REBEERES -AKHEBEFEERRAH
BENZREAGESREENEGE DL
BEKTR BHRERKFARE S RN
REAMEMNER -

rEBCMTAEENETZRAR AT =
B ERRE - REBE SRR RINE
Bk —RMs AAaahEEES
EHEHRGEINMEHERKE  BER
SEMENZERR I ARFE
EerHERgEIMEERR RS
REBERENEZ - —RME ' A5
B 70 H @ e B IR AR EREVR SF SR B © R
INE [ 8 5% 5 BB A R AR OK S - iR
AEBAFRAEATETEREMTE
E¥ RS - AEBEWEIFFHETH
EXGHTESRIA - RRRIEES
B RAEETEZERBRAKE - E5
ZWR e
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Interest rate risk
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long term
debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage its
interest rate risk. The Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, pledged deposits and cash and cash
equivalents are stated at amortised cost and not revalued
on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest income and
expenses are credited/charged to profit or loss as earned/
incurred.

If there would be a general increase/decrease in the market
interest rates by one percentage point, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s consolidated pre-tax
profit would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB70,806,000 and RMB51,122,000 for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, respectively, and there would be
no impact on other components of the consolidated equity,
except for retained profits, of the Group. The sensitivity
analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in market interest rates had occurred at the end of
the year and had applied the exposure to interest rate risk
to those financial instruments in existence at that date.

38. i EREEEERBE®)

(a)

A = 2
AEBEAS T BENEEIRTH
MEFESHEMEBLEETEEN
MISH R EB R

AEEeERENREREE R
FERNEERNAS  UEEH
MERER - AEB O ERITR
Hi Gk R ERNA S KA
EEEMIRBEEKA K B
" EEHEGEEBE - FBHMX
B A e B 52 Th R BRER,EE AR
R A R o

BE_T_=Fk=ZFT=-=

+-A=+—HILEE MW
FE2EEH THRE—EEGDE-
MATEEMEERFTE AR
EEMERE B BRI S A 5D B
L HEANH A R 70,806,000 7T K.
AR#51,122,0007TC * BBRE %
Foh PR AEBEGEAERD
HMBEXRSBOBRTE - Lilis
RESMBRMBHEREHE N
BRERBEYCDEAZS SR T
BRTAERZBBEENTER
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, trade receivables, financial receivables
and financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these
financial assets. Substantially all of the Group's cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits are held in major
financial institutions located in Chinese Mainland and Hong
Kong, which management believes are of high credit
quality. The Group has policies to control the size of the
deposits to be placed with various reputable financial
institutions according to their market reputation, operating
scale and financial background with a view to limiting the
credit exposure to each financial institution to an
acceptable level.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad
debts is not significant.

As the Group's major customers are either PRC government
authorities or agencies at the provincial and local levels or
other state-owned enterprises, the Group believes that they
are reliable and of high credit quality and hence, there is no
significant credit risk with these customers. The senior
management of the Company keeps reviewing and
assessing the creditworthiness of the Group's existing
customers on an ongoing basis.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Bt 7 L B ' 3 B AR R BUSR ()

(b)

AR RE
RekReEEY BEHREFR
Z 5 EWFIE - £ 5 EWRIE R
T ATERFRIE - E e Y ERIE
HtWEENSMEENKREER
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EAERRER AEEBARITD
ReRB\EEMMEREFRT
FHRRURFPE A REEEEE
BEHEAAREELEEZMNEE
TREE ANEERERERE
Tﬂﬂ%ﬁﬂ%%mﬁ%ﬁﬁ
AR R A B B 2T A
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£ % < m 8 (= A R R &
FERAM B X IKF ©
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations
to meet its debt obligations as they fall due, and its ability
to obtain external financing to meet its committed future
capital expenditure.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the
end of the year, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

38. i EREEEERBE®)

(c)

AEENRBES T RRBEEAE
RRAEKERSRANR B B
BITEBE NG RGN
MEUNBITEARERKEARAAX
HIRE S o

RAFER AEENREE
REBEAHARBIRARE 5802 5
RIS

31 December 2023
—E_=%4+-HA=+-H

Within 1to2 2to5 More than
1 year years years 5 years Total
15/ 122F 2E5F SENL st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETr AR¥Tx ARBTR AR%¥Tx
Lease liabilities HERE 1,563 163 443 1,256 3,425
Interest-bearing bank and 518 817 R E A &3
other borrowings (TBREHEAR)
(excluding lease liabilities) 3,749,847 2,311,708 2,896,445 2,143,341 11,101,341
Trade and bills payables B ZEIHIER
ENZE 2,013,332 201 - - 2,013,533
Financial liabilities included & A fth JE {5 5738 |
in other payables and EHERMNSHEE
accruals 130,347 - - - 130,347
Total st 5,895,089 2,312,072 2,896,888 2,144,597 13,248,646
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e B R AR M A

31 December2023 —E-=F+=-HA=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. i EKREEREELRKE @)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () RBESRBSR(E)
31 December 2022
“T-F+ZA=+-H
Within 1t02 2to5  More than
1 year years years 5 years Total
1ER Iz 24 2E5%F S5EF Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Lease liabilities HEAE 318 118 353 1,373
Interest-bearing bank and 5t 8817 & A& 3
other borrowings (TreEHEAR)
(excluding lease liabilities) 3,226,387 2,526,554 2,564,930 2,449,200 10,767,071
Trade and bills payables & ZEMHIER
N ES 2,260,221 59 - -
Financial liabilities included 5t AE s fE 7B &
in other payables and EERNERMERE
accruals 201,053 = = = 201,053
Total 4T 5,687,979 2,526,731 2,565,283 2,450,573 13,230,566
(d) Foreign currency risk (d) ExmEb

The Group has minimal transactional currency exposures as
the majority of the subsidiaries of the Group operate in the
PRC with most of the transactions denominated and settled

in Renminbi (“RMB").

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its cash
and cash equivalents and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
The Group manages foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the proportion of its non-Renminbi borrowings

and assets.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the RMB/HK$ and RMB/US$ exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax and

the Group's equity.

2N SE PN = NCTREE
BEEER  BERABIRZUA
R (TARBDFERSEE &
AEENRXHEERBEN

N AEERERERBEESF
EBYMARGBRRTERMERE
BRR AEEEEATIERH
FARBEEREENLAIERE
B -

TRENEAA R AR BT
80O T - 24 B R Bt AT R
RAREERRBEBRYAR
% TR AR E T E %
A2 B BB -
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—E-=F#+-A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. iR EE B ERBEK (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Foreign currency risk (Continued) (d) E¥mEbE(E)
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in profit (decrease)
before tax in equity*
R BRI F M
®#m,/ (R) (R ) *
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFT
2023 —®_=F
If the RMB weakens against the US$ by 5% fimg AR W £ T EZ B 5% (6,461) (6,461)
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ by 5% il A R K, T FHE 5% 6,461 6,461
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ by 5% W ARBHABTEES% 18 18
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ by 5% fil A R ®& 5B 7L FHE 5% (18) (18)
2022 —F-=
If the RMB weakens against the US$ by 5% fimg AR ¥ W = T2 B 5% (12,335) (12,335)
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ by 5% fil A R #& X X 7L FHE 5% 12,335 12,335
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ by 5% i AR ¥ KB TR E 5% 12 12
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ by 5% il A R ¥ 5,8 T FHE 5% (12) (12)
@ Excluding retained profits TBIERE % F
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Capital management
The Group's primary objectives for managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debts. No change was made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes trade and bills payables, certain other payables
and accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
less cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits.
Capital includes the equity attributable to owners of the
parent and non-controlling interests as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a
healthy capital level in order to support its businesses. The
principal strategies adopted by the Group include, but are
not limited to, reviewing future cash flow requirements and
the ability to meet debt repayment schedules when they fall
due, maintaining a reasonable level of available banking
facilities and adjusting investment plans and financing
plans, if necessary. The gearing ratios at the end of the
years were as follows:

38. i EREEEERBE ®)

(e)

EXREH
AEBEAEENEERRER
BAEENFELER T RER
RENEALE  UXHEBKR
RBRE R EAEE

AEBZEBRLPIIREERESER -
N5 AR BB AR L 2 B N AE A
BENRBREHEERARER
R -RERAARELAERE
AEEREABRIRN TRRNRK
EE2B RAERRBEEAR %7
MBRDBAEEEEARDETR
RAFEE BAERBERE BXE
HAZ P W AR EE

AEENEARBBLREEEAN
& H R T LAE 5 5 BERR DA E A A0
BHFRAE -BHFRERE
SRERNFBERENRE ETH
N REREFER AR
TREMEFTBRREIREEE
MEBERER - BEABREREAM
BIRRARAINE AR HEAE ARG
Rk MOFTE AR HE aS

AEENRBEREREEARRL
RERBREARAKT UXHHEE
B-AEBERIHNTIZRBEE
BARMRISARAKRREREER
R B 75 B HA B 12 B ] R OE SR Y
O #BAUBRRTMEES
BRKFARBABREEIRBE
el (WERE) REFRWE
ERELEET
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. Bii§E b E ¥ B | K BUR (40

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued) (e) BEARER(H)
2023 2022
—EC-=F =z
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®TTT
Trade and bills payables (note 26) B S RNZIA R ENTEE
(Fff5E26) 2,013,533 2,260,280
Other payables and accruals (note 27)  E 8 A Kk R & A
(P 27) 207,915 288,102
Interest-bearing bank and other T RERTT R E A E K
borrowings (note 28) (Pt 5E28) 9,917,035 9,521,817
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERBEEEEYD
(note 25) (Fff5E25) (248,360) (196,938)
Less: Pledged deposits (note 25) B IR FE R (B RE25) (128,713) (186,561)
Net debt B3 11,761,410 11,686,700
Total equity PR 5,850,032 5,740,608
Capital and net debt BEAR KRB F5E 17,611,442 17,427,308
Gearing ratio BEAENE 67% 67%

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events took place subsequent to 31 December

2023.

39. REMERERE

EEMEREIR -
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+-F=+—H

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

40.

XA 6 B B R R R

BEMRARBF IR ROERLAT :

2023 2022
—Eg=-= - ——
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB A AR & 1,217,802 1,217,802
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 1,217,802 1,217,802
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and FERNFRIA - H A FEURIE &
other assets EmmEE 732,225 832,715
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEED 211 397
Total current assets MEEELE 732,436 833,112
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals Bt RIBE R ERTE B 216,126 213,068
Total current liabilities MENBEBTE 216,126 213,068
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 516,310 620,044
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABERRBERE
LIABILITIES 1,734,112 1,837,846
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and FTRERIT RAMER
other borrowings - 108,300
Net assets BEFE 1,734,112 1,729,546
EQUITY RS
Issued capital EBITRA 17,125 17,125
Reserves (note) s (MEE) 1,716,987 1,712,421
Total equity SRR 1,734,112 1,729,546
FEERBREBAR/ —E-=FERE
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31 December2023 —ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. AR BB AR R T (@)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: P&
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: RATRENMELAT :
Retained
profits/
Share Share option (accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total
REBEFI
B0 5 (B B (R&tE8) 5t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMEFTT AR¥KTT AREFT ARMETTT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZT=—=—F—H—H 1,717,384 65,553 (106,920) 1,676,017
Profit for the year F R A - = 36,404 36,404
At 31 December 2022 and R=-T=——
1 January 2023 TZA=+—BRk
—T=-=%—HA—H 1,717,384 65,553 (70,516) 1,712,421
Profit for the year F R A - - 4,566 4,566
At 31 December 2023 P, ——
+=—A=+—8 1,717,384 65,553 (65,950) 1,716,987
41. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 41. #LESZE MR R
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and ZEREWBRERR_ZE-_NF=A
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024. T N\BREEEGHERRETE -
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Financial Summary

MBHBE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and total equity of

the Group for the last five financial years is as set below:

AEBROAEYRFENREUREE
BEMESAEBMEHINWT

RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-H=1+—-BHLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZE_=f T T ZZTTF ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR
Revenue I zs 2,216,381 2,896,589 2,918,958 3,332,432 2,815,203
Profit before tax BREL AT 7 233,954 374,341 550,245 607,539 509,841
Income tax PSR 103,726 134,379 132,064 137,282 125,770
Profit for the year F Wi F 130,228 239,962 418,181 470,257 384,071
Other comprehensive income Hip2mlis (13,600) 97,750 (76,500) (21,250) (107,100)
Total comprehensive income FAZEKZERE
for the year 116,628 337,712 341,681 449,007 276,971
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LR AT EAEEF
Shareholders of the Company ARERE 124,753 235,679 412,752 470,488 376,868
Non-controlling interests ElEElie I 5,475 4,283 5,429 (231) 7,203
130,228 239,962 418,181 470,257 384,071
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LR AL FEAG
INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 2EKGEEE
Shareholders of the Company ARERE 111,153 333,429 336,252 449,238 269,768
Non-controlling interests IR S 5,475 4,283 5,429 (231) 7,203
116,628 337,712 341,681 449,007 276,971

BERBERRAEBRAA/ —_E_=FERE
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MBHE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY

£ RERESASE

As at 31 December

R+t=B=+—~H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

—B-=f —T-—F —T-—F —T-FTF —T-HEF

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRH

Total assets BESE 19,227,362 18,965,750 18,281,408 17,645,830 16,698,491

Total liabilities BE®E 13,377,330 13,225,142 12,873,787 12,527,632 12,104,339

NET ASSETS BEFE 5,850,032 5,740,608 5,407,621 5,118,198 4,594,152
Equity attributable to shareholders 7 B3R 5 FE {5 2

of the Company 5,711,789 5,603,435 5,270,006 4,918,730 4,395,102

Non-controlling interests FER IR 138,243 137,173 137,615 199,468 199,050

TOTAL EQUITY ERAE 5,850,032 5,740,608 5,407,621 5,118,198 4,594,152
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